
 
 

STANDING ADVISORY COMMITTEE 
AGENDA 

Tuesday, February 3, 2026 at 3:00 p.m.  
Truckee Meadows Water Authority  

Independence Room, 1355 Capital Blvd., Reno, NV 

 
NOTES: 
1. The announcement of this meeting has been posted at the following locations: Truckee Meadows Water Authority (1355 
Capital Blvd., Reno), at http://www.tmwa.com, and State of Nevada Public Notice Website, https://notice.nv.gov/. 
2. In accordance with NRS 241.020, this agenda closes three working days prior to the meeting. We are pleased to make 
reasonable accommodations for persons who are disabled and wish to attend meetings. If you require special arrangements for 
the meeting, please call 834-8002 at least 24 hours before the meeting date. 
3. Staff reports and supporting material for the meeting are available on the TMWA website at http://www.tmwa.com/meeting/ 
or you can contact Sonia Folsom at (775) 834-8002. Supporting material is made available to the general public in accordance 
with NRS 241.020(6). 
4. The Committee may elect to combine agenda items, consider agenda items out of order, remove agenda items, or delay 
discussion on agenda items. Arrive at the meeting at the posted time to hear item(s) of interest. 
5. Asterisks (*) denote non-action items. 
6. Public comment is limited to three minutes and is allowed during the public comment periods. The public may sign-up to 
speak during the public comment period or on a specific agenda item by completing a “Request to Speak” card and submitting it 
to the clerk. In addition to the public comment periods, the Chairman has the discretion to allow public comment on any agenda 
item, including any item on which action is to be taken. 
7. In the event the Chair and Vice-Chair are absent, the remaining SAC members may elect a temporary presiding officer to 
preside over the meeting until the Chair or Vice-Chair are present (Standing Item of Possible Action). 

 

1. Roll call*  

2. Public comment  limited to no more than three minutes per speaker* 

3. Approval of the agenda (For Possible Action) 

4. Approval of the minutes of October 7, 2025 meeting (For Possible Action) 

5. Water supply update — Nick White* 

6. Presentation on TMWA’s fiscal year 2025 Annual Comprehensive Financial Report — 
Sophie Cardinal* 

7. Presentation of Q1 FY 2026 financial results — Matt Bowman* 

8. Cost of Service Study Update — Matt Bowman (For Possible Action) 

http://www.tmwa.com/
https://notice.nv.gov/
http://www.tmwa.com/meeting/


TMWA Standing Advisory Committee Agenda February 3, 2026  
Page 2 
 
9. Presentation on the Truckee River Fund — Sonia Folsom and Kara Steeland* 

10. Presentation on upstream watershed protection program — Kara Steeland* 

11. Discussion and possible direction to staff regarding agenda items for future meetings (For 
Possible Action) 

NEXT REGULAR SAC MEETING: April 7, 2026 

12. Staff Items* (Unless otherwise listed with a topic description, this portion of the agenda is 
limited to announcements) 

13. Committee Items* (Unless otherwise listed with a topic description, this portion of the 
agenda is limited to announcements) 

14. Public Comment  limited to no more than three minutes per speaker* 

15. Adjournment* 

 



October 7, 2025 SAC Minutes Page 1 of 5 
DRAFT – NOT APPROVED BY COMMITTEE

TRUCKEE MEADOWS WATER AUTHORITY 
STANDING ADVISORY COMMITTEE - WORKSHOP 

DRAFT MINUTES 
October 7, 2025 

The Standing Advisory Committee (SAC) met at TMWA, 1355 Capital Blvd, Reno, NV. Chair 
Krmpotic called the meeting to order at 3:01 p.m. 

1. ROLL CALL

Primary Members and Voting Alternates Present: Fred Arndt, Jordan Hastings, John Krmpotic, 
Justin McDougal, Neil McGuire, Ken McNeil, Connor Naisbitt, *Jonnie Pullman, Dale Sanderson, and 
Jerry Wager.  

Alternate Members Present: Ryan Greenhalgh. 

Primary Members and Alternates Absent: Colin Hayes, Chris Melton, Kevin Ryan and Alex 
Talmant. 

Staff Present: Matt Bowman, Sophie Cardinal, Ryan Dixon, Sonia Folsom, David Kershaw, Eddy 
Quaglieri, Shawn Stoddard, Marci Westlake, Nick White, John Zimmerman, and Legal Counsel Jake 
Herzik (PBL). 

*Member Pullman arrived at 3:05p.m.

2. PUBLIC COMMENT

There was no public comment. 

3. APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA

Upon motion duly made by Member Wager, and seconded by Member 
McGuire, and carried by unanimous consent of the members present, the 
Committee approved the agenda. 

4. APPROVAL OF THE MINUTES OF AUGUST 25, 2025 WORKSHOP

Member McNeil inquired about lack of information in the draft minutes since there was extensive 
discussion regarding the Cost of Service & Rate Design Studies. 

John Zimmerman, General Manager, and Jake Herzik, Legal Counsel, explained that the minutes 
required under Open Meeting Law need only be a summary of the discussion and not a transcript. Also, 
there is a video recording available to view the entire meeting. 

02-03-26 SAC Agenda Item 4



 

 

October 7, 2025 SAC Minutes  Page 2 of 5 
DRAFT – NOT APPROVED BY COMMITTEE 

Upon motion duly made by Member Sanderson, and seconded by Member 
Hastings, and carried nine to one with Member McNeil dissenting, the 
Committee approved the minutes of August 25, 2025. 
 

5. WATER SUPPLY UPDATE 

Nick White, Senior Hydrologist, presented the water supply update. Mr. White noted that the 2026 water 
year commenced on October 1, the 2025 water year showed average snow water equivalents, 
precipitation and soil moisture levels, the Truckee Basin is currently at 2,000% above average due to the 
recent storms, forecasted another potentially average year for Lake Tahoe elevations, and upstream 
reservoir storage is projected to increase by 41,000 acre-feet by next fall. 

 
6. INFORMATIONAL UPDATE ON PROPOSED CHANGES TO RULE 7 WATER RIGHT 

DEDICATION REQUIREMENTS 

Eddy Quaglieri, Natural Resources Manager, and Shawn Stoddard, Senior Resource Economist, PhD, 
presented the proposed changes to Rule 7. Mr. Quaglieri stated that the last time Rule 7 was reviewed 
was in 2019 and it is good practice to review demand estimates every five years or so. The analysis 
focused on single-family residential and multi-family residential dedication units, with commercial 
dedications based on fixture counts. The proposed formula change resulted in an 18% decrease in water 
dedication for 6,000 square foot lots, while multifamily properties saw a reduction from 0.11 to 0.10 
acre-feet per unit. 

Members of the Committee inquired about only analyzing parcels between 2016-2020, the increase in 
the number of irrigation customers, and if it is true that older homes use more water than new homes. 
Mr. Quaglieri replied that the rationale for analyzing parcels with build dates between 2016 and 2020, 
ensuring a full four years of data for matured landscapes and Dr. Stoddard added the increase in 
irrigation is a result of the 2016 drought and call for conservation, which takes a few years to recover, 
and yes, older homes use more water which is based on multiple factors such as technology, lot size and 
landscaping. 

 

7. PRESENTATION OF UNAUDITED FISCAL YEAR 2025 FINANCIAL RESULTS 

Mat Bowman, Chief Financial Officer, presented the unaudited financial results for FY 2025. Mr. 
Bowman noted that hydroelectric sales were $4.2M (close to setting another record), capital 
contributions were slightly below budget and the significant capital spending, including over $50 million 
on repair and replace projects, resulting in a total cash balance of $160 million. 

 

8. PRESENTATION OF PRELIMINARY FY 2026 – 2030 FUNDING PLAN  

02-03-26 SAC Agenda Item 4



 

 

October 7, 2025 SAC Minutes  Page 3 of 5 
DRAFT – NOT APPROVED BY COMMITTEE 

Mr. Bowman presented the preliminary FY 2026-2030 funding plan. He explained that the 3.5% rate 
increase scheduled for June 2026  is part of the previously approved rate plan and the proposed rate 
increases outlined in the funding plan are not yet part of an approved rate plan. 

Mr. Zimmerman added that a lot of factors contribute to the funding requirements of TMWA including: 
drought, recession, fire hydrant maintenance, TMWA’s complex system, and replace and repair of older 
facilities. 

Mr. Bowman updated the Committee on the Cost of Service study which was presented to the Board on 
September 17th and will move forward with public outreach scheduled for December with final adoption 
in January/February. 

Upon motion duly made by Member Pullman, and seconded by Member 
McGuire, and carried by unanimous consent of the members present, the 
Committee approved recommending to the Board the preliminary FY 2026 
– 2030 funding plan. 
 

9. PRESENTATION AND POSSIBLE RECOMMENDATION TO THE BOARD, OF 
APPLICATIONS TO FILL THE SENIOR CITIZEN ALTERNATE CUSTOMER CLASS 
VACANCY, SENIOR CITIZEN ALTERNATE CUSTOMER CLASS VACANCY, AT-LARGE 
1 AND 2 ALTERNATE CUSTOMER CLASS VACANCIES, AND RESIDENTIAL 
REPRESENTATIVE 1 AND 2 CUSTOMER CLASS ALTERNATE VACANCIES AND 
OTHER POSSIBLE VACANCIES FROM THE FOLLOWING POOL OF CANDIDATES 
LISTED IN ALPHABETICAL ORDER: KEITH HAYES, AND RAY TOWNE 

Sonia Folsom, Executive Assistant, presented the staff report. 

Upon motion duly made by Member McGuire, and seconded by Member 
Arndt, and carried by unanimous consent of the members present, the 
Committee approved recommending to the Board Ray Towne to fill the 
Senior Citizen Alternate vacancy. 
 
Upon motion duly made by Member Pullman, and seconded by Member 
Naisbitt, and carried by unanimous consent of the members present, the 
Committee approved recommending to the Board Keith Hayes to fill the At-
Large 2 Alternate vacancy. 
 

10 UPDATE ON STANDING ADVISORY COMMITTEE MEMBERSHIP 

Ms. Folsom informed the Committee that all but Colin Hayes and Kevin Ryan will continue for another 
two-year term. 

Chair Krmpotic read Member Hayes’ comments to the Committee for the record:  

“It has been an honor to serve with each of you. I have enjoyed representing BANN since 2010, but it is 
time for me to step back and allow someone else to serve in this capacity. Thanks to all of TMWA’s staff 

02-03-26 SAC Agenda Item 4



 

 

October 7, 2025 SAC Minutes  Page 4 of 5 
DRAFT – NOT APPROVED BY COMMITTEE 

who have been so courteous to this group and so generous with their time and expertise. It is good to 
know the water company is in such good hands. Thank you all.” 

 

11. PRESENTATION AND POSSIBLE APPROVAL OF 2026 MEETING SCHEDULE 

Ms. Folsom presented the 2026 meeting calendar. 

Upon motion duly made by Member Wager, and seconded by Member 
Hastings, and carried by unanimous consent of the members present, the 
Committee approved the 2026 meeting schedule. 
 

12. ELECTION OF CHAIR AND VICE CHAIR FOR 2026 

Ms. Folsom opened up the call for nominations for Chair and Vice Chair for 2026. 

Upon motion duly made by Member McGuire, and seconded by Member 
Arndt, and carried by nine to one with Member McNeil dissenting, the 
Committee approved John Krmpotic as Chair for 2026. 
 
Upon motion duly made by Member Hastings, and seconded by Member 
Pullman, and carried by nine to one with Member McNeil dissenting, the 
Committee approved Neil McGuire as Vice Chair for 2026. 
 

13. DISCUSSION AND POSSIBLE DIRECTION TO STAFF REGARDING AGENDA ITEMS 
FOR FUTURE MEETINGS 

Upon motion duly made by Member Pullman, and seconded by Member 
Naisbitt, and carried by unanimous consent of the members present, the 
Committee approved the agenda items for future meetings. 

 
Next meeting: 

1. Water Supply Update 
2. Presentation of Q1 FY 2026 financial results 
3. FY 2025 Annual Comprehensive Financial Report 
4. Truckee River Fund presentation 
5. Upstream Watershed Protection 
6. Cost of Service Study update 
7. Discussion on rotation of Chair and Vice Chair 

 
14. STAFF ITEMS 

Mr. Zimmerman thanked the Committee for their continued support and engagement. 

 

15. COMMITTEE ITEMS 

02-03-26 SAC Agenda Item 4



 

 

October 7, 2025 SAC Minutes  Page 5 of 5 
DRAFT – NOT APPROVED BY COMMITTEE 

Chair Krmpotic stated that he cut Member McNeil off after prolonged discussion not out of disrespect, 
but rather for sake of time and not to repeat the same topic multiple times, however, he welcomed 
spirited debate. 

 

16. PUBLIC COMMENT 

There was no public comment. 

 

17. ADJOURNMENT 

With no further items for discussion, Chair Krmpotic adjourned the meeting at 4:35 p.m.  
Approved by the Standing Advisory Committee in session on ________________________. 
Sonia Folsom, Recording Clerk 
 
**Member Pullman was present for agenda items 4 through 17 only. 

02-03-26 SAC Agenda Item 4



02-03-26 SAC Agenda Item 6 
12-11-25 BOARD Agenda Item 11 

Page 1 of 3 

 
 

 
TO:  Board of Directors 
THRU: John R. Zimmerman, General Manager 
FROM: Sophie Cardinal, Financial Controller 
DATE:  November 26, 2025 
SUBJECT: Discussion and action on adoption of Resolution No. 339: A resolution to approve the 

Annual Comprehensive Financial Report for fiscal year ended June 30, 2025 
_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Recommendation 
 
TMWA staff recommends the Board approve the Annual Comprehensive Financial Report (ACFR) for the 
fiscal year ended June 30, 2025, by adoption of resolution and requests direction to the Chief Financial 
Officer to forward the appropriate documentation to the State of Nevada Department of Taxation (NDT) 
within the prescribed deadline.  
 
Summary 
 
Pursuant to Nevada Revised Statute 354.624, TMWA is required to provide an annual audit of its financial 
statements as reported in its ACFR. The financial audit must be conducted in accordance with generally 
accepted auditing standards in the United States, including findings on compliance with statutes and 
regulations, and an expression of opinion on the financial statements. The audit must also be conducted by 
a certified public accountant and be completed by November 30th.  
 
The report, opinion, and findings of the auditor contained in the ACFR must be presented at a TMWA Board 
meeting held not more than 30 days after the report is completed. Immediately thereafter, the entire report, 
together with the management letter required by generally accepted auditing standards in the United States, 
must be filed with the Board clerk, the County clerk, and the NDT. 
 
TMWA’s ACFR for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2025, has been audited by Eide Bailly LLP. The ACFR 
includes the letter of transmittal, management’s discussion and analysis, the audit report, the financial 
statements, required supplementary information, statistical schedules, and the compliance section. The 
financial statements include the Statements of Net Position (Balance Sheets); Statements of Revenues, 
Expenses and Changes in Net Position (Income Statements); Statements of Cash Flows; and Statements of 
Fiduciary Net Position and Changes in Fiduciary Net Position for TMWA’s Other Postemployment Benefit 
Trust Funds.  
 



02-03-26 SAC Agenda Item 6 
12-11-25 BOARD Agenda Item 11 

Page 2 of 3 

Financial Performance 
 
Complete information on TMWA’s financial performance for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2025, is shown 
in the ACFR. Management’s Discussion and Analysis in the financial section also provides a detailed 
discussion of comparative financial performance with the previous fiscal year.   
 
A summary of TMWA’s overall financial performance for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2025, is shown 
below: 
 

• Assets and deferred outflow of resources totaled $1,406.1 million.  
• Liabilities and deferred inflow of resources totaled $415.9 million.  
• Net position totaled $990.2 million.  
• The change in net position (net income) totaled $54.8 million.  
• Cash and investments totaled $160.2 million and decreased $27.6 million from the prior year.  
• Debt totaled $305.5 million and decreased $22.4 million from the prior year.  
• Federal grant expenditures totaled $1.4 million and warranted a Single Audit.  

  
Audit Results 
 
Eide Bailly LLP opined that the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of the business-type activities, and the fiduciary activities of TMWA, as of June 30, 2025 and 2024, 
and the respective changes in financial position, and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then 
ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAP). 
This is considered an unqualified audit opinion and is the highest level of opinion an auditor can render.  
 
In planning and performing the audit of the financial statements, Eide Bailly LLP considered TMWA’s 
internal control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing their opinion on the financial statements, but 
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of TMWA’s internal control. Accordingly, 
Eide Bailly LLP did not express an opinion on the effectiveness of TMWA’s internal control. Their 
consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described above and was not designed to 
identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be significant deficiencies or material weaknesses. 
Eide Bailly LLP is required, however, to communicate to those charged with governance all material 
weaknesses and significant deficiencies identified during the audit. No deficiencies were identified during 
the audit of the fiscal year ended June 30, 2025.   
 
Eide Bailly LLP also performed a single audit to evaluate TMWA’s use of federal funds; however, the firm 
has not yet completed the related compliance reports due to a delay in the issuance of the 2025 Compliance 
Supplement by the Office of Management and Budget. Eide Bailly LLP will conclude the single audit as 
soon as the 2025 Compliance Supplement becomes available. TMWA will incorporate Eide Bailly LLP’s 
compliance reports into the FY25 ACFR thereafter. Based on discussions with Eide Bailly LLP after audit 
fieldwork, TMWA expects no issues regarding compliance but expects a material weakness in internal 
control related to reporting federal financial assistance expenditures in the incorrect period. TMWA has 
already enhanced internal controls to prevent this from occurring in the future.      
 



02-03-26 SAC Agenda Item 6 
12-11-25 BOARD Agenda Item 11 

Page 3 of 3 

Additional Reporting 
 
In conjunction with the ACFR, TMWA is also pleased to publish the Popular Annual Financial Report 
(PAFR) for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2025. TMWA recognizes that the ACFR, while it maintains 
compliance with GAAP and other standards, is often complicated and too detailed for those without an 
accounting background. The PAFR is therefore presented as a summarized version of the ACFR, 
specifically designed to highlight essential elements and often in a more visually striking way. TMWA 
intends for the PAFR to increase transparency, accountability, and communication with interested parties.  
 
 
Recommended Motion 
 
Move to adopt Resolution No. 339 to approve the Annual Comprehensive Financial Report for fiscal year 
ended June 30, 2025. 
 



eidebailly.com
5441 Kietzke Ln., Ste. 150  •  Reno, NV 89511-2094  •  T 775.689.9100  •  F 775.689.9299  •  EOE

November 17, 2025 

To the Board of Directors  
Truckee Meadows Water Authority 
Reno, Nevada 

We have audited the financial statements of Truckee Meadows Water Authority (“TMWA”) as of and for 
the year ended June 30, 2025, and have issued our report thereon dated November 17, 2025. 
Professional standards require that we advise you of the following matters relating to our audit. 

Our Responsibility in Relation to the Financial Statement Audit under Generally Accepted Auditing 
Standards and Government Auditing Standards 

As communicated in our letter dated August 21, 2025, our responsibility, as described by professional 
standards, is to form and express an opinion about whether the financial statements that have been 
prepared by management with your oversight are presented fairly, in all material respects, in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Our audit of 
the financial statements does not relieve you or management of its respective responsibilities. 

Our responsibility, as prescribed by professional standards, is to plan and perform our audit to obtain 
reasonable, rather than absolute, assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material 
misstatement. An audit of financial statements includes consideration of internal control over financial 
reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for 
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control over financial 
reporting. Accordingly, as part of our audit, we considered the internal control of TMWA solely for the 
purpose of determining our audit procedures and not to provide any assurance concerning such internal 
control. 

We are also responsible for communicating significant matters related to the audit that are, in our 
professional judgment, relevant to your responsibilities in overseeing the financial reporting process. 
However, we are not required to design procedures for the purpose of identifying other matters to 
communicate to you.  

We have provided our comments regarding internal controls during our audit in our Independent 
Auditor’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and Other Matters 
Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing 
Standards dated November 17, 2025.  



2 

Planned Scope and Timing of the Audit 

We conducted our audit consistent with the planned scope and timing we previously communicated to 
you. 

Compliance with All Ethics Requirements Regarding Independence 

The engagement team, others in our firm, as appropriate, our firm, and other firms utilized in the 
engagement, if applicable, have complied with all relevant ethical requirements regarding 
independence.  

Qualitative Aspects of the Entity’s Significant Accounting Practices 

Significant Accounting Policies 

Management has the responsibility to select and use appropriate accounting policies. A summary of the 
significant accounting policies adopted by TMWA is included in Note 1 to the financial statements. There 
have been no initial selection of accounting policies and no changes in significant accounting policies or 
their application during year ended June 30, 2025, except for the implementation of GASB Statement 
No. 101, Compensated Absences, and GASB Statement No. 102, Certain Risk Disclosures, as disclosed in 
the financial statements. No matters have come to our attention that would require us, under 
professional standards, to inform you about (1) the methods used to account for significant unusual 
transactions and (2) the effect fo significant accounting policies in controversial or emerging areas for 
which there is a lack of authoritative guidance or consensus. 

Accounting Estimates 

Accounting estimates are an integral part of the financial statements prepared by management and are 
based on management’s current judgments. Those judgments are normally based on knowledge and 
experience about past and current events and assumptions about future events. Certain accounting 
estimates are particularly sensitive because of their significance to the financial statements and because 
of the possibility that future events affecting them may differ markedly from management’s current 
judgments. The most sensitive accounting estimates affecting the financial statements are: 

• Management’s estimate of the pension liability is based on actuarial valuation, which is
calculated based on the employee information submitted by TMWA to the Public Employees’
Retirement System of the State of Nevada (PERS).

• Management’s estimate of the actuarial accrued liability for OPEB is based on third party
actuarial valuation, which is calculated based on information submitted by TMWA to the
actuary.

• Management’s estimate of the delivered but unbilled water sales revenue is based upon
number of days in the cycle and water usage.

• Management’s estimate of the allocation of administrative costs to capital assets is based upon
the year-to-date construction salaries and wages relative to total construction and indirect
salaries and wages.

• Management’s estimate of the value of the developer dedicated infrastructure and other
donated capital assets is based on acquisition value (as defined under GASB Statement No. 72)
using engineering cost indices at the time of dedication or donation.



 

3 

• Management’s estimate of the compensated absences liability is based on estimates of leave 
used. 

 
We evaluated the key factors and assumptions used to develop these accounting estimates and 
determined that they are reasonable in relation to the financial statements taken as a whole. 
 
Financial Statement Disclosures  
 
Certain financial statement disclosures involve significant judgment and are particularly sensitive 
because of their significance to financial statement users. The most sensitive disclosures affecting 
TMWA’s financial statements relate to:  
 

• Disclosures related to pension and OPEB benefits 
 
Significant Difficulties Encountered during the Audit 
 
We encountered no significant difficulties in dealing with management relating to the performance of 
the audit. 
 
Uncorrected and Corrected Misstatements 
 
For purposes of this communication, professional standards require us to accumulate all known and 
likely misstatements identified during the audit, other than those that we believe are trivial, and 
communicate them to the appropriate level of management. Further, professional standards require us 
to also communicate the effect of uncorrected misstatements related to prior periods on the relevant 
classes of transactions, account balances or disclosures, and the financial statements as a whole. 
Uncorrected misstatements or matters underlying those uncorrected misstatements could potentially 
cause future-period financial statements to be materially misstated, even though the uncorrected 
misstatements are immaterial to the financial statements currently under audit. There were no 
uncorrected or corrected misstatements identified as a result of our audit procedures. 
 
Disagreements with Management 
 
For purposes of this letter, professional standards define a disagreement with management as a matter, 
whether or not resolved to our satisfaction, concerning a financial accounting, reporting, or auditing 
matter, which could be significant to TMWA’s financial statements or the auditor’s report. No such 
disagreements arose during the course of the audit. 
 
Circumstances that Affect the Form and Content of the Auditor’s Report 
 
For purposes of this letter, professional standards require that we communicate any circumstances that 
affect the form and content of our auditor’s report.  
 
As discussed in Note 15 to the financial statements, TMWA implemented GASB 101 during the year 
ended June 30, 2025. Accordingly, a restatement has been made to the business-type activities for the 
year ended June 30, 2024. As a result of implementing the standard, there was no effect on beginning 
net position as of July 1, 2023. Our opinions are not modified with respect to this matter. 



 

4 

As discussed in Note 16 to the financial statements, TMWA updated its measurement methodology over 
the calculation of the outstanding portion of bond proceeds that were not used for capital purposes in 
the net investment in capital assets net position calculation during the year ended June 30, 2025. Our 
opinions are not modified with respect to this matter. 
 
Representations Requested from Management 
 
We have requested certain written representations from management that are included in the 
management representation letter dated November 17, 2025. 
 
Management’s Consultations with Other Accountants 
 
In some cases, management may decide to consult with other accountants about auditing and 
accounting matters. Management informed us that, and to our knowledge, there were no consultations 
with other accountants regarding auditing and accounting matters. 
 
Other Significant Matters, Findings, or Issues 
 
In the normal course of our professional association with TMWA, we generally discuss a variety of 
matters, including the application of accounting principles and auditing standards, significant events or 
transactions that occurred during the year, operating conditions affecting the entity, and operating 
plans and strategies that may affect the risks of material misstatement. None of the matters discussed 
resulted in a condition to our retention as TMWA’s auditors. 
 
Other Information Included in Annual Reports 
 
Pursuant to professional standards, our responsibility as auditors for other information, whether 
financial or nonfinancial, included in TMWA’s annual reports, does not extend beyond the financial 
information identified in the audit report, and we are not required to perform any procedures to 
corroborate such other information. However, in accordance with such standards, we have: 
 

• Read the other information and considered whether a material inconsistency exists between the 
other information and the basic financial statements, or the other information otherwise 
appears to be materially misstated. 

 
Our responsibility also includes communicating to you any information which we believe is a material 
misstatement of fact. Nothing came to our attention that caused us to believe that such information, or 
its manner of presentation, is materially inconsistent with the information, or manner of its 
presentation, appearing in the financial statements. 



 

5 

Other Matters 
 
The basic financial statements include the financial statements of TMWA and the Truckee Meadows 
Water Authority OPEB Trust Fund and the Truckee Meadows Water Authority Post-Retirement Medical 
Plan & Trust, both fiduciary component units of TMWA, which we considered to be significant 
components of the basic financial statements. Consistent with the audit of the basic financial statements 
as a whole, our audits included obtaining an understanding of TMWA, the Truckee Meadows Water 
Authority OPEB Trust Fund and the Truckee Meadows Water Authority Post-Retirement Medical Plan & 
Trust and their environment, including internal control, sufficient to assess the risks of material 
misstatement of the basic financial statements of TMWA, the Truckee Meadows Water Authority OPEB 
Trust Fund and the Truckee Meadows Water Authority Post-Retirement Medical Plan & Trust and 
completion of further audit procedures. 
 
This report is intended solely for the information and use of the TMWA Board of Directors and 
management of TMWA and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these 
specified parties. 

 
Reno, Nevada 



NEVADA

ANNUAL COMPREHENSIVE FINANCIAL REPORT

For the Years Ended June 30, 2025 and 2024

PREPARED BY:  Sophia Cardinal, CPA
Financial Controller

Matt Bowman, CPA
 Chief Financial Officer

02-03-26 SAC Agenda Item 6



INTRODUCTORY SECTION

Letter of Transmittal 1

List of Principal Officials 12

Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting 13

Organizational Chart 14

FINANCIAL SECTION

Independent Auditor's Report 15

Management's Discussion and Analysis 19

Basic Financial Statements

Statements of Net Position 30
Statements of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position 32
Statements of Cash Flows 33
Statements of Fiduciary Net Position 35
Statements of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position 36
Notes to Financial Statements 37

Required Supplementary Information

Schedules of Changes in Net OPEB Liability and Related Ratios 72
Schedules of OPEB Contributions 74
Schedules of TMWA's Share of Net Pension Liability 76
Schedules of TMWA's Pension Contributions 78

Supplementary Information

Schedule of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position - Budget and Actual 80
Combining Statement of Fiduciary Net Position 82
Combining Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position 83

STATISTICAL SECTION

Schedule No. 1 - Net Position by Component 86
Schedule No. 2 - Changes in Net Position 87
Schedule No. 3 - Operating Revenues by Customer Class 88
Schedule No. 4 - Operating Expenses 89
Schedule No. 5 - Nonoperating Revenues and Expenses 90
Schedule No. 6 - Capital Contributions by Source 91
Schedule No. 7 - Gallons of Water Sold and Revenues by Category 92
Schedule No. 8 - Ten Largest Customers 93
Schedule No. 9 - Debt Service Coverage Ratios 94
Schedule No. 10 - Schedule of Total Building Permits Issued by Jurisdiction/Member Entity 95
Schedule No. 11 - Selected Demographic and Economic Statistics for Washoe County 96
Schedule No. 12 - Principal Employers 97
Schedule No. 13 - Customer and Water Sales by Category 98
Schedule No. 14 - Schedule of Insurance Coverage 100
Schedule No. 15 - Authorized Full-Time Equivalent Employees by Department 101
Schedule No. 16 - Current and Historical Water Rates 102
Schedule No. 17 - Selected Operating and Capital Indicators 103
Schedule No. 18 - Schedule of Changes in Debt 104
Schedule No. 19 - Debt by Service Connection 105

Truckee Meadows Water Authority
Table of Contents

June 30, 2025 and 2024



COMPLIANCE SECTION

Independent Auditor's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and Other Matters Based 
on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards 107
Independent Auditor's Report on Compliance for the Major Federal Program and Report on Internal Control Over Compliance 
Required by the Uniform Guidance 109
Auditor's Comments 113
Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards 114
Notes to Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards 115
Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs 116
Corrective Action Plan 118

Truckee Meadows Water Authority
Table of Contents

June 30, 2025 and 2024



November 18, 2025

To the Board of Directors, Our Customers, and Bondholders:

We are pleased to submit the Annual Comprehensive Financial Report (Annual Report) for the 
Truckee Meadows Water Authority (TMWA) for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2025. The 
purpose of the report is to provide the Board of Directors (Board), our customers, and 
bondholders as well as other interested parties with reliable financial information about TMWA. 
TMWA’s Finance Department has prepared the Annual Report in accordance with Generally 
Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP). 

Management assumes full responsibility for the completeness and reliability of the information 
contained in this Annual Report, based upon a comprehensive framework of internal control 
established for this purpose. Because the cost of internal control should not exceed benefits, the 
objective is to provide reasonable rather than absolute assurance that the financial statements are 
free of any material misstatements. 

Nevada Revised Statutes and bond covenants require that an independent certified public 
accounting firm selected by the Board audit TMWA’s financial statements on an annual basis. 
Eide Bailly LLP, a firm of licensed certified public accountants, has audited TMWA’s basic 
financial statements as of and for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2025 and 2024. The 
independent auditor’s report is presented in the Financial Section of this report. TMWA complies 
with the Local Government Budget and Finance Act as embodied in Chapter 354 and Public 
Investments as embodied in Chapter 355 of the Nevada Revised Statutes. 

The Annual Report consists of four sections:

Introductory Section - This section is comprised of the letter of transmittal which contains 
information relative to TMWA’s background, a listing of TMWA’s principal officers, 
organizational chart, and other relevant information to assist the reader in understanding 
TMWA’s operations, financial condition, and accomplishments.

Financial Section - This section consists of TMWA’s basic financial statements, supplementary 
financial information, and the independent auditor’s report on the basic financial statements. This 
section also includes Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A), which provides a 
narrative overview and explanation of the results reflected in the basic financial statements. The 
financial statements presented in this section were prepared in accordance with GAAP. TMWA’s 
financial activities are reported as an enterprise fund (proprietary fund type). 

Statistical Section - This section is comprised of selected financial, operational, and demographic 
information presented annually and includes statistics for the past ten years. 

Compliance Section - This section consists of information regarding TMWA's compliance with 
standards and audit requirements. In particular, this section reports on TMWA's conformance 
with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAS), Government 

     1



Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, and the audit 
requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200 (Uniform Guidance). 

REPORTING ENTITY

TMWA was formed as a Joint Powers Authority (JPA) pursuant to Chapter 277 of the Nevada 
Revised Statutes and is a political subdivision of the State of Nevada. TMWA is separate from its 
member agencies: City of Reno, City of Sparks, and Washoe County. TMWA was formed in 
November 2000 for the purpose of acquiring the assets of the water division of Sierra Pacific 
Power Co. (SPPCo), a subsidiary of Sierra Pacific Resources, now known as NV Energy, with 
the goal of retaining local control over the water resources of the area. TMWA took over the 
water system assets on June 11, 2001. Amendments to the JPA were approved by the member 
agencies and the Attorney General’s Office of the State of Nevada effective February 3, 2010. 
The amendments were made in anticipation of the consolidation of TMWA, Washoe County’s 
water utility, and another water utility named South Truckee Meadows General Improvement 
District (STMGID). The consolidation of the water utilities occurred on January 1, 2015 with 
TMWA as the continuing entity. There are no component units associated with this financial 
reporting entity.

TMWA has no financial interdependence with its member agencies. TMWA has broad powers to 
finance, construct, and operate the water system, for the diversion, treatment, distribution, and 
sale of treated water to retail and wholesale customers. TMWA has full authority to set water 
rates for services subject to the approval of the TMWA Board, without approval by other entities. 
TMWA is a tax-exempt entity for purposes of federal taxes, State of Nevada property and sales 
and use taxes, and other state taxes. TMWA pays property taxes in Nevada and Sierra Counties 
of California for the privilege of storing water in private and federal reservoirs. TMWA has no 
taxing authority.

TMWA has over 140,000 service connections and two wholesale customers. TMWA operates 
within the Truckee Meadows Service Area. TMWA has only one significant wholesale customer, 
the Sun Valley General Improvement District (SVGID) located north of the Reno-Sparks main 
metropolitan area. SVGID is wholly dependent upon TMWA water deliveries as this district has 
no source of water supply. There is one water delivery contract associated with this wholesale 
connection. 

The map on the following page reflects TMWA's service territory.

     2



Table of Contents

     3



The following graph depicts the proportion of operating revenues by class for fiscal year 2025:

TMWA Operating Revenues $132.3 Million 

67.0%
2.2%

10.6%

12.8%

7.4%

Residential Metered Rate Residential Flat Rate
Commercial Metered Rate Irrigation Metered Rate
Other

The metering of the water system, which began under Sierra Pacific in 1995, presents various 
operational solutions for TMWA. These solutions present the opportunity to collect accurate data 
on water usage by customer class. This allows TMWA to make more accurate cost of service 
analyses, to make water rates more equitable across customer classes, and to better anticipate 
future water resource and water facility requirements. Since the acquisition of the water system, 
TMWA has metered nearly 100% of water services. Currently, there are less than 650 water 
services that do not have a meter installed and are billed on a flat rate. These are problematic and 
relatively expensive services to convert to meters with multiple customers on a single service 
line. 

The Board adopted a goal in August 2003 of maintaining a senior lien debt coverage ratio of at 
least 1.50 times recurring revenues less operating expenses divided by annual senior lien debt 
service. This calculation excludes developer facility charges and other fees associated with new 
development. This target is sufficient to meet minimum debt service coverage requirements, fund 
reconstruction of the water system on a pay-go basis, and manage TMWA’s senior lien bonding 
capacity to allow for potential future senior lien bond sales if necessary. These measures were 
deemed necessary to maintain water system infrastructure in a prudent manner and ensure that 
TMWA’s bondholders are adequately protected. There are no other restrictions, commitments, or 
other limitations that would restrict the unrestricted cash assets for use in meeting TMWA's 

Table of Contents

     4



obligations. TMWA’s senior lien debt coverage was approximately 1.66x and with certain 
developer fees and charges was approximately 2.27x as of June 30, 2025.  

ECONOMIC OUTLOOK AND WATER RESOURCES

The Reno-Sparks metropolitan area enjoys a moderate climate, offers a wide variety of year-
round recreational opportunities, and has a favorable tax structure. It is also centrally located in 
the Pacific region affording efficient distribution of goods throughout the western United States. 
Northern Nevada’s favorable business tax environment nurtures steady growth in TMWA’s 
service area and nearby communities in manufacturing, distribution, warehousing and industrial 
businesses. TMWA’s service area has experienced steady growth since TMWA’s inception in 
2001. With a population of approximately 353,000 in 2001, Washoe County's population has 
grown 44% to over 507,000 in 2024. 

Reflecting a diverse and strong regional economy, taxable sales in Washoe County remained 
steady in fiscal year 2025 with a slight increase of 4% from the prior year. Prior to fiscal year 
2025, Washoe County experienced taxable sales changes of -2% and 1% in fiscal years 2024 and 
2023, respectively. Washoe County's unemployment rate remains stable and is less than one 
percent greater than the national unemployment rate. At June 30, 2025, Washoe County's 
unemployment rate was 4.6% compared to the national unemployment rate of 4.1%. 

To ensure appropriate and responsible water resource availability for current and future water 
demands, TMWA prepares and frequently updates a detailed Water Resource Plan (WRP). The 
TMWA Board approved the most recent iteration of the WRP in October 2025 for the years 
2025-2045. The WRP was previously updated in fiscal year 2021 and covered years 2020-2040. 
The WRP addresses current water resources, future water resources and water rights availability, 
defined drought standards, and impacts of climate change. The analyses performed in the most 
recent WRP conclude that TMWA can utilize the aforementioned water resources to meet 
incremental water demands required by growth for the next twenty years and beyond. The focal 
point of the WRP is the population and water demand forecasts for the TMWA service territory. 

To complement this water resource planning effort, TMWA prepares and frequently updates a 
comprehensive Water Facility Plan (WFP). The TMWA Board approved the most recent 
iteration of the WFP in October 2023 for the years 2020-2040. The WFP was previously updated 
in October 2019 and covered years 2015-2035. The original WFP was adopted by the TMWA 
Board in December 2004 and updated in 2010. The WFP evaluates the infrastructure required to 
supply, treat, and deliver water to customers over the life of the plan and determines 
infrastructure requirements needed in the Capital Improvement Plan to serve growth based upon 
population and water demand forecasts in the WRP. 

Since inception, TMWA has made and will continue to make strategic water rights acquisitions 
to ensure sufficient inventory of water rights are available to issue will-serve commitments for 
the foreseeable future. Any given year, as much as 80% or more of the water supply to TMWA’s 
service area is supplied from surface water from the Truckee River. As such, TMWA played a 
critical role in negotiating and implementing the Truckee River Operating Agreement (TROA). 
TMWA is a primary signatory to the TROA along with the Pyramid Lake Paiute Tribe (PLPT), 
the States of Nevada and California, and U.S. Department of the Interior. TROA provides 
TMWA customers with benefits, prescribing operation of the Truckee River system that provides 

Table of Contents

     5

https://tmwa.com/at-a-glance/
https://tmwa.com/2020-2040-water-system-facility-plan/


additional drought supplies for existing and new customers. These lengthy and complex 
negotiations, which include interstate allocations of Truckee River water rights, were concluded 
when TROA was signed by the aforementioned parties on September 6, 2008 at a signing 
ceremony in Reno. TMWA made available to the PLPT certain water rights that met 
requirements to put TROA into effect in October 2015. In November 2015, remaining related 
lawsuits were dismissed, and TROA became effective December 1, 2015 providing significant 
additional drought resources for TMWA’s service area and completing a multi-decade effort.

TMWA owns and operates 27,000 acre-feet of Privately Owned Stored Water reservoir storage 
comprised of 9,500 and 17,500 acre-feet in Donner Lake and Independence Lake, respectively 
(both dams are owned and operated by TMWA). In addition to the owned storage, as a result of 
TROA, TMWA can access additional storage capacity in certain federally-owned reservoirs, 
including Lake Tahoe. As of June 30, 2025, TMWA had 40,790 acre feet stored across the 
reservoirs. 

The region experienced its third normal to above average winter in a row. The water supply 
outlook for the region is positive with Lake Tahoe filling to within 0.6 feet of its legal maximum 
elevation and all other reservoirs on the Truckee River system 75%-100% full. As of June 30, 
2025, total upstream reservoir storage was at 85% of capacity. Truckee River reservoirs will 
have carry-over storage heading into the 2025/2026 winter, and TMWA will carry over more 
than 32,000 acre feet of water in drought reserves. Current reservoir storage ensures that the 
region can expect normal Truckee River flows for at least the next two years, regardless of the 
amount of precipitation in the 2025/2026 winter. TMWA will continue to utilize the provisions 
of TROA to maximize upstream storage opportunities and make the most efficient use of water 
resources for the region.

Drought

Although the region is not in a drought currently, droughts will inevitably occur again. However, 
TMWA’s integrated approach to water resource management has positioned it well to withstand 
even the most severe droughts. TMWA has a robust and resilient water supply to meet customer 
demands, regardless of climate and weather patterns. These sources of supply include surface 
water rights directly from the Truckee River, an extensive network of upstream reservoirs, 
expanded drought storage under TROA, groundwater supplies from nearly 90 production wells, 
banked groundwater from years of aquifer storage and recovery efforts, and the inter-basin 
transfer of water from the Fish Springs Ranch project. 

Advanced Purified Water Program

TMWA is confident in its ability to meet the community’s potable water needs for decades to 
come.  Regardless, staff and leadership are dedicated to preparing for potential needs that are 
beyond the horizon.  In this spirit, TMWA is participating in a multi-organizational effort to 
study the feasibility of producing Category A+ Advanced Purified Water (APW). This research 
collaboration is known as OneWater Nevada and includes TMWA; City of Reno; City of Sparks; 
Washoe County; the University of Nevada, Reno; Truckee Meadows Water Reclamation 
Facility; the Western Regional Water Commission, and the Northern Nevada Water Planning 
Commission. OneWater Nevada has performed years of feasibility studies using treated effluent 
from regional water reclamation facilities and applying a combination of advanced water 
treatment steps with natural groundwater purification processes to allow for aquifer storage and 

Table of Contents

     6



recovery of the APW.  The treatment approach is regulated to rigorous state and federal drinking 
water standards and may potentially create a future supplemental water supply for potable or 
other high-quality uses.  

TMWA has contributed to the operation and funding of OneWater Nevada since the effort began 
in 2016. This participation has included the construction and operation of a small-scale pilot 
treatment facility at the Reno Stead Water Reclamation Facility (RSWRF), a hydrogeological 
study at American Flat, management of groundwater recharge and recovery facilities, and overall 
technical and operational support. Through an Interlocal Agreement (ILA) with City of Reno, a 
Basis of Design Report for the RSWRF American Flat Advanced Purified Water (APW) Aquifer 
Storage and Recovery Project was completed in fiscal year 2021. Leveraging the information 
from this Report, TMWA and City of Reno have executed an ILA for a cost sharing agreement 
for construction of a two million gallon per day (MGD) APW treatment facility. This facility will 
take several years to build with construction activities expected to commence in Summer 2026, 
subject to final TMWA Board and Reno City Council approval.

WATER QUALITY

TMWA’s highest priority is the protection of public health through modern water treatment 
techniques and water quality monitoring efforts. TMWA’s primary source of water is the 
Truckee River, which sources at Lake Tahoe and other tributaries. The Truckee River travels into 
Nevada through the Reno-Sparks Metropolitan area and terminates at Pyramid Lake, a distance 
of approximately 120 miles. The river’s natural water quality is excellent; however, additional 
steps are taken to purify the water to meet safe drinking water standards that were set forth by the 
United States Department of Environmental Protection in the early 1990s. TMWA owns and 
operates the 90.0 MGD Chalk Bluff Water Treatment Plant, the 34.5 MGD Glendale Water 
Treatment Plant, the 4.0 MGD Mount Rose Water Treatment Plant, and two other smaller, 
groundwater treatment plants. The Mount Rose Water Treatment Plant treats surface water from 
Whites Creek, a tributary of the Truckee River. Attesting to TMWA’s commitment to the 
protection of public health, TMWA’s Chalk Bluff Water Treatment Plant received the Presidents 
Award from the Partnership for Safe Water in 2015. This recognition exemplifies TMWA staff’s 
experience, passion, and commitment to producing and delivering outstanding water quality to 
customers. TMWA has since qualified for this award on an annual basis.

TMWA spends approximately $2.4 million annually on its State-certified drinking water 
laboratory which monitors water quality by sampling, analyzing, and reporting required 
regulated compliance data for its facilities within all six of its drinking water systems. The 
majority of the TMWA’s data is analyzed by TMWA staff eliminating outside laboratory rates. 
TMWA ensures compliance with all current drinking water standards promulgated by the United 
States Environmental Protection Agency and administered by the Nevada Division of 
Environmental Protection, Bureau of Safe Drinking Water, and Northern Nevada Public Health 
in Washoe County.  

WATER CONSERVATION

Efficient use of water within the Truckee Meadows extends this vital resource through periods of 
drought in this high desert climate. Therefore, water conservation has been, and will continually 

Table of Contents

     7



be, a high-priority at TMWA. Not only does conservation promote water-efficient behavior, such 
efforts also reduce peak-day demand and help defer future investments in costly improvements to 
infrastructure. The purpose of water conservation at TMWA is to promote smart use of water 
through several programs. During a drought, TMWA enhances its conservation efforts to ensure 
drought storage is sufficient over the drought period.

Water-Efficiency Codes

TMWA’s Rule 2 provides water-efficiency codes to which customers must adhere. First, 
customers must not use water excessively (i.e., no waste). Second, TMWA requires that its 
customers adhere to a three-day-a-week irrigation schedule. This watering restriction helps 
prevent overwatering as well as reduces peak-day demand. Next, TMWA also requires no 
irrigation on Mondays to allow its system to recharge. Finally, TMWA generally requires no 
irrigation between noon and 6 p.m. from Memorial Day to Labor Day. These water-efficiency 
codes have been successful in managing customer demands over time.

Water Resource Sustainability Program

TMWA's Water Resource Sustainability Program was created in fiscal year 2019. Through a 
charge of $1,600 for every acre-foot of new surface water demand, developers and others 
provide funding for projects that improve TMWA's drought resiliency and water resource 
sustainability. Such projects include those for expanded conjunctive use, aquifer storage and 
recovery, demonstration and validation of exceptional quality reclaimed water uses, and future 
water resource identification and acquisition efforts. 

Water Pricing Structure

TMWA has an inverted, tiered-rate billing structure in which customers are charged increasing 
rates based on the amount of water they use. This billing structure provides a “price signal” to 
customers who cross into a higher tier, thereby encouraging efficient use of water. 

Water Usage Review Program

The Water Usage Review Program assists TMWA customers with issues regarding their water 
meter or their water delivery system. When a water usage review is requested, TMWA staff goes 
onsite to check meter accuracy as well as detect for leaks in the customer’s system. If a leak is 
detected, staff will work with the customer to attempt to identify the leak source. Staff will also 
review the usage history of the service to determine water usage behavior. Once completed, staff 
will notify the customer of any leaks that were detected, make recommendations on how to 
reduce water consumption, and teach customers how to check for leaks in the future. 

Water Watcher Program

During irrigation months (April to October), TMWA ramps up its conservation efforts by hiring 
additional full-time seasonal conservation consultants. These consultants are trained to monitor 
TMWA's service territory and ensure its water-efficiency codes are being adhered to. They also 
respond to water waste reports by the public. They provide customers with information about 

Table of Contents

     8



TMWA’s water-efficiency codes and identify any leaks or sources of water waste in outdoor 
irrigation. This program not only promotes efficient use of water but also facilitates lower 
monthly bills.

Landscape Retrofit Program

The Landscape Retrofit Program promotes water-efficiency measures on municipal landscapes. 
The program includes financial support of landscape augmentation projects by institutional 
irrigators. Projects supported under this program promote drought-tolerant landscapes and 
educational programs focused on smart landscaping practices.

Water Conservation Education Program

TMWA has a strong educational program designed to teach customers about the benefits of 
conservation and techniques that can help them use water more responsibly. Educational 
initiatives include a free workshop series, direct communication (bill inserts, emails, in-person, 
etc.), public presentations and events, as well as, a multi-media campaign. TMWA also partners 
with other local organizations to provide grade school students in the Truckee Meadows with 
information regarding our water sources, water quality, and watershed protection.

FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Internal Controls

TMWA employs various internal controls for the safeguarding of assets against losses from 
unauthorized use or disposition. TMWA’s management is responsible for establishing and 
maintaining a system of internal controls designed to meet these objectives. Internal controls are 
also used to ensure that accounting data are compiled to allow for the preparation of financial 
statements in accordance with GAAP. The internal control structure is designed to provide 
reasonable assurance that these objectives are met. When establishing or reviewing internal 
controls, management weighs the cost to implement such controls over the benefits derived from 
implementing such controls. TMWA's management is constantly looking for opportunities to 
improve or redesign internal controls. A key component of TMWA’s internal controls is its 
budgetary controls. 

Budgetary Controls

TMWA is legally required to prepare, present to the TMWA Board, and adopt an annual budget 
in conformance with Chapter 354 of the Nevada Revised Statutes. These statutes comprise the 
Local Government Budget and Finance Act, which stipulates that the Board be presented with a 
tentative budget by April 15 of each year, with formal adoption of the budget after a public 
hearing in May of each year. The adopted budget is then filed with the Nevada Department of 
Taxation. 

TMWA is also required to prepare a Capital Improvement Plan for review and formal acceptance 
by the TMWA Board. This plan is a comprehensive compilation of all capital projects and 
capital outlays expected during the ensuing five fiscal years. TMWA’s Board is kept informed of 

Table of Contents

     9



TMWA’s financial performance throughout the fiscal year at scheduled Board meetings. The 
General Manager, as the chief administrative officer, is authorized to approve all expenses that 
are within the approved budget. This authority is conferred upon the General Manager by virtue 
of the TMWA Cooperative Agreement between the City of Reno, City of Sparks, and Washoe 
County. This arrangement allows for the efficient operation of TMWA. TMWA routinely 
prepares five-year financial forecasts in conjunction with the Capital Improvement Plan. 

BUDGET ANALYSIS AND VARIANCES

Actual total operating revenues of $132.3 million were $2.0 million or 1.6% over the final budget 
for fiscal year ended June 30, 2025. Charges for water sales totaled $124.0 million and were 
0.2% higher than budget. TMWA’s water sales can fluctuate from budget based on weather 
conditions, especially during the spring and fall. Hydroelectric sales totaled $4.2 million and 
were 41.2% higher than budget. Hydroelectric sales exceeded budget as a result of strong river 
flows and less maintenance downtime as TMWA's staff determined it was advantageous to defer 
planned outages in preference of generation. 

Total operating expenses of $129.5 million were approximately $3.1 million or 2.3% under the 
final budget. Operating expenses before depreciation were $4.2 million or 4.3% under budget. 
Salaries and wages were higher by $0.2 million or 0.6%, and  employee benefits were $0.5 
million or 3.4% over budget. Salaries, wages, and benefits were primarily higher because more 
staff time was charged outside of capital projects than expected. Services and supplies expenses 
were $4.9 million or 10.7% under budget. This was mostly due to lower electrical power costs 
and less supply consumption during the year.  

Total net nonoperating revenues and expenses were $4.2 million favorable to budget. This 
variance was primarily due to a net increase in the fair value of investments.

Capital contributions of $53.0 million were $7.0 million over budget.  The primary driver was 
the recognition of a $9.0 million credit to developer will-serve revenue resulting from a water 
resource exchange agreement for an effluent pipeline to TRI General Improvement District 
(TRIGID).  TMWA received the cash in 2021 but deferred recognizing revenue until 2025 when 
effluent delivery via the pipeline commenced. Also contributing to the increase is slightly higher 
connection fee revenue as new business projects remained steady. 

Total capital spending was approximately $72.1 million for fiscal year 2025, which was 
approximately $39.1 million less than the $111.2 million planned in the final capital budget. The 
underspend is typical as TMWA usually spends between 60%-70% of the total CIP.

As reflected in the Statement of Cash Flows, TMWA funded the operating budget, debt service 
requirements and capital spending from operating revenues, capital contributions and investment 
income. As of June 30, 2025, TMWA has approximately $94.4 million of unrestricted cash and 
investments to fund future operations and capital projects. 

TMWA complied with bond covenants during fiscal year 2025 with respect to funding cash 
reserves. TMWA’s renewal and replacement reserve is fully funded at $10.0 million. The 
operations and maintenance reserve fund, which TMWA is required to maintain at a balance 
equal to one-sixth of TMWA's revised final operating budget, contained $16.2 million as of June 

Table of Contents

     10



30, 2025. As of June 30, 2025, TMWA also retained a $11.5 million water rate stabilization 
reserve of which $0.5 million is restricted and $11.0 million is included as a reservation of 
unrestricted net position.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The timely preparation of this report could not be done without the assistance of TMWA finance 
personnel, the management team, and employees of TMWA. We would like to thank the Board, 
TMWA customers, and the development community for their commitment to the long-term 
operational and financial stewardship of TMWA. 

John Zimmerman
General Manager

Matt Bowman, CPA
Chief Financial Officer 

Table of Contents

     11



Truckee Meadows Water Authority
List of Principal Officials

June 30, 2025 

TMWA Board of Directors

Naomi Duerr, Reno City Council Member, Chair

Clara Andriola, Washoe County Commissioner, Vice Chair

Paul Anderson, Sparks City Council Member

Alexis Hill, Washoe County Commissioner

Kathleen Taylor, Reno City Council Member

Miguel Martinez, Reno City Council Member

Dian VanderWell, Sparks City Council Member

Management

John R. Zimmerman, General Manager

Danny Rotter, Assistant General Manager and Director of Engineering

Jessica Atkinson, Director of Human Resources

Matt Bowman, Chief Financial Officer

Ryan Dixon, Director of Distribution, Maintenance, and Generation

Sean Feeney, Director of Technology

Will Raymond, Director of Operations and Water Quality

Table of Contents

     12



Table of Contents

     13



Table of Contents

     14



eidebailly.com
5441 Kietzke Ln., Ste. 150  •  Reno, NV 89511-2094  •  T 775.689.9100  •  F 775.689.9299  •  EOE

Independent Auditor’s Report 

To the Board of Directors 
Truckee Meadows Water Authority 
Reno, Nevada 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Opinions 

We have audited the financial statements of the business-type activities and the fiduciary activities of 
the Truckee Meadows Water Authority (“TMWA”) as of and for the years ended June 30, 2025 and 
2024, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise TMWA’s basic 
financial statements as listed in the table of contents. 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material 
respects, the respective financial position of the business-type activities and the fiduciary activities of 
the Truckee Meadows Water Authority, as of June 30, 2025 and 2024, and the respective changes in 
financial position, and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the years then ended in accordance with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

Basis for Opinions 

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States 
of America (GAAS) and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing 
Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States (Government Auditing Standards). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the 
Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to be independent of TMWA 
and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements 
relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our audit opinions. 

Adoption of New Accounting Standard 

As discussed in Note 15 to the financial statements, TMWA has adopted the provisions of Governmental 
Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 101, Compensated Absences, for the year ended 
June 30, 2025. Accordingly, a restatement has been made to the business-type activities for the year 
ended June 30, 2024. As a result of implementing the standard, there was no effect on beginning net 
position as of July 1, 2023. Our opinions are not modified with respect to this matter. 

 15



Change in Estimate 

As discussed in Note 16 to the financial statements, TMWA updated its measurement methodology over 
the calculation of the outstanding portion of bond proceeds that were not used for capital purposes in 
the net investment in capital assets net position calculation during the year ended June 30, 2025. Our 
opinions are not modified with respect to this matter. 

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the 
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions 
or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about TMWA’s ability to continue as 
a going concern for twelve months beyond the financial statement date, including any currently known 
information that may raise substantial doubt shortly thereafter. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes our opinions. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute 
assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS and 
Government Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of 
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, 
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, 
individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on 
the financial statements.  

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing Standards, we: 

• Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to

fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such
procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of TMWA’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is
expressed.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the
financial statements.

 16



• Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate,
that raise substantial doubt about TMWA’s ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable
period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, 
the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control–related 
matters that we identified during the audit. 

Required Supplementary Information 

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s 
discussion and analysis, the schedules of changes in net OPEB liability and related ratios, the schedules 
of OPEB contributions, the schedules of TMWA’s share of net pension liability, and the schedules of 
TMWA’s pension contributions be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such 
information is the responsibility of management and, although not a part of the basic financial 
statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an 
essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate 
operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required 
supplementary information in accordance with GAAS, which consisted of inquiries of management 
about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with 
management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we 
obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide 
any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient 
evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance. 

Supplementary Information 

Our audits were conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that 
collectively comprise TMWA’s basic financial statements. The schedule of revenues, expenses, and 
changes in net position – budget and actual, the combining statement of fiduciary net position, and the 
combining statement of changes in fiduciary net position are presented for purposes of additional 
analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial statements. Such information is the 
responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting 
and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. The information has been subjected to 
the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional 
procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting 
and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements 
themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with GAAS. In our opinion, the schedule of 
revenues, expenses, and changes in net position – budget and actual, the combining statement of 
fiduciary net position and the combining statement of changes in fiduciary net position are fairly stated, 
in all material respects, in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole.  

Other Information 

Management is responsible for the other information included in the annual report. The other 
information comprises the introductory section and statistical section but does not include the basic 
financial statements and our auditor's report thereon. Our opinions on the basic financial statements do 
not cover the other information, and we do not express an opinion or any form of assurance thereon. 

 17



In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and consider whether a material inconsistency exists between the other information and 
the basic financial statements, or the other information otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, 
based on the work performed, we conclude that an uncorrected material misstatement of the other 
information exists, we are required to describe it in our report. 

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated November 17, 
2025, on our consideration of TMWA’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its 
compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other 
matters. The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over 
financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the 
effectiveness of TMWA’s internal control over financial reporting or on compliance.  That report is an 
integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering 
TMWA’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance. 

Reno, Nevada 
November 17, 2025 

 18



MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

This section of TMWA's Annual Comprehensive Financial Report presents management's 
discussion and analysis (MD&A) of TMWA's financial performance during the fiscal years 
ended June 30, 2025, June 30, 2024, and June 30, 2023. This section should be read in 
conjunction with the transmittal letter at the front of this report and TMWA's financial statements 
following this section. 

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

TMWA’s Net Position  
(in millions)

Restated
June 30, 2025 June 30, 2024 June 30, 2023

Unrestricted Current Assets $ 120.7 $ 117.3 $ 170.2 
Restricted Current Assets  36.5  69.6  28.7 
Long-Term Restricted and Other Assets  36.2  33.5  30.5 
Capital Assets, Net  1,186.4  1,132.9  1,083.9 

Total Assets  1,379.8  1,353.3  1,313.3 

Deferred Outflow of Resources  26.3  23.1  25.5 

Total Assets & Deferred Outflow of Resources  1,406.1  1,376.4  1,338.8 

Total Current Liabilities  49.8  60.9  50.6 
Long Term Debt Outstanding  289.2  309.9  334.0 
Net Pension Liability  60.8  60.3  57.3 
Net Other Postemployment Benefits Liability  0.5  0.6  0.7 
Long Term Compensated Absences  4.3  3.5  3.1 

Total Liabilities  404.6  435.2  445.7 

Deferred Inflow of Resources  11.3  5.9  2.6 

Net Investment in Capital Assets  883.4  853.1  749.2 
Restricted  50.1  45.6  43.7 
Unrestricted  56.7  36.6  97.6 

Total Net Position $ 990.2 $ 935.3 $ 890.5 

TMWA adopted GASB Statement No. 101, Compensated Absences, in the fiscal year ended June 
30, 2025. The implementation of this standard requires that liabilities for compensated absences 
be recognized for leave that has not been used and for leave that has been used but not yet paid in 
cash or settled through noncash means. In accordance with GASB Statement No. 100, 
Accounting Changes and Error Corrections, the adoption of this standard is reported as a change 
in accounting principle. As a result, previously reported amounts for the fiscal year ended June 
30, 2024 have been restated in all applicable tables throughout the MD&A. However, TMWA 
did not restate amounts for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023 for GASB Statement No. 101, so 

Table of Contents

     19



balances reported in the MD&A for that year are not comparable. See Note 15 to the financial 
statements for additional information.

Financial Position

Fiscal Year 2025 Summary

In the fiscal year ended June 30, 2025, total net position increased by approximately $54.9 
million, the result of operating income and capital contributions offset by nonoperating expenses.

Unrestricted current assets increased by $3.4 million from June 30, 2024. Unrestricted cash and 
investments increased $4.1 million with cash from operating activities of $40.1 million and 
unrestricted nonoperating contributions of $22.6 million, offset by cash used for debt service of  
$31.7 million and acquisition and construction of capital assets of $72.1 million. See the 
Statement of Cash Flows for additional information.

Restricted current assets decreased $33.1 million from June 30, 2024, primarily due to the use of 
$31.7 million of restricted proceeds from the Series 2024 Water Revenue Bonds for capital asset 
acquisition. 

Long-term restricted and other assets increased $2.7 million from June 30, 2024. Restricted 
funds for the Operations & Maintenance Reserve increased $1.2 million due to an increase in the 
budget for operating expenses from the prior year. The net other postemployment benefits 
(OPEB) asset increased by $1.4 million as result of the actuarial analysis and a higher return on 
investments held within the two OPEB trusts. See Note 12 to the financial statements for 
additional information on TMWA's OPEB plans.

Most of TMWA’s net position is in capital assets. Capital assets, net of accumulated 
depreciation, increased by $53.5 million in fiscal year 2025 as increases in capital assets from 
capital expenditures and contributions were greater than depreciation expense and disposals. 
Assets built by developers and contributed to TMWA were $19.6 million. These assets are built 
to TMWA's standards and specifications. Depreciation expense was $36.7 million.

Total current liabilities decreased $11.1 million from June 30, 2024. This was primarily due to a 
decrease of $8.3 million in construction contract and retention payables, which mostly related to 
the reduction of a deposit from a water resource exchange agreement for an effluent pipeline to 
TRIGID. 

Long term debt decreased $20.7 million, primarily due to principal payments on debt of $18.0 
million and amortization of bond premiums of $4.4 million. During the year, TMWA fully 
repaid its 2005  and 2014 DWSRF bonds, as both reached their respective maturity dates in 
January 2025. See Note 7 to the financial statements for additional information on TMWA's 
outstanding debt.
 
Net pension liability increased by $0.5 million as a result of an actuarial analysis performed for 
the Public Employees' Retirement System of the State of Nevada (PERS).  See Note 11 to the 
financial statements for additional information on pensions.

Table of Contents

     20



Fiscal Year 2024 Summary - Restated

In the fiscal year ended June 30, 2024, total net position increased by approximately $44.8 
million, the result of operating income and capital contributions offset by nonoperating expenses.

Unrestricted current assets decreased by $52.9 million from June 30, 2023. Unrestricted cash and 
investments decreased $62.0 million with cash from operating activities of $35.7 million and 
unrestricted nonoperating contributions of $29.3 million, offset by cash used for debt service of  
$30.6 million and acquisition and construction of capital assets of $71.9 million. See the 
Statement of Cash Flows for additional information.

Restricted current assets increased $40.9 million from June 30, 2023, mainly due to the addition 
of $42.6 million of restricted proceeds from the Series 2024 Water Revenue Bonds. This increase 
was slightly offset by a $1.7 million reduction in restricted funds of the Water Resource 
Sustainability Program.

Long-term restricted and other assets increased $3.1 million from June 30, 2023. Restricted 
funds for the Operations & Maintenance Reserve increased $1.4 million due to an increase in the 
budget for operating expenses from the prior year. Net other postemployment benefits (OPEB) 
asset increased by $1.6 million as result of the actuarial analysis and a higher return on 
investments held within the two OPEB trusts. See Note 12 to the financial statements for 
additional information on TMWA's OPEB plans.

Most of TMWA’s net position is in capital assets. Capital assets, net of accumulated 
depreciation, increased by $49.0 million in fiscal year 2024 as increases in capital assets from 
capital expenditures and contributions were greater than depreciation expense and disposals. 
Assets built by developers and contributed to TMWA were $10.0 million. These assets are built 
to TMWA's standards and specifications. Depreciation expense was $36.5 million.

Total current liabilities increased $10.3 million from June 30, 2023. This was primarily due to an 
increase of $7.2 million in construction contract and retention payables, which are affected by 
the size and timing of active projects. This was also due to an increase of $0.9 million in the 
current portion of compensated absences after the June 30, 2024 balance was restated following 
the adoption of GASB Statement No. 101, Compensated Absences. 

Long term debt decreased $24.1 million, due to principal payments on debt of $87.0 million and 
amortization of bond premiums of $11.7 million. During the year, TMWA paid off $11.5 million 
and $58.3 million of outstanding senior lien 2015 Series and 2016 Series bonds, respectively. 
Also during the year, TMWA issued $61.5 million of new senior lien bonds, the Series 2024 
Water Revenue Bonds. See Note 7 to the financial statements for additional information on 
TMWA's outstanding debt.

Net pension liability increased by $3.0 million as a result of an actuarial analysis performed for 
the Public Employees' Retirement System of the State of Nevada (PERS).  See Note 11 to the 
financial statements for additional information on pensions.

Table of Contents

     21



TMWA’s Changes in Net Position 
(in millions)

Restated
June 30, 2025 June 30, 2024 June 30, 2023

Operating Revenues $ 132.3 $ 122.4 $ 113.1 
Operating Expenses  129.4  122.3  114.4 
Operating Income (Loss)  2.9  0.1  (1.3) 

Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses)  (1.0)  (5.3)  (10.8) 

Income (Loss) before Capital Contributions  1.9  (5.2)  (12.1) 
Net Capital Contributions  53.0  50.0  42.3 

Change in Net Position  54.9  44.8  30.2 
Net Position, Beginning of Year  935.3  890.5  860.3 

Net Position, End of Year $ 990.2 $ 935.3 $ 890.5 

TMWA’s Revenues
(in millions)

June 30, 2025 June 30, 2024 June 30, 2023
Revenues

Operating Revenues
Water Sales $ 124.0 $ 114.0 $ 107.1 
Hydroelectric Sales  4.2  4.2  2.9 
Other Operating Sales  4.1  4.2  3.1 

 132.3  122.4  113.1 
Nonoperating Revenues

Investment Earnings  6.0  1.8  3.6 
Other Nonoperating Revenues  3.1  7.1  — 

 9.1  8.9  3.6 

Net Capital Contributions  53.0  50.0  42.3 

Total Revenues $ 194.4 $ 181.3 $ 159.0 

The table above and the graphs that follow represent the makeup of TMWA's total revenues for 
fiscal years ended June 30, 2025, 2024, and 2023. 

Table of Contents

     22



Total Revenues for the Year Ended June 30, 2025 

64%

2%

2%

27%

5%

Water Sales Hydroelectric Sales
Other Operating Sales Capital Contributions
Investment Earnings & Other

Total Revenues for the Year Ended June 30, 2024 

63%

2%

2%

28%

5%

Water Sales Hydroelectric Sales
Other Operating Sales Capital Contributions
Investment Earnings & Other

Table of Contents

     23



Total Revenues for the Year Ended June 30, 2023 

67%2%

2%

27%

2%

Water Sales Hydroelectric Sales
Other Operating Sales Capital Contributions
Investment Earnings & Other

Results of Operations-Revenues

Fiscal Year 2025 Summary

Total operating revenues in fiscal year 2025 increased $9.9 million from fiscal year 2024. Water 
sales were $124.0 million, $10.0 million or 8.8% higher than in fiscal year 2024. Water sales 
were higher year over year from increased consumption primarily due to warmer, drier weather 
and lower precipitation than in the prior year. Hydroelectric sales remained steady at $4.2 million 
in fiscal year 2025, consistent with fiscal year 2024. This stability was primarily due to strong 
river flows and less maintenance downtime throughout the fiscal year 2025. Other operating 
sales were $0.1 million or 2.4% lower than the prior fiscal year due to a slight decrease in 
construction water, customer late fees, and miscellaneous income.

Fiscal year 2025 investment earnings were $6.0 million, an increase of $4.2 million from fiscal 
year 2024 due to higher invested rates during the year. Other nonoperating revenues decreased 
$4.0 million, due to a smaller net increase in the fair value of investments compared to the prior 
fiscal year.

Capital contributions in fiscal year 2025 increased $3.0 million from fiscal year 2024. The 
increase was primarily driven by higher developer infrastructure and will-serve contributions, 
offset by a decrease in grant revenue. Developer infrastructure contributions were $9.6  million 
higher than in fiscal year 2024 due to increased construction activity and the completion of more 
projects dedicated to TMWA. Developer will-serve contributions were $5.7 million higher than 
in fiscal year 2024, primarily due to the recognition of $9.0 million from a water resource 
exchange agreement related to an effluent pipeline to TRIGID. Although payment was received 
in fiscal year 2021, revenue recognition was deferred until fiscal year 2025, when effluent 
delivery via the pipeline commenced. Grant revenue was $8.2 million lower than in fiscal year 

Table of Contents

     24



2024, primarily due to the recognition of American Rescue Plan Act funding for the Advanced 
Meter Infrastructure project in the prior year.

Fiscal Year 2024 Summary

Total operating revenues in fiscal year 2024 increased $9.3 million from fiscal year 2023. Water 
sales were $114.0 million, $6.9 million or 6.4% higher than in fiscal year 2023. Water sales were 
higher year over year from increased consumption primarily due to warmer, drier weather and 
lower precipitation in the spring of 2024. Hydroelectric sales were $1.3 million or 44.8% higher 
than fiscal year 2023 as all three plants were online the entirety of fiscal year 2024, allowing for 
optimization of river flows. Other operating sales were $1.1 million or 35.5% higher than the 
prior year due to increased revenues from construction water, engineering inspection fees, and 
water resource lease activity. 

Fiscal year 2024 investment earnings were $1.8 million, a decrease of $1.8 million from fiscal 
year 2023 due to losses resulting from liquidation of investments required for the defeasance of 
portions of the outstanding Series 2015 and 2016 senior lien bonds. Proceeds from the senior lien 
Series 2024 Water Revenue Bonds were reinvested, at higher rates which will result in a 
recovery of the losses related to the liquidations. Other nonoperating revenues increased $8.8 
million due to a net increase in fair value of investments compared to a net loss in the prior year.

Capital contributions in fiscal year 2024 increased $7.7 million from fiscal year 2023. The main 
driver of the increase was grant revenue, offset by a decrease in developer infrastructure 
contributions. Grants increased primarily due to a $9.5 million award from the Nevada 
Department of Conservation and Natural Resources for the Advanced Meter Infrastructure 
project. The reduction in developer infrastructure contributions is due to a decrease of $6.3 
million in mains and $1.3 million in water storage, based on larger projects placed into service in 
the prior year. 

TMWA’s Expenses
(in millions)

Restated
June 30, 2025 June 30, 2024 June 30, 2023

Expenses
Operating Expenses

Salaries & Wages $ 35.2 $ 31.9 $ 27.3 
Employee Benefits  16.4  16.3  13.9 
Services & Supplies  41.1  37.6  38.3 
Depreciation  36.7  36.5  34.9 

 129.4  122.3  114.4 
Nonoperating Expenses

Interest Expense  8.9  10.2  11.5 
Other Nonoperating Expenses  1.2  4.0  2.9 

 10.1  14.2  14.4 

Total Expenses $ 139.5 $ 136.5 $ 128.8 

Table of Contents

     25



The table above and the graphs that follow represent the makeup of total operating and non-
operating expenses for the years ended June 30, 2025, 2024, and 2023. 

Total Expenses for the Year Ended June 30, 2025 

25%

12%

29%

26%

6%

1%

Salaries & Wages Employee Benefits Services & Supplies
Depreciation Interest Expense Other Nonoperating 

Total Expenses for the Year Ended June 30, 2024 

23%

12%

28%

27%

7%

3%

Salaries & Wages Employee Benefits Services & Supplies
Depreciation Interest Expense Other Nonoperating 

Table of Contents

     26



Total Expenses for the Year Ended June 30, 2023 

21%

11%

30%

27%

9%

2%

Salaries & Wages Employee Benefits Services & Supplies
Depreciation Interest Expense Other Nonoperating 

Results of Operations-Expenses

Fiscal Year 2025 Summary

Fiscal year 2025 operating expenses were $129.4 million, $7.1 million or 5.8% higher than in 
fiscal year 2024. Spending on salaries and wages was $3.3 million or 10.3% higher, due to Labor 
Market Index wage increases, step increases, and additions in headcount during the fiscal year. 
Employee benefits remained relatively consistent increasing only $0.1 million or 0.6% from 
prior fiscal year. Spending on services and supplies was $3.5 million or 9.3% higher than in 
fiscal year 2024 due to general price inflation and a $0.5 million net impairment loss related to 
TMWA's Old Washoe Well 4 facility. See Note 14 to the financial statements for additional 
information on the impairment loss.

Nonoperating expenses were $4.1 million lower compared to fiscal year 2024. Interest expense 
was $1.3 million lower due to the strategic defeasance of the Series 2015 and 2016 senior lien 
bonds in the prior fiscal year. Loss on disposal of assets, included in other nonoperating 
expenses, was $2.8 million lower due to the write off of lower cost capital projects compared to 
those written off in the prior fiscal year.

Fiscal Year 2024 Summary - Restated

Fiscal year 2024 operating expenses were $122.2 million, $7.9 million or 6.5% higher than fiscal 
year 2023. Spending on salaries and wages was $4.6 million or 14.4% higher, due to Labor 
Market Index wage increases, step increases, and additions in headcount during the fiscal year. 
$1.3 million of the increase was also from restating fiscal year 2024 activity for the adoption of  
GASB Statement No. 101, Compensated Absences, in fiscal year 2025. Employee benefits were 
$2.4 million or 17.3% higher than prior year due mainly to higher pension expense related to 

Table of Contents

     27



Nevada PERS.  Spending on services and supplies was $0.7 million or 1.8% less than prior year 
primarily due to a decrease in chemical costs.

Nonoperating expenses were $0.2 million lower compared to fiscal year 2023. Interest expense 
was $1.3 million lower than the prior year. A loss on disposal of assets totaling $3.5 million, 
included in other nonoperating expenses, resulted from writing off two capital projects during 
fiscal year 2024: Spring Creek 9 Well and the Human Resources/Payroll software 
implementation. 

CAPITAL ASSETS

At June 30, 2025, TMWA’s total capital assets were $1,847.8 million before accumulated 
depreciation of $661.4 million, for a net book value of $1,186.4 million. Included in the total 
capital assets reported on the Statement of Net Position was $107.9 million in construction work 
in progress. 

At June 30, 2024, TMWA’s total capital assets were $1,758.4 million before accumulated 
depreciation of $625.4 million, for a net book value of $1,132.9 million. Included in the total 
capital assets reported on the Statement of Net Position was $80.9 million in construction work 
in progress.

Detailed information about TMWA’s capital assets can be found in Note 5 to TMWA’s financial 
statements.

LONG-TERM DEBT

At June 30, 2025, TMWA had $305.5 million in total reported debt outstanding. This amount 
reflects $278.5 million in total outstanding principal indebtedness and $27.0 million net bond 
premium. Of the $278.5 million in total principal outstanding, $16.3 million was due within one 
year and is classified as short term indebtedness. 

Total outstanding principal indebtedness of $278.5 million as of June 30, 2025 reflects a 
decrease of $18.0 million or 6.1% from total outstanding principal of $296.5 million as of June 
30, 2024. Total outstanding principal indebtedness of $296.5 million as of June 30, 2024 reflects 
a decrease of $25.5 million or 7.9% from total outstanding principal of $322.0 million as of June 
30, 2023.

During fiscal year 2025, TMWA maintained credit ratings of AA+ outlook stable from Standard 
and Poor's, Aa2 outlook stable from Moody's, and AAA outlook stable from Fitch. 

Detailed information about TMWA's indebtedness can be found in Note 7 to TMWA's financial 
statements. 

CONTACTING TMWA'S FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT

This financial report was prepared for the benefit of the customers, bond investors, and the Board 
of Directors of the Truckee Meadows Water Authority. The Annual Comprehensive Financial 

Table of Contents

     28



Report was prepared to provide interested parties with a general overview of the Truckee 
Meadows Water Authority's accountability for the financial resources it manages. For questions 
or additional information, please contact the Truckee Meadows Water Authority's Finance 
Department at P.O. Box 30013, Reno, Nevada 89520-3013.

Table of Contents

     29



Restated
2025 2024

Assets
Current Assets

Cash and investments $ 94,386,117 $ 90,259,451 
Accounts receivable, net  18,202,270  17,923,944 
Due from others  376,406  370,872 
Due from other governments  3,584,653  4,493,149 
Interest receivable  657,647  998,317 
Prepaid assets and other assets  3,498,015  3,272,782 

 120,705,108  117,318,515 

Restricted Current Assets
Cash and investments

Water resource sustainability program  3,563,830  4,342,845 
Current bond debt service  22,048,782  22,618,348 
Restricted bond proceeds  10,899,968  42,630,130 

 36,512,580  69,591,323 

Total current assets  157,217,688  186,909,838 

Restricted Noncurrent Assets
Cash and investments

Future bond debt service  2,654,756  2,530,900 
Operations and maintenance  16,165,699  14,924,959 
Renewal and replacement  10,000,000  10,000,000 
Water rate stabilization  500,000  500,000 

Net other postemployment benefits  6,024,281  4,659,659 

 35,344,736  32,615,518 

Noncurrent Assets
Capital assets, not depreciated  254,590,698  222,906,323 
Capital assets, depreciated  931,822,905  910,025,390 
Other noncurrent assets  821,186  906,079 

 1,187,234,789  1,133,837,792 

Total noncurrent assets  1,222,579,525  1,166,453,310 

Total assets  1,379,797,213  1,353,363,148 

Deferred Outflow of Resources
Bond refundings  799,765  923,656 
Net pension liability  24,901,224  21,543,485 
Net other postemployment benefits  614,028  621,210 

Total deferred outflow of resources  26,315,017  23,088,351 

Total Assets and Deferred Outflow of Resources $ 1,406,112,230 $ 1,376,451,499 

Table of Contents

Truckee Meadows Water Authority 
Statements of Net Position

June 30, 2025 and 2024

See Notes to Financial Statements     30



Restated
2025 2024

Liabilities
Current Liabilities Payable from Unrestricted Current Assets

Accounts payable $ 1,966,625 $ 3,238,505 
Contracts and retention payable  16,071,826  24,354,895 
Accrued liabilities  2,982,280  3,003,425 
Current portion of compensated absences  1,688,939  1,546,520 
Due to other governments  2,239,643  2,096,959 
Accrued interest payable  98,658  128,370 
Current portion of long-term debt  884,237  2,178,730 
Customer deposits and amounts due to developers  1,794,879  1,663,502 

 27,727,087  38,210,906 

Current Liabilities Payable from Restricted Current Assets
Current portion of long-term debt  15,415,000  15,780,000 
Accrued interest payable  6,633,782  6,838,348 

 22,048,782  22,618,348 

Total current liabilities  49,775,869  60,829,254 

Noncurrent Liabilities
Net pension liability  60,778,967  60,226,778 
Long-term debt, net of current portion  289,245,877  309,945,303 
Net other postemployment benefits liability  536,660  648,466 
Compensated absences, net of current portion  4,325,461  3,522,216 

Total noncurrent liabilities  354,886,965  374,342,763 

Total liabilities  404,662,834  435,172,017 

Deferred Inflow of Resources
Net pension liability  5,987,512  584,712 
Bond refundings  2,588,774  3,030,336 
Leases  299,085  344,438 
Other postemployment benefits  2,394,345  1,971,111 

Total deferred inflow of resources  11,269,716  5,930,597 

Total liabilities and deferred inflow of resources  415,932,550  441,102,614 

Net Position
Net investment in capital assets  883,414,142  853,064,335 
Restricted for water resource sustainability program  3,563,830  4,342,845 
Restricted for debt service  15,415,000  15,780,000 
Restricted for operations and maintenance reserve  14,613,579  10,324,959 
Restricted for renewal and replacement reserve  10,000,000  10,000,000 
Restricted for water rate stabilization  500,000  500,000 
Restricted for net other postemployment benefits  6,024,281  4,659,659 
Unrestricted  56,648,848  36,677,087 

Total net position  990,179,680  935,348,885 

Total Liabilities, Deferred Inflow of Resources and Net Position $ 1,406,112,230 $ 1,376,451,499 

Table of Contents

Truckee Meadows Water Authority 
Statements of Net Position

June 30, 2025 and 2024

See Notes to Financial Statements     31



Restated
2025 2024

Operating Revenues
Charges for water sales $ 123,985,263 $ 113,961,589 
Hydroelectric sales  4,184,797  4,193,494 
Other operating sales  4,134,516  4,220,374 

Total operating revenues  132,304,576  122,375,457 

Operating Expenses
Salaries and wages  35,300,194  31,902,280 
Employee benefits  16,375,475  16,283,832 
Services and supplies  41,158,180  37,552,454 

Total operating expenses before depreciation  92,833,849  85,738,566 

Depreciation  36,697,431  36,500,513 

Total operating expenses  129,531,280  122,239,079 

Operating Income  2,773,296  136,378 

Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses)
Investment earnings  5,962,196  1,761,755 
Net increase in fair value of investments  3,186,319  7,185,606 
Loss on disposal of assets  (1,223,332)  (3,544,836) 
Debt issuance costs  —  (499,000) 
Interest expense  (8,899,073)  (10,181,533) 

Total nonoperating revenues (expenses)  (973,890)  (5,278,008) 

Income (Loss) before Capital Contributions  1,799,406  (5,141,630) 

Capital Contributions
Grants  1,437,531  9,658,905 
Water resource sustainability program  441,344  1,097,584 
Developer infrastructure contributions  19,554,670  9,962,594 
Developer will-serve contributions  11,206,014  5,507,199 
Developer capital contributions  5,096,653  6,026,121 
Developer facility charges  11,639,329  12,874,933 
Contributions from others  113,360  73,095 
Contributions from other governments  3,542,488  4,800,936 

Net Capital Contributions  53,031,389  50,001,367 

Change in Net Position  54,830,795  44,859,737 

Net Position, Beginning of Year  935,348,885  890,489,148 

Net Position, End of Year $ 990,179,680 $ 935,348,885 

Table of Contents

Truckee Meadows Water Authority
Statements of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position

Years Ended June 30, 2025 and 2024

See Notes to Financial Statements     32



Restated
2025 2024

Operating Activities
Cash received from customers $ 132,108,142 $ 117,952,789 
Cash paid to employees  (49,197,203)  (43,244,824) 
Cash paid to suppliers  (42,826,366)  (39,053,531) 

Net Cash from Operating Activities  40,084,573  35,654,434 

Capital and Related Financing Activities
Cash received on lease receivables  41,836  41,212 
Cash received for interest on lease receivables  10,148  10,634 
Acquisition and construction of capital assets  (72,091,202)  (71,926,361) 
Interest paid on financing  (13,785,453)  (13,359,181) 
Principal paid on financing  (17,958,730)  (17,200,578) 
Proceeds from capital debt issuance  —  75,296,745 
Proceeds transferred to defeasance escrow  —  (74,997,328) 
Proceeds from capital asset disposal  453,112  15,914 
Grants  3,143,365  8,155,623 
Contributions for water resource sustainability program  441,344  1,097,584 
Contributions from developers-will-serve letters  2,227,814  5,507,199 
Contributions from developers-capital  5,096,653  6,026,121 
Contributions from developers-facility charges  11,639,329  12,874,933 
Contributions from others  113,360  73,095 
Contributions from other governments  3,542,488  4,800,936 
Debt issuance costs  —  (352,695) 

Net Cash used for Capital and Related Financing Activities  (77,125,936)  (63,936,147) 

Investing Activities
Amounts received on water service loans  40,602  165,681 
Proceeds from the sale and maturity of investment securities  174,656,106  318,149,954 
Purchase of investment securities  (148,503,829)  (283,606,736) 
Investment interest/earnings  6,107,849  4,681,066 

Net Cash from Investing Activities  32,300,728  39,389,965 

Net Change in Cash and Cash Equivalents  (4,740,635)  11,108,252 

Cash and Cash Equivalents, Beginning of Year  20,186,452  9,078,200 

Cash and Cash Equivalents, End of Year $ 15,445,817 $ 20,186,452 

Reconciliation of Amounts Reported on the Statement of Net Position to 
Cash and Cash Equivalents

Reported on the Statement of Net Position:
Cash and investments $ 94,386,117 $ 90,259,451 
Restricted current cash and investments  36,512,580  69,591,323 
Restricted noncurrent cash and investments  29,320,455  27,955,859 

Total Cash and Investments  160,219,152  187,806,633 

Investments not meeting the definition of cash and cash equivalents  (144,773,335)  (167,620,181) 

Total Cash and Cash Equivalents $ 15,445,817 $ 20,186,452 

Table of Contents

Truckee Meadows Water Authority
Statements of Cash Flows 

Years Ended June 30, 2025 and 2024

See Notes to Financial Statements     33



Restated
2025 2024

Reconciliation of Operating Income to Net Cash
from Operating Activities

Operating income $ 2,773,296 $ 136,378 
Adjustments to reconcile operating income

to net cash from operating activities 
Depreciation  36,697,431  36,500,513 
OPEB expense  (974,346)  (950,397) 
OPEB contributions  (71,666)  (36,421) 
Pension expense  7,906,175  8,796,799 
Pension contributions  (5,308,925)  (4,837,476) 
Impairment loss, net  485,238  — 

Changes in assets and liabilities
Accounts receivable, net  (322,277)  (4,528,282) 
Due from others  (5,534)  (3,200) 
Due from other governments  (797,338)  (2,179,732) 
Prepaid assets and other assets  (224,181)  (685,077) 
Accounts payable  (1,271,880)  773,176 
Accrued liabilities  (21,145)  617,671 
Compensated absences  945,664  1,357,216 
Due to other governments  142,684  584,452 
Customer deposits and amounts due to developers  131,377  108,814 

Total adjustments  37,311,277  35,518,056 

Net Cash from Operating Activities $ 40,084,573 $ 35,654,434 

Non-Cash Capital and Related Financing Activities
Amortization of net bond premium $ (4,400,188) $ (4,226,114) 
Amortization of refunding allowances to interest expense  (251,913)  17,303 
Developer infrastructure contributions  19,554,670  9,962,594 
Change in contracts and retention payable  695,131  7,221,887 

Table of Contents

Truckee Meadows Water Authority
Statements of Cash Flows 

Years Ended June 30, 2025 and 2024

See Notes to Financial Statements     34



2024 2023
Assets

Cash $ 233,331 $ 196,967 
Receivables from plan members  13,287  12,283 
Investments, at fair value  18,876,587  17,121,455 

Total assets  19,123,205  17,330,705 

Liabilities
Accounts payable 163,671 115,799

Net Position Restricted for Postemployment Benefits 
Other than Pensions $ 18,959,534 $ 17,214,906 

Table of Contents

Truckee Meadows Water Authority
Statements of Fiduciary Net Position - Other Postemployment Benefit Trust Funds

December 31, 2024 and 2023 

See Notes to Financial Statements     35



2024 2023
Additions

Net investment income $ 2,160,132 $ 2,685,899 
Employer contributions  54,044  33,596 

Total additions  2,214,176  2,719,495 

Deductions
Benefit payments  410,424  407,245 
Administrative expenses 59,124 41,435

Total deductions 469,548 448,680

Change in Net Position  1,744,628  2,270,815 

Net Position Restricted for Postemployment Benefits 
Other than Pensions

Beginning of Year  17,214,906  14,944,091 

End of Year $ 18,959,534 $ 17,214,906 

Table of Contents

Truckee Meadows Water Authority
Statements of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position - Other Postemployment Benefit Trust Funds

Years Ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 

See Notes to Financial Statements     36



Note 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The financial statements of the Truckee Meadows Water Authority (TMWA) have been prepared in conformity 
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAP) as applied to 
governmental entities. A summary of the more significant accounting policies applied in the preparation of the 
accompanying basic financial statements follows.

Reporting Entity and Purpose

TMWA is a Joint Powers Authority (JPA) formed in November 2000 under the Joint Powers Legislation of the 
State of Nevada, pursuant to a Cooperative Agreement among the City of Reno, Nevada, the City of Sparks, 
Nevada, and Washoe County, Nevada. TMWA was formed to purchase water assets (the Water System), 
undertake the water utility operations, and develop, manage, and maintain supplies of water for the benefit of the 
Truckee Meadows communities. TMWA purchased the existing water system originally operated by Sierra 
Pacific Power Company (SPPCo), now known as NV Energy, Inc.

TMWA is governed by a seven-member Board of Directors (Board) appointed by:

• Reno City Council (3 seats)
• Sparks City Council (2 seats)
• Washoe County Commissioners (2 seats)

The cities and county representatives are not required to be elected officials. Modifications to the JPA were 
approved by the governing bodies in December 2009 which changed the at-large seat into a second seat for 
Washoe County. The amendments to the JPA were approved by the Attorney General’s Office of the State of 
Nevada (State) effective February 3, 2010. The amendments were made in anticipation of the consolidation of 
TMWA and Washoe County’s Community Services Department’s water utility (WCWU) and the merger of 
another water utility named South Truckee Meadows General Improvement District (STMGID). The transfer of 
operations of WCWU and the merger of STMGID occurred on January 1, 2015 with TMWA as the continuing 
entity.

Basis of Accounting

TMWA’s activities are accounted for as an enterprise fund (proprietary fund type). A fund is an accounting entity 
with a self-balancing set of accounts established to record the financial position and results of operations of the 
governmental entity. Activities of enterprise funds resemble activities of business enterprises; the purpose is to 
obtain and use economic resources to meet its operating objectives. TMWA's financial statements are reported 
using the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting. Under this method, 
revenues are recognized at the time they are earned, and expenses are recognized when the related liabilities are 
incurred.

A proprietary fund distinguishes operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating items. Operating revenues 
and expenses generally result from an exchange transaction such as providing services and producing and 
delivering goods in connection with a proprietary fund’s principal ongoing operations. Nonoperating revenues and 
nonoperating expenses result from nonexchange transactions or ancillary services.

TMWA applies all applicable Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) pronouncements in accounting 
and reporting for proprietary activities. 

 Table of Contents

Truckee Meadows Water Authority
Notes to Financial Statements

June 30, 2025 and 2024

37



In accordance with GASB Statement No. 84, TMWA reports its two Other Postemployment Benefit (OPEB) 
Plans as fiduciary funds. The OPEB Plans, which have a December 31 year-end, do not present the results of 
operations of TMWA or have a measurement focus. They are therefore not consolidated in TMWA's Statements 
of Net Position or Statements of Revenue, Expenses and Changes in Net Position. 

Budgets and Budgetary Accounting

TMWA adheres to the Local Government Budget and Finance Act (Act) incorporated within the Statutes of the 
State of Nevada. The Act and TMWA policy include the following major procedures to establish budgetary data: 

• On or before April 15, TMWA's General Manager submits to the Board a tentative budget for the fiscal year 
commencing the following July 1.

• Public hearings on the tentative budget are held in May.
• Prior to June 1, at the public hearing, the Board indicates changes, if any, to be made to the tentative budget 

and adopts a final budget by the favorable vote of a majority of the members of the Board. The final budget 
must then be forwarded to the Nevada Department of Taxation for final approval.

• Any revisions that alter total appropriations must be approved in advance by the Board. Formal budgetary 
integration is employed as a management control device during the year.

• Budgets are adopted on a basis consistent with GAAP. Appropriations lapse at year-end.
• In accordance with State statute, actual expenses may not exceed the sum of operating and nonoperating 

appropriations. 

Cash and Investments

Cash balances are, to the extent practical, invested as permitted by law. Monies that are not required for 
immediate obligations are invested.

Investments authorized by State statutes and TMWA's bond resolutions include, but are not limited to, U.S. 
Treasury instruments, U.S. government agency securities, agency issued mortgage backed securities (FNMA, 
FHLMC, GNMA), corporate notes meeting certain rating standards, money market mutual funds meeting certain 
criteria, certificates of deposit, repurchase agreements, commercial paper meeting certain standards, bankers 
acceptances, long-term forward sale contracts and guaranteed investment contracts meeting certain rating 
standards, the State’s Local Government Investment Pools (LGIP), medium-term obligations of municipal issuers 
in the State that meet certain rating standards, and asset backed securities that meet certain rating standards. 
Investments are reported at fair value, including the investment with LGIP which is the same as TMWA's 
proportionate share of the pool's fair value.

The OPEB Plans' net earnings from the State of Nevada Retirement Benefit Investment Fund (RBIF), an external 
investment pool, are based on the Plans' original investment plus a monthly allocation of investment income 
(loss), including realized and unrealized gains and losses, which is the same as the value of the pool shares.

Restricted cash and investments are monies that are restricted by legal or contractual requirements.

Cash Equivalents

Cash equivalents include short-term highly liquid investments (3 months or less at time of purchase) that are both 
readily convertible to known amounts of cash and so near their maturity that they present insignificant risk of 
changes of value.

 Table of Contents

Truckee Meadows Water Authority
Notes to Financial Statements

June 30, 2025 and 2024

38



Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable is comprised of amounts due from TMWA's customers, net of an allowance for uncollectible 
accounts. Amounts due from TMWA’s customers are comprised of amounts billed and an estimate of amounts 
earned but unbilled for water deliveries prior to fiscal year-end. 

Restricted Assets

Certain proceeds of TMWA's water revenue bonds, as well as certain resources set aside for their repayment, are 
classified as restricted assets on the Statements of Net Position because their use is limited by applicable bond 
covenants as follows:

• Current bond debt service - used to segregate resources accumulated for debt service payments over the 
next twelve months.

• Future bond debt service - used to report resources set aside to make up potential future deficiencies in the 
current bond debt service.

• Operations and maintenance - used to report resources set aside to subsidize potential deficiencies from 
TMWA's operation that could adversely affect debt service payments.

• Renewal and replacement - used to report resources set aside to subsidize potential deficiencies in cash flow 
for replacement of water facilities.

• Water rate stabilization - used to report resources set aside to stabilize customer rates if significant water 
revenue fluctuations occur.

Unspent bond proceeds are classified as restricted assets and are only used for capital expenditures. Certain assets 
of TMWA are also classified as restricted assets on the Statements of Net Position because they were derived 
from contributions from developers to fund the water resource sustainability program adopted under Title II of 
Public Law 101-618. Other assets of TMWA are classified as restricted assets on the Statements of Net Position 
because they are set aside to provide other postemployment benefits per the §501(c)(9) Plan.

Prepaid Items

Certain payments to vendors reflect costs applicable to future accounting periods and are recorded as prepaid 
items. Prepaid items have been classified as current.

Capital Assets

All purchased property, plant, and equipment is stated at cost. TMWA capitalizes all assets with a cost of at least 
$5,000 and a useful life greater than one year. The cost of maintenance and repairs that do not increase productive 
capacity or materially extend the life of an asset are not capitalized. Developer contributed capital assets are 
recorded at acquisition value in the year of contribution to TMWA.

 Table of Contents

Truckee Meadows Water Authority
Notes to Financial Statements

June 30, 2025 and 2024

39



Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the assets' estimated useful lives (in years) as 
follows:

Years Years

Distribution mains 10-75 Canals 25-70
Plants 5-80 Reservoirs 10-80
Services 10-60 Vehicles 7-10
Pump stations 10-80 Furniture and fixtures 7
Tanks 10-75 Computer hardware and software 7-30
Wells 7-60 Equipment 5-30
Pressure reducing stations 10-60 Administration buildings 5-50
Hydroelectric facilities 10-100

Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources

In addition to assets, the Statements of Net Position report a separate section for deferred outflows of resources. 
This separate financial statement element represents a consumption of net assets that applies to future periods and 
will not be recognized as an outflow of resources (expense) until then. TMWA’s deferred outflows of resources 
include its deferred charge on refunding which results from the difference in the carrying value of refunded debt 
and its acquisition price. This amount is deferred and amortized over the shorter of the life of the refunded or 
refunding debt. In addition, TMWA has deferred outflows of resources related to pensions and other 
postemployment benefits.

In addition to liabilities, the Statements of Net Position report a separate section for deferred inflows of resources. 
This separate financial statement element represents an acquisition of net assets that applies to future periods and 
will not be recognized as an inflow of resources (revenue) until that time. TMWA has deferred inflows of 
resources related to leases, bond refundings, pensions and other postemployment benefits.

Pensions

For purposes of measuring the net pension liability, deferred outflows and deferred inflows of resources, and 
pension expense, information about the fiduciary net position of the Public Employees’ Retirement System of the 
State of Nevada (PERS) Base Plan (Base Plan) and additions to/deductions from Base Plan’s fiduciary net 
position have been determined on the same basis as they are reported by the Base Plan. For this purpose, benefit 
payments (including refunds of employee contributions) are recognized when due and payable in accordance with 
the benefit terms. Investments are reported at fair value.

Other Postemployment Benefits 

For purposes of measuring TMWA's net OPEB liability (asset), deferred outflows and deferred inflows of 
resources, and OPEB expense, information about the fiduciary net position of TMWA's OPEB Plans and 
additions to/deductions from the fiduciary net position have been determined on the same basis as they are 
reported by TMWA's OPEB Plans. For this purpose, TMWA recognizes benefit payments when due and payable 
in accordance with the benefit terms. Investments are reported at fair value.

Compensated Absences

Employees are permitted to accumulate earned but unused vacation and sick pay benefits. The liability for 
compensated absences is recognized for leave that has not been used as well as for leave that has been used but 
not yet paid in cash or settled through noncash means, to the extent it is likely TMWA will ultimately pay those 

 Table of Contents

Truckee Meadows Water Authority
Notes to Financial Statements

June 30, 2025 and 2024

40



benefits. The liability is included in current and noncurrent liabilities in the accompanying Statements of Net 
Position.

Long-Term Debt

Long-term debt is reported at face value, net of any premium or discounts, in the Statements of Net Position. 
Premiums and discounts are amortized using the effective interest method over the life of the related debt. Debt 
issuance costs are expensed in the period incurred.

Classification of Revenues

Operating revenues consist of water sales, hydroelectric sales, and miscellaneous fee income. Nonoperating 
revenues consist essentially of income derived from investments and reimbursement, if any, for nonoperating 
activities. Developer facility charges, will-serve contributions, and other contributions reflect payments primarily 
for water service. Developer infrastructure contributions are an estimation of the value of infrastructure built by 
developers and permanently dedicated to TMWA. Capital contributions also include grant revenue and 
contributions from others. 

Net Position

Net Position is displayed in three classifications:

• Net investment in capital assets - This component represents TMWA's net position in its capital assets. It 
reflects the cost of capital assets, less accumulated depreciation and less the outstanding principal of 
related debt, excluding unspent proceeds.

• Restricted - This component reflects the carrying value of assets, less related liabilities, that are restricted 
by law or by other externally imposed restrictions, such as bond covenants. Assets restricted only by 
TMWA or Board imposed limitations are not included in the calculation.

• Unrestricted - This component represents the remaining net position balance that is available to support 
TMWA's operations and capital asset acquisition/construction.

When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, it is TMWA’s policy to use unrestricted 
resources first, then restricted resources as required.

Use of Estimates in Preparing Financial Statements

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results 
could differ from those estimates. 

New Accounting Pronouncements

In June 2022, the GASB issued Statement No. 101, Compensated Absences, which is effective for fiscal years 
beginning after December 15, 2023. The primary objective of this Statement is to create a more consistent model 
of accounting for compensated absences that can be applied to all types of compensated absence arrangements. 
This Statement requires governments to apply specific criteria in determining the liability to record in their 
statements of net position. TMWA adopted this GASB in the fiscal year ended June 30, 2025. See Note 15 to the 
financial statements for additional information on the impact of adoption.  

 Table of Contents

Truckee Meadows Water Authority
Notes to Financial Statements

June 30, 2025 and 2024

41



In December 2023, the GASB issued Statement No. 102, Certain Risk Disclosures, which is effective for fiscal 
years beginning after June 15, 2024. The primary objective of this Statement is to provide users of government 
financial statements with essential information about risks related to a government's vulnerabilities due to certain 
concentrations or constraints. The adoption of this GASB in the fiscal year ended June 30, 2025 did not have an 
impact on TMWA's financial statements.

In April 2024, the GASB issued Statement No. 103, Financial Reporting Model Improvements, which is effective 
for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2025. The primary objective of this Statement is to improve key 
components of the financial reporting model to enhance its effectiveness in providing information that is essential 
for decision making and assessing a government's accountability. TMWA is currently evaluating the effect the 
adoption of this GASB will have on its financial statements in the fiscal year ended June 30, 2026. 

In September 2024, the GASB issued Statement No. 104, Disclosure of Certain Capital Assets, which is effective 
for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2025. The primary objective of this Statement is to provide users of 
government financial statements with essential information about certain types of capital assets in order to make 
informed decisions and assess accountability. Additionally, the disclosure requirements will improve consistency 
and comparability between governments. TMWA is currently evaluating the effect the adoption of this GASB will 
have on its financial statements in the fiscal year ended June 30, 2026.  

Note 2 - Compliance with Nevada Revised Statutes and the Nevada Administrative Code

TMWA conformed to all significant statutory constraints on its financial administration during the year.
 

Note 3 - Accounts Receivable, Net

Accounts receivable, net consisted of the following:
June 30, 2025 June 30, 2024

Billed amounts $ 7,724,212 $ 8,200,934 
Earned, but unbilled amounts  10,690,505  9,974,422 

 18,414,717  18,175,356 
Allowance for uncollectible accounts  (212,447)  (251,412) 

Accounts receivable, net $ 18,202,270 $ 17,923,944 

Note 4 - Cash and Investments

In accordance with State statutes, TMWA's cash is deposited with insured banks. All money deposited by TMWA 
that is not within the limits of insurance must be secured by collateral. TMWA's deposits are collateralized by the 
Office of the State Treasurer/Nevada Collateral Pool. 

The OPEB Plans' bank balances are covered by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation. Under the Plans' 
investment policies, the Plans' assets are limited to investments in the State of Nevada RBIF, and any investment 
authorized pursuant to Nevada Revised Statute (NRS) 355.170. The Plans invest their assets in the RBIF as 
allowed by the NRS 287.017 and the Nevada Administrative Code. The RBIF was established pursuant to NRS 
355.220 and is administered by the Retirement Benefits Investment Board as an unrated external investment pool. 
The RBIF is not registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission as an investment company. Each 
participant acts as fiduciary for its particular share of the RBIF and is allocated earnings and expenses according 
to its proportional share in RBIF. Bank of New York, Mellon determines the fair value of the RBIF monthly.

 Table of Contents

Truckee Meadows Water Authority
Notes to Financial Statements

June 30, 2025 and 2024

42



As of June 30, 2025, TMWA had the following cash and investments maturities:

Less than 
1 Year 1 - 3 Years 4 - 5 Years Total

Investments
U.S. Treasuries $ 25,216,567 $ 15,494,094 $ 7,018,533 $ 47,729,194 
U.S. Agencies  17,491,243  15,973,976  10,913,991  44,379,210 
LGIP  2,654,756  —  —  2,654,756 
Money Market Mutual Funds  47,580,345  —  —  47,580,345 
Certificates of Deposit  —  1,964,447  —  1,964,447 
Corporate Notes  10,691,188  —  6,588,039  17,279,227 

Total Investments  103,634,099  33,432,517  24,520,563  161,587,179 

Total Cash  (1,368,027)  —  —  (1,368,027) 

Total Cash and Investments $ 102,266,072 $ 33,432,517 $ 24,520,563 $ 160,219,152 

As of June 30, 2024, TMWA had the following cash and investments maturities:

Less than 
1 Year 1 - 3 Years 4 - 5 Years Total

Investments
U.S. Treasuries $ 29,415,290 $ 26,597,138 $ — $ 56,012,428 
U.S. Agencies  19,611,289  32,427,693  —  52,038,982 
LGIP  2,530,900  —  —  2,530,900 
Money Market Mutual Funds  40,909,525  —  —  40,909,525 
Certificates of Deposit  6,961,734  687,278  750,099  8,399,111 
Corporate Notes  3,448,685  11,470,517  —  14,919,202 
Commercial Paper  2,294,031  —  —  2,294,031 

Total Investments  105,171,454  71,182,626  750,099  177,104,179 

Total Cash  10,702,454  —  —  10,702,454 

Total Cash and Investments $ 115,873,908 $ 71,182,626 $ 750,099 $ 187,806,633 

As of December 31, 2024, the OPEB Plans had the following cash and investments maturities:

Less than 
1 Year 1 - 3 Years 4 - 5 Years Total

§501(c)(9) Plan
Total Cash $ 186,896 $ — $ — $ 186,896 
Total Investments - RBIF  16,971,264  —  —  16,971,264 

Total Cash and Investments $ 17,158,160 $ — $ — $ 17,158,160 

§115 Plan
Total Cash $ 46,435 $ — $ — $ 46,435 
Total Investments - RBIF  1,905,323  —  —  1,905,323 

Total Cash and Investments $ 1,951,758 $ — $ — $ 1,951,758 

 Table of Contents

Truckee Meadows Water Authority
Notes to Financial Statements

June 30, 2025 and 2024

43



As of December 31, 2023, the OPEB Plans had the following cash and investments maturities:

Less than 
1 Year 1 - 3 Years 4 - 5 Years Total

§501(c)(9) Plan
Total Cash $ 170,310 $ — $ — $ 170,310 
Total Investments - RBIF  15,390,220  —  —  15,390,220 

Total Cash and Investments $ 15,560,530 $ — $ — $ 15,560,530 

§115 Plan
Total Cash $ 26,657 $ — $ — $ 26,657 
Total Investments - RBIF  1,731,235  —  —  1,731,235 

Total Cash and Investments $ 1,757,892 $ — $ — $ 1,757,892 

Nevada Revised Statutes (NRS 355.170) set forth acceptable investments for Nevada governments. On September 
20, 2017, the TMWA Board adopted an investment policy which extended TMWA's investment period from two 
years to five years. Nevada Revised Statutes and TMWA’s investment policy set portfolio component thresholds 
to further limit its exposure to certain risks as set forth below. 

Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk is the risk of possible reduction in the value of a security, especially a bond, resulting from a rise 
in interest rates. This risk can be mitigated by diversification of durations of fixed rate investments held in the 
investment portfolio. As a means of limiting TMWA’s exposure to this risk, TMWA constantly monitors the bond 
futures market and ladders investments accordingly to maximize investment returns while balancing the 
investment maturities with spending requirements. TMWA follows State statute limits of investment in 
obligations of an agency of the United States or a corporation sponsored by the United States government to those 
maturing within five years from the date of purchase.

Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk that an issuer or other counterparty to an investment will not fulfill its obligations and is a 
function of the credit quality ratings of investments. TMWA follows State statute for reducing exposure to 
investment credit risk by investing in U.S. Agencies securities; “AAA” rated money market mutual funds that 
invest in securities issued by the U.S. Government or agencies of the U.S. Government, and the State of Nevada 
Local Government Pooled Investment Fund (LGIP). TMWA has a debt reserve fund with LGIP, which is an 
unrated external investment pool with investment duration of 49.5 days at June 30, 2025, and  82 days at June 30, 
2024.

 Table of Contents

Truckee Meadows Water Authority
Notes to Financial Statements

June 30, 2025 and 2024

44



At June 30, 2025, using Standard & Poor's rating scale, TMWA's investments were rated as follows:

S&P Rating
U.S. 

Treasuries U.S. Agencies LGIP
Money Market 
Mutual Funds

Certificates of 
Deposit

Corporate 
Notes Total

AAA $ — $ — $ — $ 9,723,215 $ — $ — $ 9,723,215 

AA+  47,729,194  44,379,210  —  —  —  —  92,108,404 

A+  —  —  —  —  498,496  977,702  1,476,198 

A  —  —  —  —  —  8,011,373  8,011,373 

A-  —  —  —  —  —  3,773,028  3,773,028 

BBB+  —  —  —  —  —  4,517,124  4,517,124 

BBB-  —  —  —  —  240,628  —  240,628 

NA  —  —  2,654,756  37,857,130  1,225,323  —  41,737,209 

Total 
Investments $ 47,729,194 $ 44,379,210 $ 2,654,756 $ 47,580,345 $ 1,964,447 $ 17,279,227 $ 161,587,179 

At June 30, 2024, using Standard & Poor's rating scale, TMWA's investments were rated as follows:

S&P Rating
U.S. 

Treasuries U.S. Agencies LGIP
Money Market 
Mutual Funds

Certificates of 
Deposit

Corporate 
Notes

Corporate 
Commercial 

Paper Total

AAA $ — $ — $ — $ 6,307,264 $ — $ — $ — $ 6,307,264 

AA+  56,012,428  52,038,982  —  —  —  —  —  108,051,410 

AA  —  —  —  —  —  1,083,151  —  1,083,151 

AA-  —  —  —  —  —  560,185  —  560,185 

A+  —  —  —  —  250,049  933,783  —  1,183,832 

A  —  —  —  —  —  2,615,927  —  2,615,927 

A-  —  —  —  —  —  8,314,428  —  8,314,428 

A-1+  —  —  —  —  2,220,928  —  —  2,220,928 

A-1  —  —  —  —  4,492,958  —  2,294,031  6,786,989 

BBB+  —  —  —  —  —  1,411,728  —  1,411,728 

BBB-  —  —  —  —  477,546  —  —  477,546 

NA  —  —  2,530,900  34,602,261  957,630  —  —  38,090,791 

Total 
Investments $ 56,012,428 $ 52,038,982 $ 2,530,900 $ 40,909,525 $ 8,399,111 $ 14,919,202 $ 2,294,031 $ 177,104,179 

Concentration of Credit Risk

Concentration of credit risk is the risk of loss attributed to the magnitude of a government’s investment in a single 
issuer. Securities held by TMWA or by TMWA’s custodians are diversified to eliminate risk of loss from over-
concentration of assets in a specific maturity, issuer, or class of securities. 

 Table of Contents

Truckee Meadows Water Authority
Notes to Financial Statements

June 30, 2025 and 2024

45



At June 30, 2025 and 2024, the following investments by issuer exceeded 5% of TMWA’s total investments:

June 30, 2025

U.S. Treasuries $ 47,729,193  33 %
Federated Hermes Treasury Obligations  21,041,541  14 %
Federal Home Loan Bank  19,407,408  13 %
Federal Farm Credit Bank  14,523,929  10 %
First American Funds, Inc. - Government Obligations Fund  9,671,948  7 %

June 30, 2024

U.S. Treasuries $ 56,012,428  33 %
Federal Home Loan Banks  27,966,654  17 %
Federated Hermes Treasury Obligations  25,118,263  15 %
Federal National Mortgage Association  11,183,219  7 %

Investments Measured at Fair Value

TMWA categorizes its fair value measurements within the fair value hierarchy established by generally accepted 
accounting principles. The hierarchy is based on the valuation inputs used to measure the fair value of the asset. 
Level 1 inputs are quoted prices in active markets for identical assets; Level 2 inputs are significant other 
observable inputs; Level 3 inputs are significant unobservable inputs. TMWA does not have any investments that 
are measured using Level 3 inputs. 

TMWA had the following recurring fair value measurements as of June 30, 2025: 

Fair Value Measurements Using

Fair Value

Quoted Prices 
in Active 

Markets for 
Identical Assets 

(Level 1)

Significant
 Other

 Observable Inputs
 (Level 2)

Investments by fair value level
U.S. Treasuries $ 47,729,194 $ 47,729,194 $ — 
U.S. Agencies  44,379,210  —  44,379,210 
Certificates of Deposit  1,964,447  —  1,964,447 
Corporate Notes  17,279,227  —  17,279,227 

 111,352,078 $ 47,729,194 $ 63,622,884 

LGIP  2,654,756 
Money Market Mutual Funds*  47,580,345 

$ 161,587,179 

 Table of Contents

Truckee Meadows Water Authority
Notes to Financial Statements

June 30, 2025 and 2024

46



TMWA had the following recurring fair value measurements as of June 30, 2024: 

Fair Value Measurements Using

Fair Value

Quoted Prices 
in Active 

Markets for 
Identical Assets 

(Level 1)

Significant
 Other

 Observable Inputs
 (Level 2)

Investments by fair value level
U.S. Treasuries $ 56,012,428 $ 56,012,428 $ — 
U.S. Agencies  52,038,982  —  52,038,982 
Certificates of Deposit  8,399,111  —  8,399,111 
Corporate Notes  14,919,202  —  14,919,202 
Commercial Paper  2,294,031  —  2,294,031 

 133,663,754 $ 56,012,428 $ 77,651,326 

LGIP  2,530,900 
Money Market Mutual Funds*  40,909,525 

$ 177,104,179 

*Money market mutual funds are not held primarily for the purpose of income or profit and have remaining 
maturities at time of purchase of one year or less. Therefore, the money market mutual funds are recorded at 
amortized cost.

The following is a description of the valuation methodologies used by TMWA for its Level 2 assets:

U.S. Agencies - Valued using matrix pricing and market corroborated pricing models.
Certificates of Deposit - Valued using interactive date pricing and reference data.
Corporate Notes - Valued using institutional bond quotes based on various market and industry inputs.
Commercial Paper - Valued at fair value based on the observable market prices of inputs for similar securities. 

 Table of Contents

Truckee Meadows Water Authority
Notes to Financial Statements

June 30, 2025 and 2024

47



Note 5 - Capital Assets 

Capital asset activity for the year ended June 30, 2025 follows:

Beginning 
Balance Increases Decreases

Ending 
Balance

Capital assets, not being depreciated
Construction in progress $ 80,894,411 $ 61,126,547 $ (34,168,120) $ 107,852,838 
Land  20,889,008  2,789,055  (197,831)  23,480,232 
Water rights  121,122,904  2,134,724  —  123,257,628 

Total capital assets, not being depreciated  222,906,323  66,050,326  (34,365,951)  254,590,698 

Capital assets, being depreciated
Distribution mains  651,702,980  21,324,005  —  673,026,985 
Water treatment (plants)  236,023,353  3,598,705  —  239,622,058 
Services  191,093,629  11,981,312  —  203,074,941 
Pump stations  88,067,621  1,551,252  —  89,618,873 
Treated water storage (tanks)  112,264,916  10,228,184  (336,553)  122,156,547 
Wells  87,922,805  1,377,344  (749,233)  88,550,916 
Pressure regulating stations  26,652,407  1,977,037  —  28,629,444 
Canals  44,772,747  43,144  —  44,815,891 
Reservoirs  19,499,753  66,449  —  19,566,202 
Vehicles  11,535,875  976,205  (368,626)  12,143,454 
Furniture and fixtures  908,888  —  —  908,888 
Computer hardware and software  12,625,310  408,995  —  13,034,305 
Equipment  465,867  66,728  —  532,595 
Hydroelectric facilities  35,330,789  86,850  —  35,417,639 
Administrative buildings  16,576,802  5,511,068  —  22,087,870 

Total capital assets, being depreciated  1,535,443,742  59,197,278  (1,454,412)  1,593,186,608 

Less accumulated depreciation:
Distribution mains  (183,969,448)  (11,717,015)  —  (195,686,463) 
Water treatment (plants)  (123,391,844)  (6,917,496)  —  (130,309,340) 
Services  (136,820,384)  (5,790,368)  —  (142,610,752) 
Pump stations  (35,012,709)  (2,553,591)  —  (37,566,300) 
Treated water storage (tanks)  (39,650,577)  (2,745,301)  223,757  (42,172,121) 
Wells  (43,079,571)  (2,029,908)  159,697  (44,949,782) 
Pressure regulating stations  (9,446,054)  (575,923)  —  (10,021,977) 
Canals  (16,504,429)  (1,032,030)  —  (17,536,459) 
Reservoirs  (9,235,713)  (327,252)  —  (9,562,965) 
Vehicles  (8,641,243)  (749,352)  368,626  (9,021,969) 
Furniture and fixtures  (808,969)  (38,729)  —  (847,698) 
Computer hardware and software  (5,588,457)  (890,403)  —  (6,478,860) 
Equipment  (233,105)  (48,618)  —  (281,723) 
Hydroelectric facilities  (7,567,158)  (697,266)  —  (8,264,424) 
Administrative buildings  (5,468,691)  (584,179)  —  (6,052,870) 

Total accumulated depreciation  (625,418,352)  (36,697,431)  752,080  (661,363,703) 

Total capital assets, being depreciated net  910,025,390  22,499,847  (702,332)  931,822,905 

Total Capital Assets, Net $ 1,132,931,713 $ 88,550,173 $ (35,068,283) $ 1,186,413,603 

 Table of Contents

Truckee Meadows Water Authority
Notes to Financial Statements

June 30, 2025 and 2024

48



Capital asset activity for the year ended June 30, 2024 follows:

Beginning 
Balance Increases Decreases

Ending 
Balance

Capital assets, not being depreciated
Construction in progress $ 63,817,854 $ 72,182,065 $ (55,105,508) $ 80,894,411 
Land  20,859,674  31,000  (1,666)  20,889,008 
Water rights  116,456,842  4,666,062  —  121,122,904 

Total capital assets, not being depreciated  201,134,370  76,879,127  (55,107,174)  222,906,323 

Capital assets, being depreciated
Distribution mains  632,257,695  19,445,285  —  651,702,980 
Water treatment (plants)  232,062,277  3,961,076  —  236,023,353 
Services  176,436,216  14,657,413  —  191,093,629 
Pump stations  79,856,004  8,211,617  —  88,067,621 
Treated water storage (tanks)  106,225,781  6,039,135  —  112,264,916 
Wells  83,983,474  3,939,331  —  87,922,805 
Pressure regulating stations  21,325,572  5,326,835  —  26,652,407 
Canals  44,772,747  —  —  44,772,747 
Reservoirs  19,391,975  107,778  —  19,499,753 
Vehicles  10,357,435  1,178,440  —  11,535,875 
Furniture and fixtures  873,329  35,559  —  908,888 
Computer hardware and software  12,365,711  259,599  —  12,625,310 
Equipment  252,659  213,208  —  465,867 
Hydroelectric facilities  35,271,271  59,518  —  35,330,789 
Administrative buildings  16,233,457  343,345  —  16,576,802 

Total capital assets, being depreciated  1,471,665,603  63,778,139  —  1,535,443,742 

Less accumulated depreciation:
Distribution mains  (172,460,651)  (11,508,797)  —  (183,969,448) 
Water treatment (plants)  (116,499,112)  (6,892,732)  —  (123,391,844) 
Services  (131,097,866)  (5,722,518)  —  (136,820,384) 
Pump stations  (32,386,494)  (2,626,215)  —  (35,012,709) 
Treated water storage (tanks)  (37,202,594)  (2,447,983)  —  (39,650,577) 
Wells  (40,831,035)  (2,248,536)  —  (43,079,571) 
Pressure regulating stations  (8,847,003)  (599,051)  —  (9,446,054) 
Canals  (15,470,599)  (1,033,830)  —  (16,504,429) 
Reservoirs  (8,785,731)  (449,982)  —  (9,235,713) 
Vehicles  (7,819,999)  (821,244)  —  (8,641,243) 
Furniture and fixtures  (765,704)  (43,265)  —  (808,969) 
Computer hardware and software  (4,712,636)  (875,821)  —  (5,588,457) 
Equipment  (207,324)  (25,781)  —  (233,105) 
Hydroelectric facilities  (6,874,971)  (692,187)  —  (7,567,158) 
Administrative buildings  (4,956,120)  (512,571)  —  (5,468,691) 

Total accumulated depreciation  (588,917,839)  (36,500,513)  —  (625,418,352) 

Total capital assets, being depreciated net  882,747,764  27,277,626  —  910,025,390 

Total Capital Assets, Net $ 1,083,882,134 $ 104,156,753 $ (55,107,174) $ 1,132,931,713 

 Table of Contents

Truckee Meadows Water Authority
Notes to Financial Statements

June 30, 2025 and 2024

49



Note 6 - Leases

TMWA has an agreement to lease cell tower space to CCTM1 LLC. The agreement term began in 1998 and 
allowed for five 5-year renewal terms after the initial term expired in 2003. TMWA foresees continuing the lease 
through 2028.  Rent was $6,000 for the first year and is increased based on CPI every five years with the renewal 
of the lease. TMWA used a borrowing rate of 3.17% to recognize this lease under GASB 87, Leases. During the 
fiscal year ended June 30, 2025, TMWA recognized $9,691 in lease revenue and $1,036 in interest revenue 
related to this agreement. At June 30, 2025, TMWA reported $27,911 in lease receivables and $25,034 in deferred 
inflows of resources, which will be recognized as revenue over the term of the lease, related to this agreement. 
During the year ended June 30, 2024, TMWA recognized $9,691 in lease revenue and $1,354 in interest revenue 
related to this agreement. At June 30, 2024, TMWA reported $38,117 in lease receivables and $34,725 in deferred 
inflows of resources, which will be recognized as revenue over the term of the lease, related to this agreement.

TMWA has an agreement to lease cell tower space to T-Mobile. The agreement term began in 1998 and allowed 
for five 5-year renewal terms after the initial term expired in 2003. TMWA foresees continuing the lease through 
2028.  Rent was $4,000 for the first year and is increased based on CPI every five years with the renewal of the 
lease.The third amendment to the agreement also added $3,000 per year to the base rent. TMWA used a 
borrowing rate of 3.17% to recognize this lease under GASB 87, Leases. During the fiscal year ended June 30, 
2025, TMWA recognized $9,123 in lease revenue and $1,054 in interest revenue related to this agreement. At 
June 30, 2025, TMWA reported $29,018 in lease receivables and $27,370 in deferred inflows of resources, which 
will be recognized as revenue over the term of the lease, related to this agreement. During the year ended June 30, 
2024, TMWA recognized $9,123 in lease revenue and $1,337 in interest revenue related to this agreement. At 
June 30, 2024, TMWA reported $38,094 in lease receivables and $36,493 in deferred inflows of resources, which 
will be recognized as revenue over the term of the lease, related to this agreement.

TMWA has an agreement to lease cell tower space to AT&T. The agreement term began in 2000 and allowed for 
three 5-year renewal terms after the initial term expired in 2005. A first amendment to the agreement extended the 
term for another five years to 2025 and allows for two 5-year renewal terms after the contract expires in 2025. 
TMWA foresees continuing the lease through 2035. Rent was $13,800 for the first year and was originally 
increased based on CPI every five years with the renewal of the lease. The first amendment to the agreement 
added $3,600 per year to the base rent and specified that the yearly rent will increase by 10% upon the 
commencement of each extension term. TMWA used a borrowing rate of 2.78% to recognize this lease under 
GASB 87, Leases. During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2025, TMWA recognized $21,055 in lease revenue and 
$7,013 in interest revenue related to this agreement. At June 30, 2025, TMWA reported $241,197 in lease 
receivables and $221,079 in deferred inflows of resources, which will be recognized as revenue over the term of 
the lease, related to this agreement. During the year ended June 30, 2024, TMWA recognized $21,055 in lease 
revenue and $7,526 in interest revenue related to this agreement. At June 30, 2024, TMWA reported $259,670 in 
lease receivables and $242,134 in deferred inflows of resources, which will be recognized as revenue over the 
term of the lease, related to this agreement.  

TMWA has an agreement to lease a portion of its land's air space to Lamar Central Outdoor LLC. The agreement 
term began in 2024 and allows for two 5-year renewal terms after the initial term expires in 2030. Rent was 
$4,620 for the first year and will increase 3.0% each year. TMWA used a borrowing rate of 2.37% to recognize 
this lease under GASB 87, Leases. During the year ended June 30, 2025, TMWA recognized $5,483 in lease 
revenue and $646 in interest revenue related to this agreement. At June 30, 2025, TMWA reported $24,219 in 
lease receivables and $25,603 in deferred inflows of resources, which will be recognized as revenue over the term 
of the lease, related to this agreement. During the year ended June 30, 2024, TMWA recognized $4,105 in lease 
revenue and $225 in interest revenue related to this agreement. At June 30, 2024, TMWA reported $28,300 in 
lease receivables and $31,086 in deferred inflows of resources, which will be recognized as revenue over the term 
of the lease, related to this agreement.  

 Table of Contents

Truckee Meadows Water Authority
Notes to Financial Statements

June 30, 2025 and 2024

50



Note 7 - Long-Term Liabilities

Long-Term Debt

On June 8, 2005, TMWA entered into a loan contract with the State of Nevada Drinking Water State Revolving 
Fund (DWSRF) to fund TMWA’s Arsenic Mitigation Project. TMWA made draws on this contract as 
construction proceeded, totaling $4,669,565. The loan constitutes a special limited obligation of TMWA and the 
principal and interest on the loan will be payable solely from and secured by an irrevocable pledge of the net 
revenues derived from the operation of the Water System. This loan has a term of 20 years. This loan is 
subordinate to the 2015A Refunding Bonds, the 2016 Refunding Bonds, the 2017 Refunding Bonds, the 2018 
Refunding Bonds, and any future senior lien bonds. The loan is considered paid in full as of June 30, 2025. 

On August 15, 2006, TMWA began an inaugural Tax-Exempt Commercial Paper (TECP) program that originally 
authorized the issuance of up to $160,000,000 in TECP notes. The first draw was on August 16, 2006 for 
$30,000,000, and a second draw was on December 5, 2006 for $13,000,000. The proceeds from the first two 
draws were used solely to purchase water rights for future sale of will-serve commitments to developers. A third 
draw was made on February 15, 2008 for $25,000,000 to fund certain construction projects on an interim basis. A 
fourth draw was made on June 28, 2011 for $11,400,000 for the purpose of redeeming the remaining outstanding 
Series 2001A Bonds which were callable on July 1, 2011. TMWA redeemed the $11,400,000 issued in the fourth 
draw on December 10, 2012. TMWA issued a fifth draw for $27,000,000 on December 17, 2014 to refund, on an 
advanced basis, $26,100,000 in Washoe County water obligations to effect the water utility consolidation between 
Washoe County and TMWA with proceeds transferred to escrow on the date of issuance. The funds in escrow 
were distributed to the Washoe County bondholders as of July 1, 2015, the call date of the bonds. On various 
dates in fiscal year 2016, TMWA redeemed $7,200,000. On September 7, 2016, TMWA redeemed $4,400,000, 
and on September 5, 2017, TMWA redeemed $9,200,000. On May 15, 2018 TMWA redeemed $44,200,000 as 
part of the Series 2018 Water Revenue Refunding. This left an outstanding balance of $30,000,000 as of June 30, 
2018.  On September 4, 2018, TMWA redeemed $6,500,000, on October 2, 2019, TMWA redeemed $5,000,000, 
and on March 3, 2020, TMWA redeemed $2,500,000. This left an outstanding balance of $16,000,000 as of June 
30, 2020. In the first half of fiscal year 2021, TMWA redeemed $3,000,000 of the $16,000,000 outstanding. The 
remaining $13,000,000 was redeemed in June 2021 as part of the 2021 Subordinate Water Refunding Bonds. 
TMWA has remaining authorization to issue $53,600,000 as of June 30, 2025. This authorization expires July 1, 
2036. Should TMWA wish to issue any of the remaining balance, new agreements and Board approval would be 
required. 
 
On July 25, 2009, TMWA entered into a loan contract with the DWSRF, the 2009A DWSRF Loan, to partially 
fund TMWA’s Mogul Bypass Siphon Project. The loan was provided through the American Recovery and 
Reinvestment Act (ARRA) stimulus funding provided by the federal government. TMWA made draws on this 
contract as construction proceeded, totaling $2,401,120. The loan constitutes a special limited obligation of 
TMWA and the principal and interest on the loan will be payable solely from and secured by an irrevocable 
pledge of the net revenues derived from the operation of the Water System. This loan has a term of 20 years. This 
loan is subordinate to the senior lien 2015A Refunding Bonds, the 2016 Refunding Bonds, the 2017 Refunding 
Bonds, the 2018 Refunding Bonds, and any future senior lien bonds.

On February 11, 2010, TMWA entered into a loan contract with DWSRF, the 2010A DWSRF Loan, to fund 
TMWA’s Glendale Water Treatment Plant Diversion Project. Total construction costs for the Glendale Diversion 
Project were less than expected. Consequently, TMWA requested and was granted that the remaining loan 
authorization be able to fund final improvements on the Highland Canal. During fiscal year 2013, the loan was 
finalized in the total amount of $4,381,614. The loan constitutes a special limited obligation of TMWA and the 
principal and interest on the loan are payable solely from and secured by an irrevocable pledge of the net revenues 
derived from the operation of the Water System. This loan has a term of 20 years. This loan is subordinate to the 

 Table of Contents

Truckee Meadows Water Authority
Notes to Financial Statements

June 30, 2025 and 2024

51



senior lien 2015A Refunding Bonds, the 2016 Refunding Bonds, the 2017 Refunding Bonds, the 2018 Refunding 
Bonds as well as any future senior lien bonds.

On December 31, 2014, TMWA entered into a loan contract with the DWSRF, to transfer the remaining loan 
balance of the Washoe County Water Utility 2005 DWSRF loan to TMWA. The transfer was in conjunction with 
the transfer of operations of the Washoe County Water Utility into TMWA on January 1, 2015. The loan contract 
was entered into by the Washoe County Water Utility to construct the Longley Lane Water Treatment Facility, a 
facility that was transferred to TMWA. The loan balance of $9,109,437 was transferred to TMWA under the same 
terms that existed with Washoe County as the TMWA 2014 DWSRF loan. The original balance of the loan was 
$14,162,268. The loan constitutes a special limited obligation of TMWA, and the principal and interest on the 
loan are payable solely from and secured by an irrevocable pledge of the net revenues, derived from the operation 
of the Water System. When it was transferred this loan had a remaining term of 10 years. This loan is subordinate 
to the senior lien 2015A Refunding Bonds, the 2016 Refunding Bonds, the 2017 Refunding Bonds, the 2018 
Refunding Bonds as well as any future senior lien bonds. The loan is considered paid in full as of June 30, 2025. 

On April 14, 2015, TMWA issued $28,750,000 in Series 2015A Refunding Bonds which constitute special 
limited obligations of TMWA. These bonds were sold to refund on a current basis $33,050,000 in maturities of 
the Series 2005A Bonds. The proceeds of the refunding bond issue were placed in an irrevocable trust for the 
purpose of generating financial resources to defease the callable portion of the Series 2005A Bonds. The Series 
2005A refunded bonds are considered to be defeased and the liability has been removed from TMWA’s Statement 
of Net Position. The net carrying amount of the old debt exceeded the reacquisition price by $140,645. The 
unamortized balance is being amortized as a component of interest income over the remaining life of the old and 
new debt, which has the same remaining life. This current refunding was undertaken to reduce total debt service 
payments over approximately 21 years by $6,563,813 and resulted in an economic gain of $4,575,309. The funds 
held in the irrevocable trust were distributed to 2005A bondholders as of July 1, 2015, the call date of the 2005A 
Bonds. On December 20, 2023, TMWA defeased $11,485,000 of the bonds, along with $1,014,912 of the 
unamortized bond premium. TMWA used current resources for the defeasance and no new debt was issued. The 
remaining balance due is $9,645,000 with an associated premium of $852,314, which will be amortized over the 
life of the bonds.

On July 30, 2015, TMWA entered into a loan contract with the DWSRF, the 2015B DWSRF Loan, to fund 
TMWA’s surface and groundwater supplies in the North Valleys particularly the Stead area, Lemmon Valley 
area, and North Virginia Corridor. Of the $15,000,000 authorized, TMWA made draws on this contract as 
construction proceeded totaling $8,971,562. The loan constitutes a special limited obligation of TMWA and the 
principal and interest on the loan are payable solely from and secured by an irrevocable pledge of the net revenues 
derived from the operation of the Water System. This loan has a term of 20 years. This loan is subordinate to the 
senior lien 2015A Refunding Bonds, the 2016 Refunding Bonds, the 2017 Refunding Bonds, the 2018 Refunding 
Bonds  as well as any future senior lien bonds. This loan is also subordinate to the 2005 DWSRF Bonds, the 
2009A DWSRF ARRA Bonds, the 2010A DWSRF Bonds, the 2014 DWSRF Bonds, and the 2015B DWSRF 
Bonds.

On April 12, 2016, TMWA issued $124,790,000 in Series 2016 Water Revenue Refunding Bonds which 
constitute special limited obligations of TMWA. These bonds were sold to refund $148,015,000 in maturities of 
the Series 2006 Bonds. The proceeds of the refunding bond issue were used to purchase U.S. Government 
securities that were placed in an irrevocable trust for the purpose of generating financial resources for the future 
debt service payments of the refunded Series 2006 Bonds. As a result, the refunded bonds were considered to be 
defeased and the liability has been removed from TMWA’s Statement of Net Position. The reacquisition price 
exceeded the net carrying amount of the old debt by $3,092,808. The unamortized balance is being amortized as a 
component of interest expense over the original life of the old debt, which has a shorter remaining life in 
comparison to the remaining life of the refunding bonds. This current refunding was undertaken to reduce total 
debt service payments over 22 years by $4,332,501, and resulted in an economic gain of $15,025,124. The funds 
in the irrevocable trust were distributed to 2006 bondholders as of July 1, 2016, the call date of the 2006 Bonds. 
On December 20, 2023, TMWA defeased $58,345,000 of the bonds, along with $6,419,187 of the unamortized 

 Table of Contents

Truckee Meadows Water Authority
Notes to Financial Statements

June 30, 2025 and 2024

52



bond premium. TMWA used current resources for the defeasance and no new debt was issued. The remaining 
balance due is $66,445,000 with an associated premium of $7,310,359, which will be amortized over the life of 
the bonds.

On April 11, 2017, TMWA issued $147,415,000 in Series 2017 Water Revenue Refunding Bonds which 
constitute special limited obligations of TMWA. These bonds were sold to refund $214,290,000 in maturities of 
the Series 2007 Bonds. The proceeds of the refunding bond issue along with $32,865,308 from TMWA’s cash 
balances were used to purchase U.S. Government securities that were placed in an irrevocable trust for the 
purpose of generating financial resources for the future debt service payments of the refunded Series 2007 Bonds. 
As a result, the refunded bonds were considered to be defeased and the liability has been removed from TMWA’s 
Statement of Net Position. The reacquisition price exceeded the net carrying amount of the old debt by $289,903. 
The unamortized balance is being amortized as a component of interest income over the remaining life of the old 
and new debt, which has the same remaining life. This current refunding was undertaken to reduce total debt 
service payments over 14 years by $15,301,534, and resulted in an economic gain of $15,948,105. The funds in 
the irrevocable trust were distributed to 2007 bondholders as of July 1, 2017, the call date of the 2007 Bonds.

On May 15, 2018, TMWA issued $38,835,000 in Series 2018 Water Revenue Refunding Bonds which constitute 
special limited obligations of TMWA. The proceeds of the bond issue of $44,601,977 were used to refund or 
redeem $44,200,000 in maturities of TECP. This transaction was executed to provide a fixed rate of interest 
expense over the life of the refunding, which was effected by replacing variable rate TECP debt with fixed rate 
bonds.

On June 3, 2021, TMWA issued $13,000,000 in Series 2021 Subordinate Water Revenue Refunding Bonds which 
constitute special limited obligations of TMWA. The Bonds were sold pursuant to a Continuing Covenant 
Agreement as a Direct Purchase to Wells Fargo Municipal Capital Strategies, LLC.  The proceeds of the bond 
issue of $13,000,000 were used to refund or redeem $13,000,000 in maturities of TECP. This transaction was 
executed to provide a fixed interest rate over the life of the refunding, which was effected by replacing variable 
rate TECP debt with fixed rate bonds. The provisions of the loan agreement require level, annual debt service for 
full repayment of the bonds through fiscal year 2028.  This loan is subordinate to the senior lien 2015A Refunding 
Bonds, the 2016 Refunding Bonds, the 2017 Refunding Bonds and the 2018 Refunding Bonds.

On January 18, 2024, TMWA issued $61,530,000 in Series 2024 Water Revenue Bonds which constitute special 
limited obligations of TMWA. The proceeds of the bonds will be used to cover capital expenditures over the next 
two years.

 Table of Contents

Truckee Meadows Water Authority
Notes to Financial Statements

June 30, 2025 and 2024

53



The following schedule summarizes the changes in long-term debt obligations as of June 30, 2025:
Final

Maturity
Date Authorized

Balance
July 1, 2024 Additions Deletions

Balance
June 30, 2025

Due in 
2025-2026

Direct Borrowings
2005 - DWSRF Bonds 3.21% 1/1/2025 $ 4,669,565 $ 328,757 $ — $ 328,757 $ — $ — 
2009 A - DWSRF ARRA Bonds 0.00% 7/1/2029  2,401,120  680,177  —  123,668  556,509  123,668 
2010 A - DWSRF Bonds 3.25% 1/1/2030  4,381,614  1,826,407  —  280,404  1,546,003  289,592 
2014 - DWSRF Bonds 2.81% 1/1/2025  9,109,437  987,025  —  987,025  —  — 
2015 B - DWSRF Bonds 2.62% 7/1/2035  15,000,000  6,072,253  —  458,876  5,613,377  470,977 
2021 - Refunding Bonds 1.19% 6/1/2028  13,000,000  7,565,000  —  1,860,000  5,705,000  1,880,000 

 48,561,736  17,459,619  —  4,038,730  13,420,889  2,764,237 
Bonds Payable
2015 A - Refunding Bonds 2.00%-5.00% 7/1/2036  28,750,000  9,645,000  —  1,175,000  8,470,000  1,235,000 
2016 - Refunding Bonds 5.00% 7/1/2037  124,790,000  66,445,000  —  —  66,445,000  — 
2017 - Refunding Bonds 4.00%-5.00% 7/1/2030  147,415,000  102,590,000  —  12,745,000  89,845,000  12,300,000 
2018 - Refunding Bonds 5.00% 7/1/2039  38,835,000  38,835,000  —  —  38,835,000  — 
2024 - Water Revenue Bonds 5.00% 7/1/2036  61,530,000  61,530,000  —  —  61,530,000  — 

 401,320,000  279,045,000  —  13,920,000  265,125,000  13,535,000 

Subtotal  449,881,736  296,504,619  —  17,958,730  278,545,889  16,299,237 

Plus unamortized net bond premium  31,399,414  —  4,400,189  26,999,225 

Total debt before TECP  327,904,033  —  22,358,919  305,545,114 

TECP  53,600,000  —  —  —  —  — 

Total Debt $ 503,481,736 $ 327,904,033 $ — $ 22,358,919 $ 305,545,114 $ 16,299,237 

The following schedule summarizes the changes in long-term debt obligations as of June 30, 2024: 
Final

Maturity
Date Authorized

Balance
July 1, 2023 Additions Deletions

Balance
June 30, 2024

Due in 
2024-2025

Direct Borrowings
2005 - DWSRF Bonds 3.21% 1/1/2025 $ 4,669,565 $ 647,209 $ — $ 318,452 $ 328,757 $ 328,756 
2009 A - DWSRF ARRA Bonds 0.00% 7/1/2029  2,401,120  803,846  —  123,669  680,177  123,669 
2010 A - DWSRF Bonds 3.25% 1/1/2030  4,381,614  2,097,916  —  271,509  1,826,407  280,405 
2014 - DWSRF Bonds 2.81% 1/1/2025  9,109,437  1,946,888  —  959,863  987,025  987,025 
2015 B - DWSRF Bonds 2.62% 7/1/2035  15,000,000  6,519,338  —  447,085  6,072,253  458,875 

2021 - Refunding Bonds 1.19% 6/1/2028  13,000,000  9,400,000  —  1,835,000  7,565,000  1,860,000 

 48,561,736  21,415,197  —  3,955,578  17,459,619  4,038,730 
Bonds Payable
2015 A - Refunding Bonds 2.00%-5.00% 7/1/2036  28,750,000  22,240,000  —  12,595,000  9,645,000  1,175,000 
2016 - Refunding Bonds 5.00% 7/1/2037  124,790,000  124,790,000  —  58,345,000  66,445,000  — 
2017 - Refunding Bonds 4.00%-5.00% 7/1/2030  147,415,000  114,725,000  —  12,135,000  102,590,000  12,745,000 
2018 - Refunding Bonds 5.00% 7/1/2039  38,835,000  38,835,000  —  —  38,835,000  — 
2024 - Water Revenue Bonds 5.00% 7/1/2036  61,530,000  —  61,530,000  —  61,530,000  — 

 401,320,000  300,590,000  61,530,000  83,075,000  279,045,000  13,920,000 

Subtotal  449,881,736  322,005,197  61,530,000  87,030,578  296,504,619  17,958,730 

Plus unamortized net bond premium  29,146,578  13,913,050  11,660,214  31,399,414 

Total debt before TECP  351,151,775  75,443,050  98,690,792  327,904,033 

TECP  53,600,000  —  —  —  —  — 

Total Debt $ 503,481,736 $ 351,151,775 $ 75,443,050 $ 98,690,792 $ 327,904,033 $ 17,958,730 

 Table of Contents

Truckee Meadows Water Authority
Notes to Financial Statements

June 30, 2025 and 2024

54



Annual debt service requirements to maturity for TMWA's bonds are as follows:

Direct Borrowings Bonds Payable

Year Ending June 30,
Principal
Payment

Interest
Payment

Principal
Payment

Interest
Payment

Total Debt 
Service

2026 $ 2,764,237 $ 254,213 $ 13,535,000 $ 12,917,875 $ 29,471,325 
2027  2,806,147  209,873  15,355,000  12,195,625  30,566,645 
2028  2,853,693  164,657  16,135,000  11,408,375  30,561,725 
2029  951,897  124,257  16,930,000  10,581,750  28,587,904 
2030  913,944  100,376  17,785,000  9,713,875  28,513,195 
2031-2035  2,827,456  247,455  121,915,000  32,148,125  157,138,036 
2036-2040  303,515  3,976  63,470,000  7,663,500  71,440,991 

Total $ 13,420,889 $ 1,104,807 $ 265,125,000 $ 96,629,125 $ 376,279,821 

Compensated Absences

The following schedules summarize the changes in the compensated absences liability as of June 30, 2025 and 
2024: 

Beginning 
Balance Increases Decreases

Ending 
Balance

Due Next 
Fiscal Year

June 30, 2025 $ 5,068,736 $ 4,864,115 $ 3,918,451 $ 6,014,400 $ 1,688,939 
June 30, 2024 - Restated $ 3,711,520 $ 3,839,571 $ 2,482,355 $ 5,068,736 $ 1,546,520 

Note 8 - Net Position

Restricted Net Position

TMWA records the following restrictions of net position:

Restricted in accordance with bond covenants: TMWA's bond covenants require certain restrictions of TMWA's 
net position for operations and maintenance, debt service, renewal and replacement, and water rate stabilization.

Restricted for water resource sustainability: This restriction was created to segregate the portion of net position 
derived from contributions made by developers to fund certain projects that are intended to benefit TMWA's long-
term water resources sustainability.

Restricted for net other postemployment benefits: This restriction was created to segregate the portion of net 
position related to TMWA's net other postemployment benefit asset in the §501(c)(9) Plan. See Note 12 to the 
financial statements for additional information. 

Board Designation

On September 19, 2018, the Board adopted a resolution to designate 3% of total projected water sales for the most 
recent three year forecast as a rate stabilization fund. This amount was $11,521,815 and $11,097,932 as of June 
30, 2025 and 2024, respectively. This designation is not reflected as restricted net position but is considered a 
designated portion of unrestricted net position.

 Table of Contents

Truckee Meadows Water Authority
Notes to Financial Statements

June 30, 2025 and 2024

55



Note 9 - Contingent Liabilities

Mt. Rose Fan Domestic Well Program

As part of the transfer of operations with the Washoe County water utility, TMWA agreed to continue Washoe 
County’s Mt. Rose-Galena Fan Domestic Well Mitigation Program, which provides for the reimbursement of 
specific well deepening costs or water system connection charges, incurred by property owners within the 
program area, whom experienced or will experience an “unreasonable adverse effect” as a result of municipal 
groundwater pumping. TMWA’s continuation of the program provides continuity for domestic well owners in the 
specific program and provides protection of shared groundwater resources in the program area. TMWA’s budget 
includes projected costs for administering the domestic well mitigation plan.

Litigation

From time to time, TMWA is named as a party to various lawsuits, claims, or other legal and regulatory 
proceedings that arise in the ordinary course of TMWA's business. TMWA accrues reserves when a loss is 
probable, and the amount of such loss can be reasonably estimated. Management does not believe that the 
outcome of these proceedings, individually and collectively, will have a material effect on TMWA's financial 
position. 

Note 10 - Risk Management

TMWA is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, and destruction of assets; errors and 
omissions; injuries to employees; and natural disasters. TMWA is responsible for group health insurance 
premiums payable to the City of Reno for coverage in the City's self-funded health insurance program. All other 
significant risks are covered by commercial insurance purchased from independent third parties. There have been 
no settlements in excess of insurance coverage for the past three years.

Note 11 - Defined Benefit Pension Plan and Other Employee Benefits

Defined Benefit Pension Plan

Plan Description

TMWA contributes to the Public Employees’ Retirement System of the State of Nevada (PERS). PERS 
administers a cost-sharing, multiple-employer, defined benefit public employees’ retirement system. PERS was 
established by the Nevada Legislature in 1947, effective July 1, 1948. PERS is administered to provide a 
reasonable base income to qualified employees who have been employed by a public employer and whose 
earnings capacities have been removed or substantially impaired by age or disability.

Benefits Provided 

Benefits, as required by the Nevada Revised Statutes (NRS or statute), are determined by the number of years of 
accredited service at time of retirement and the member’s highest average compensation in any 36 consecutive 
months with special provisions for members entering PERS on or after January 1, 2010 and July 1, 2015. Benefit 
payments to which participants or their beneficiaries may be entitled under the plan include pension benefits, 
disability benefits, and survivor benefits.

Monthly benefit allowances for members are computed as 2.5% of average compensation for each accredited year 
of service prior to July 1, 2001. For service earned on and after July 1, 2001, this multiplier is 2.67% of average 

 Table of Contents

Truckee Meadows Water Authority
Notes to Financial Statements

June 30, 2025 and 2024

56



compensation. For members entering PERS on or after January 1, 2010, there is a 2.5% multiplier. Members 
entering PERS on or after July 1, 2015 have a 2.25% multiplier. PERS offers several alternatives to the 
unmodified service retirement allowance which, in general, allow the retired employee to accept a reduced service 
retirement allowance payable monthly during his or her lifetime and various optional monthly payments to a 
named beneficiary after his or her death.

Post-retirement increases are provided by authority of NRS 286.575 - .579.

Vesting

Members entering PERS prior to January 1, 2010, are eligible for retirement at age 65 with five years of service, 
at age 60 with ten years of service, or at any age with thirty years of service. Members entering PERS on or after 
January 1, 2010, are eligible for retirement at age 65 with five years of service, at age 62 with ten years of service, 
or at any age with thirty years of service. Members entering PERS on or after July 1, 2015 are eligible for 
retirement at age 65 with five years of service, at age 62 with ten years of service, at age 55 with thirty years of 
service, or at any age with thirty-three and a third years of service.

The normal ceiling limitation on monthly benefits allowances is 75% of average compensation. However, a 
member who has an effective date of membership before July 1, 1985, is entitled to a benefit of up to 90% of 
average compensation. Members become fully vested as to benefits upon completion of five years of service. 

Contributions 

The authority for establishing and amending the obligation to make contributions and member contribution rates 
is set by statute. New hires, in agencies which did not elect the Employer-Pay Contribution (EPC) plan prior to 
July 1, 1983, have the option of selecting one of two contribution plans. 

Under the Employee/Employer-Pay Plan, contributions are shared equally by employees and employer. Under the 
Employer-Pay Plan, employees pay for their portion of contributions through a salary reduction, and the employer 
pays 100% of employees' retirement contributions. At TMWA, employees are initially enrolled in the Employee/
Employer-Pay Plan and then may choose to change their enrollment to the Employer-Pay Plan.  

PERS’ basic funding policy provides for periodic contributions at a level pattern of cost as a percentage of salary 
throughout an employee’s working lifetime in order to accumulate sufficient assets to pay benefits when due.

PERS receives an actuarial valuation on an annual basis indicating the contribution rates required to fund PERS 
on an actuarial reserve basis. Contributions actually made are in accordance with the required rates established by 
the Nevada Legislature. These statutory rates are increased/decreased pursuant to NRS 286.421 and 286.450.

The actuary funding method used is the Entry Age Normal Cost Method. It is intended to meet the funding 
objective and result in a relatively level long-term contributions requirement as a percentage of salary.
The employer-pay contribution (EPC) rate was 33.50% for fiscal years June 30, 2025 and 2024. As of July 1, 
2025, the EPC rate increased to 36.75%. TMWA’s contributions were $5,308,925 and $4,837,476 for the years 
ended June 30, 2025 and 2024, respectively. 

PERS Investment Policy

PERS’ policies, which determine the investment portfolio target asset allocation, are established by the PERS 
Board. The asset allocation is reviewed annually and is designed to meet the future risk and return needs of PERS.

 Table of Contents

Truckee Meadows Water Authority
Notes to Financial Statements

June 30, 2025 and 2024

57



The following was the PERS Board adopted policy target asset allocation as of June 30, 2024:

Target Allocation

Long-Term 
Geometric Expected 
Real Rate of Return

Domestic Equity 42% 5.50%
International Equity 18% 5.50%
Domestic Fixed Income 28% 2.25%
Private Markets 12% 7.15%

The following was the PERS Board adopted policy target asset allocation as of June 30, 2023:

Target Allocation

Long-Term 
Geometric Expected 
Real Rate of Return

Domestic Equity 42% 5.50%
International Equity 18% 5.50%
Domestic Fixed Income 28% 0.75%
Private Markets 12% 6.65%

Net Pension Liability

At June 30, 2025, TMWA reported a liability for its proportionate share of the net pension liability of 
$60,778,967. The net pension liability was measured as of June 30, 2024, and the total pension liability used to 
calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of that date. 

At June 30, 2024, TMWA reported a liability for its proportionate share of the net pension liability of 
$60,226,778. The net pension liability was measured as of June 30, 2023, and the total pension liability used to 
calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of that date. 

TMWA’s proportion of the net pension liability was based on TMWA’s share of contributions in the PERS 
pension plan relative to the total contributions of all participating PERS employers and members. At June 30, 
2024 and 2023, TMWA’s proportion was 0.3364 and 0.3300 percent, respectively, representing an increase of 
0.0064 percent and an increase of 0.0121 percent from its proportion measured at June 30, 2023 and 2022, 
respectively.

Pension Liability Discount Rate Sensitivity 

The following presents the net pension liability of TMWA measured as of June 30, 2024 and 2023, calculated 
using the discount rate of 7.25%, and what TMWA’s net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a 
discount rate that is one percentage-point lower or one percentage-point higher than the discount rates used in 
each year's valuation:

 Table of Contents

Truckee Meadows Water Authority
Notes to Financial Statements

June 30, 2025 and 2024

58



1% Decrease in 
Discount Rate

(6.25%)
Discount Rate

(7.25%)

1% Increase in 
Discount Rate

(8.25%)

Net Pension Liability, June 30, 2024 $ 97,739,937 $ 60,778,967 $ 30,285,764 

1% Decrease in 
Discount Rate

(6.25%)
Discount Rate

(7.25%)

1% Increase in 
Discount Rate

(8.25%)

Net Pension Liability, June 30, 2023 $ 93,721,709 $ 60,226,778 $ 32,583,626 

Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position

Detailed information about the pension plan’s fiduciary net position is available in the PERS ACFR, available on 
the PERS website, www.nvpers.org.

Actuarial Assumptions

TMWA’s June 30, 2025 net pension liability was measured as of June 30, 2024, and the total pension liability 
used to calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of that date. TMWA’s June 
30, 2024 net pension liability was measured as of June 30, 2023, and the total pension liability used to calculate 
the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of that date. The total pension liability was 
determined using the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement:

June 30, 2024 June 30, 2023

Inflation Rate 2.50% 2.50%
Payroll Growth 3.50% including inflation 3.50% including inflation
Investment Rate of Return 7.25% 7.25%
Productivity Pay Increase 0.50% 0.50%
Projected Salary Increases 4.20% to 9.10%, depending on 

service. Rates include inflation 
and productivity increases.

4.20% to 9.10%, depending on 
service. Rates include inflation 
and productivity increases.

Consumer Price Index 2.50% 2.50%
Other Assumptions Same as those used in the June 30, 

2024 funding actuarial valuation
Same as those used in the June 30, 
2023 funding actuarial valuation

For the year ended June 30, 2024, mortality rates for non-disabled regular members were based on the Pub-2010 
General Healthy Retiree Amount-Weighted Above-Median Mortality Table with rates increased by 30% for 
males and 15% for females, projected generationally with the two-dimensional mortality improvement scale 
MP-2020. Mortality rates for disabled regular members were based on the Pub-2010 Non-Safety Disabled Retiree 
Amount-Weighted Mortality Table with rates increased by 20% for males and 15% for females, projected 
generationally with the two-dimensional mortality improvement scale MP-2020.  

For the year ended June 30, 2023, mortality rates for non-disabled regular members were based on the Pub-2010 
General Healthy Retiree Amount-Weighted Above-Median Mortality Table with rates increased by 30% for 
males and 15% for females, projected generationally with the two-dimensional mortality improvement scale 
MP-2020. Mortality rates for disabled regular members were based on the Pub-2010 Non-Safety Disabled Retiree 
Amount-Weighted Mortality Table with rates increased by 20% for males and 15% for females, projected 
generationally with the two-dimensional mortality improvement scale MP-2020.

 Table of Contents

Truckee Meadows Water Authority
Notes to Financial Statements

June 30, 2025 and 2024

59



Actuarial assumptions used in the June 30, 2024 and 2023 valuations were based on the results of the experience 
review issued September 10, 2021. 

The projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate of 7.25% assumed plan contributions will be 
made in amounts consistent with statutory provisions and recognizing the plan’s current funding policy and cost-
sharing mechanism between employers and members. For this purpose, all contributions that are intended to fund 
benefits for all plan members and their beneficiaries are included, except that projected contributions that are 
intended to fund the service costs for future plan members and their beneficiaries are not included. 

Based on those assumptions, the pension plan’s fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all 
projected future benefit payments for current plan members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on 
pension plan investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension 
liability as of June 30, 2024 and June 30, 2023.

Pension Expense, Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions 

For the years ended June 30, 2025 and 2024, TMWA recognized pension expense of $13,044,396 and 
$13,565,438, respectively. 

At June 30, 2025, TMWA reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to 
pensions from the following sources:

Deferred
Outflows 

of Resources

Deferred
Inflows

of Resources

Differences between expected and actual experience $ 12,894,041 $ — 
Changes in assumptions or other inputs  3,921,840  — 
Net difference between projected and actual earnings on pension plan 

investments  —  5,987,512 
Changes in TMWA’s proportion and differences between TMWA's contributions 

and TMWA's proportionate contributions  2,776,418  — 
TMWA's contributions subsequent to the measurement date  5,308,925  — 

$ 24,901,224 $ 5,987,512 

Deferred outflows of resources of $5,308,925 resulted from TMWA's contributions subsequent to the 
measurement date and will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension liability in the year ended June 30, 
2026. 

 Table of Contents

Truckee Meadows Water Authority
Notes to Financial Statements

June 30, 2025 and 2024

60



At June 30, 2024, TMWA reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to 
pensions from the following sources:

Deferred
Outflows 

of Resources

Deferred
Inflows

of Resources

Differences between expected and actual experience $ 7,850,193 $ — 
Changes in assumptions or other inputs  5,644,395  — 
Net difference between projected and actual earnings on pension plan 

investments  —  563,724 
Changes in TMWA’s proportion and differences between TMWA's contributions 

and TMWA's proportionate contributions  3,211,421  20,988 
TMWA's contributions subsequent to the measurement date  4,837,476  — 

$ 21,543,485 $ 584,712 

Deferred outflows of resources of $4,837,476 resulted from TMWA's contributions subsequent to the 
measurement date and were recognized as a reduction of the net pension liability in the year ended June 30, 2025.

The average of the expected remaining service lives of all employees that are provided with pensions through 
PERS (active and inactive employees) determined at July 1, 2023 (the beginning of the measurement period 
ended June 30, 2024) is 5.64 years.

Other estimated amounts reported by TMWA as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources 
related to pensions at June 30, 2025 will be recognized in pension expense as follows:

Year Ending June 30,
2026 $ 2,583,224 
2027  8,563,623 
2028  1,152,945 
2029  266,835 
2030  1,038,160 

Additional Information

The PERS ACFR includes additional information including information supporting the schedule of employer 
allocations and the schedule of pension amounts by employer. This report is available on the PERS website at 
www.nvpers.org under Quick Links – Publications.

Deferred Compensation Plans

All employees of TMWA are eligible to participate in a Section 457 Deferred Compensation Plan, monies of 
which are maintained in a trust, separate from the general assets of TMWA. In addition to the Section 457 
Deferred Compensation Plan, all employees are eligible to participate in a Section 401(a) Money Purchase 
Retirement Plan, monies of which are maintained in a trust, separate from the general assets of TMWA. For the 
years ended June 30, 2025 and June 30, 2024, TMWA had matching contributions totaling $2,112,011, and 
$1,934,079, respectively. 

 Table of Contents

Truckee Meadows Water Authority
Notes to Financial Statements

June 30, 2025 and 2024

61



Note 12 - Other Postemployment Benefit (OPEB) Plans 

TMWA has two Other Postemployment Benefit (OPEB) Plans referred to as the §501(c)(9) and §115 plans.   The 
§501(c)(9) plan was established for the benefit of transferred employees from Sierra Pacific Power Company and 
all subsequent new hires until the plan closed, effective December 13, 2018. The §115 Plan plan was formed to 
provide postemployment benefits for employees who transferred from Washoe County as a result of the water 
utility consolidation. Both plans reference the Internal Revenue Code sections under which the plans were 
formed. Both plans' investments are held by the Nevada Retirement Benefits Investment Board.

Census data as of June 30, 2025 for both plans is as follows:

§501(c)(9) Plan §115 Plan
Retirees currently receiving benefits  73  9 
Retirees entitled to, but not yet receiving benefits  1  1 
Active plan members  135  11 
Total  209  21 

Census data as of June 30, 2024 for both plans is as follows:

§501(c)(9) Plan §115 Plan
Retirees currently receiving benefits  70  9 
Retirees entitled to, but not yet receiving benefits  1  1 
Active plan members  143  12 
Total  214  22 

Plan Descriptions, Eligibility Information and Funding Policies

§501(c)(9) Plan

Plan Description. The §501(c)(9) plan known as the Truckee Meadows Water Authority Post-Retirement Medical 
Plan and Trust (Plan), is a single-employer defined benefit OPEB plan that was established to provide eligible 
TMWA employees with postemployment health benefits. The Plan was amended to provide post-retirement life 
insurance benefits in July 2011. Pursuant to Nevada State Administrative Regulations, adopted in September 
2008, the Plan is governed by not less than three, but not more than five trustees. Four trustees were appointed by 
the TMWA Board: two from non-represented employees and two from represented employees. The Plan issues a 
financial report that includes the financial statements and required supplementary information. That report may be 
obtained by contacting TMWA in writing at P.O. Box 30013, Reno, NV 89520-3013.

Eligibility. Effective December 13, 2018, the Board adopted a resolution to close the Plan to employees hired 
after December 13, 2018. Existing employees and plan participants currently receiving benefits were not impacted 
by this resolution. There are three employee classifications eligible for benefits: a pre-January 1, 1998 collective 
bargaining unit group, a post-December 31, 1997 collective bargaining unit group, and a group for management, 
professional, administrative, and technical (MPAT) personnel hired prior to December 14, 2018. Eligibility 
requirements benefit levels, employee contributions, and employer contributions are amended through TMWA’s 
collective bargaining agreements for its represented employees and by the TMWA Board with respect to MPAT 
employees.

Employees must have at least ten years of service to be eligible for benefits and must be at least 55 years of age. 
The pre-January 1, 1998 group of represented employees will receive a subsidy as a percentage of the total health 
premium, dependent upon years of service and age at retirement, with a maximum subsidy of 85% with 20 years 

 Table of Contents

Truckee Meadows Water Authority
Notes to Financial Statements

June 30, 2025 and 2024

62



of credited service. Employees with 20 or more years of service electing the Medicare Risk Contract would pay 
nothing towards health premiums. For this group, dependents are also covered. The post-December 31, 1997 
group of represented employees will receive a total subsidy of $1,250 times years of service towards health care 
premiums. This amount does not grow with interest and once exhausted a retiree may convert to COBRA, but 
only for the 18 month continuation period. 

For MPAT employees, the annual subsidy is $235 times years of service, up to 30 years, prorated for each month 
of retirement while under the age of 65. On or after the age of 65, the subsidy is $105 times years of service 
prorated for each month of retirement while age 65 and older. If an MPAT employee retires and draws benefits 
before age 62, the subsidy is reduced by 5% for each full year retirement precedes age 62. 

There is no extra subsidy for spousal or dependent coverage except continuation benefits provided for under 
COBRA. Retirees are responsible for the remaining portion of premiums. 

Funding Policy. Beginning in fiscal year 2011, the plan has funded retiree benefits through its Voluntary 
Employee Benefit Association (VEBA) that TMWA established as an irrevocable trust for funding of the 
postemployment health benefits. TMWA funds the plan based on the actuarially determined contribution (ADC) 
each year. 

§115 Plan

Plan Description. On December 17, 2014, TMWA formed the Truckee Meadows Water Authority OPEB Trust 
Fund (§115 Plan), a single-employer defined benefit OPEB plan that was established to provide certain eligible 
TMWA employees with postemployment health benefits. This specific plan was formed to provide 
postemployment benefits to qualified transferred Washoe County employees as a result of the water utility 
transfer of operations. STMGID had no employees and was contractually operated by Washoe County. The §115 
Plan is a closed plan that will provide future benefits to the remaining eligible transferred employees, and no new 
beneficiaries can be enrolled in this plan. The Plan issues a financial report that includes the financial statements 
and required supplementary information. That report may be obtained by contacting TMWA in writing at P.O. 
Box 30013, Reno, NV 89520-3013.

Eligibility. There are two employee classifications eligible for benefits in this plan: Tier I and Tier II 
classifications.

For Tier I retirees that have at least ten years but less than 15 years of combined full-time employment with 
Washoe County and/or TMWA, the maximum benefits payable by the §115 Plan is 50% of the premium for 
coverage of such retiree under the benefit plans. For Tier I employees that have at least fifteen years but less than 
twenty years of combined full-time employment with Washoe County and/or TMWA, the maximum benefits 
payable by the §115 Plan is 75% of the premium for coverage of such retiree under the benefit plans. For Tier I 
employees that have at least twenty years of combined full-time employment with Washoe County and/or 
TMWA, the maximum benefits payable by the §115 Plan is 100% of the premium for coverage of such retiree 
under the benefit plans. 

Tier I retirees who have attained the Medicare Eligibility Age (currently age 65) during a plan year must enroll in 
and pay the cost of Medicare Part “A” and Medicare Part “B” or Medicare Part “C” coverage, and the §115 Plan 
will become the secondary payer regardless of whether the retiree enrolls in the Medicare program or not. The 
Medicare Eligibility Age is currently defined as age 65 but will be changed if Medicare changes the eligibility 
age. 

 Table of Contents

Truckee Meadows Water Authority
Notes to Financial Statements

June 30, 2025 and 2024

63



For Tier II retirees the maximum benefits to be paid by the §115 Plan who have not attained Medicare Eligibility 
Age (currently age 65) is to be the same amount as the premium paid for group health coverage by an employer 
for coverage of non-state employees under the Nevada State Public Employee Benefit Plan (PEBP) Retiree Health 
Insurance plan. The 2003 Nevada Legislature passed legislation (AB 286) that afforded public employees of 
Nevada political subdivisions the opportunity to enroll, upon their retirement in the PEBP Retiree Health 
Insurance Plan and obligated public employers of enrolled retirees to pay a portion of the medical premium on the 
retiree’s behalf (the Subsidy). Tier II Retirees are entitled to receive the Subsidy from the §115 Plan towards their 
coverage under the employer Benefit Plans rather than the PEBP Retiree Health Plan.

Tier II retirees who have attained the Medicare Eligibility Age (currently age 65) or older instead receive benefits 
equal to the equivalent of the State of Nevada’s Medicare Exchange Retiree HRA Contribution Subsidy based 
upon the combined years of service with Washoe County and/or TMWA and must elect Medicare. The Medicare 
Eligibility Age is currently defined as age 65 but will be changed if Medicare changes the eligibility age.  In order 
to receive the benefits described, the Tier II employee must be an employee of TMWA immediately prior to 
drawing their retirement benefits.

Funding Policy. The plan funds retiree benefits through an irrevocable trust for funding of the postemployment 
health benefits. TMWA funds the §115 Plan based on the ADC each year. 

OPEB Expense and Net Position

Total OPEB Expense (Benefit) recognized for fiscal years June 30, 2025 and 2024 is below:
§501(c)(9) Plan §115 Plan Total

2025 $ (758,722) $ 43,991 $ (714,731) 
2024 $ (801,540) $ 41,260 $ (760,280) 
Changes in Net Position for each plan for the measurement period ended December 31, 2024 is below:

§ 501(c)(9) Plan §115 Plan

Total OPEB 
Liability

Fiduciary 
Net Position

Net OPEB 
(Asset)/ 
Liability

Total OPEB 
Liability

Fiduciary 
Net Position

Net OPEB 
(Asset)/ 
Liability

Balance at Fiscal Year Ending June 30, 2024 $ 10,805,583 $ 15,465,242 $ (4,659,659) $ 2,398,130 $ 1,749,664 $ 648,466 
Measurement Date - December 31, 2023

Changes During the Period:
Service Cost  201,749  —  201,749  29,073  —  29,073 
Interest Cost  640,820  —  640,820  142,863  —  142,863 
Expected Investment Income  —  912,049  (912,049)  —  103,857  (103,857) 
Employer Contributions  —  169,320  (169,320)  —  74,842  (74,842) 
Auditing Fees  —  (25,675)  25,675  —  (16,485)  16,485 
Investment & Administrative Fees  —  (16,138)  16,138  —  (1,680)  1,680 
Legal Fees  —  (2,363)  2,363  —  (1,794)  1,794 
Retiree Contributions In  —  136,500  (136,500)  —  9,266  (9,266) 
Retiree Contributions Out  —  (136,500)  136,500  —  (9,266)  9,266 
Benefit Payments  (654,010)  (654,010)  —  (92,295)  (92,295)  — 
Assumption Changes  —  —  —  —  —  — 
Plan Experience  —  —  —  —  —  — 
Investment Experience  —  1,169,998  (1,169,998)  —  125,002  (125,002) 

Net Changes  188,559  1,553,181  (1,364,622)  79,641  191,447  (111,806) 
Balance at Fiscal Year Ending June 30, 2025 $ 10,994,142 $ 17,018,423 $ (6,024,281) $ 2,477,771 $ 1,941,111 $ 536,660 

Measurement Date - December 31, 2024

 Table of Contents

Truckee Meadows Water Authority
Notes to Financial Statements

June 30, 2025 and 2024

64



Changes in Net Position for each plan for the measurement period ended December 31, 2023 is below:

§ 501(c)(9) Plan §115 Plan

Total OPEB 
Liability

Fiduciary 
Net Position

Net OPEB 
(Asset)/ 
Liability

Total OPEB 
Liability

Fiduciary 
Net Position

Net OPEB 
(Asset)/ 
Liability

Balance at Fiscal Year Ending June 30, 2023 $ 10,317,346 $ 13,425,771 $ (3,108,425) $ 2,236,255 $ 1,518,320 $ 717,935 
Measurement Date - December 31, 2022

Changes During the Period:
Service Cost  186,748  —  186,748  30,475  —  30,475 
Interest Cost  614,891  —  614,891  133,487  —  133,487 
Expected Investment Income  —  794,246  (794,246)  —  89,822  (89,822) 
Employer Contributions  —  162,921  (162,921)  —  59,115  (59,115) 
Auditing Fees  —  (21,735)  21,735  —  (15,300)  15,300 
Investment & Administrative Fees  —  (3,766)  3,766  —  (410)  410 
Legal Fees  —  (2,300)  2,300  —  (2,100)  2,100 
Retiree Contributions In  —  139,380  (139,380)  —  18,520  (18,520) 
Retiree Contributions Out  —  (139,380)  139,380  —  (18,520)  18,520 
Benefit Payments  (511,806)  (511,806)  —  (83,879)  (83,879)  — 
Assumption Changes  139,717  —  139,717  34,186  —  34,186 
Plan Experience  58,687  —  58,687  47,606  —  47,606 
Investment Experience  —  1,621,911  (1,621,911)  —  184,096  (184,096) 

Net Changes  488,237  2,039,471  (1,551,234)  161,875  231,344  (69,469) 
Balance at Fiscal Year Ending June 30, 2024 $ 10,805,583 $ 15,465,242 $ (4,659,659) $ 2,398,130 $ 1,749,664 $ 648,466 

Measurement Date - December 31, 2023

A schedule of the plans' deferred resources as of June 30, 2025 is below:

§501(c)(9) Plan §115 Plan

Deferred 
Outflows of 
Resources

Deferred 
Inflows of 
Resources

Deferred 
Outflows of 
Resources

Deferred 
Inflows of 
Resources

Changes of Assumptions $ 216,025 $ 151,856 $ 21,551 $ 8,126 
Differences Between Expected and Actual Experience  45,149  1,149,613  36,604  17,547 
Net Difference Between Projected and Actual 

Earnings on Investments  —  961,395  —  105,808 
Contributions Made Subsequent to the Measurement 

Date  241,314  —  53,385  — 
Total $ 502,488 $ 2,262,864 $ 111,540 $ 131,481 

A schedule of the plans' deferred resources as of June 30, 2024 is below:

§501(c)(9) Plan §115 Plan

Deferred 
Outflows of 
Resources

Deferred 
Inflows of 
Resources

Deferred 
Outflows of 
Resources

Deferred 
Inflows of 
Resources

Changes of Assumptions $ 264,346 $ 181,807 $ 36,692 $ 16,013 
Differences Between Expected and Actual Experience  51,918  1,448,428  60,674  44,542 
Net Difference Between Projected and Actual 

Earnings on Investments  —  251,139  —  29,182 
Contributions Made Subsequent to the Measurement 

Date  168,572  —  39,008  — 
Total $ 484,836 $ 1,881,374 $ 136,374 $ 89,737 

 Table of Contents

Truckee Meadows Water Authority
Notes to Financial Statements

June 30, 2025 and 2024

65



TMWA will recognize the contributions made subsequent to the measurement date in the next fiscal year. In 
addition, future recognition of other deferred resources as of June 30, 2025 is shown below:

§501(c)(9) Plan §115 Plan

Year Ended June 30,

Deferred Inflows 
(Outflows) Recognized 

in OPEB Expense

Deferred Inflows 
(Outflows) Recognized 

in OPEB Expense
2026 $ 512,063 $ 13,776 
2027  204,303  (26,664) 
2028  832,059  61,212 
2029  392,556  25,002 
2030  90,954  — 
Thereafter  (30,245)  — 

Actuarial Valuation Assumptions

The total OPEB liability as of December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023 was determined using the following 
actuarial assumptions. 

Healthcare trend rate (both plans) - TMWA plan medical premiums and per capita claims costs are assumed to 
increase at the following rates:

Effective 
January 1

Premium 
Increase

Effective 
January 1

Premium 
Increase

2024 Actual 2040-2043 4.8%
2025 6.5% 2044-2049 4.7%
2026 6.0% 2050-2059 4.6%
2027 5.5% 2060-2065 4.5%
2028 5.4% 2066-2067 4.4%
2029 5.3% 2068-2069 4.3%
2030 5.2% 2070 4.2%
2031 5.1% 2071-2072 4.1%
2032-2037 5.0% 2073-2074 4.0%
2038-2039 4.9% 2075 & Later 3.9%

 Table of Contents

Truckee Meadows Water Authority
Notes to Financial Statements

June 30, 2025 and 2024

66



Additional significant assumptions are listed below for each plan:

Assumption §501(c)(9) Plan §115 Plan
Valuation Date December 31, 2023 December 31, 2023
Funding Method Entry Age Normal Cost, level percent of pay Entry Age Normal Cost, level percent of pay
Asset Valuation Method Fair value of assets Fair value of assets
Mortality MacLeod Watts Scale 2022 applied generationally from 

2010
MacLeod Watts Scale 2022 applied generationally from 
2010

Long-Term Return on Assets 
and Discount Rate

6.0% net of plan investment and trust expenses 6.0% net of plan investment and trust expenses

Participants Valued Only current active employees and retired participants and 
covered dependents are valued. This plan is now closed. 

Only current active employees and retired participants and 
covered dependents are valued. This plan is now closed.

Salary Increase 3.0% per year; since benefits do not depend on salary, this is 
used to allocate the cost of benefits between service years.

3.0% per year; since benefits do not depend on salary, this is 
used to allocate the cost of benefits between service years.

General Inflation Rate 2.5% per year 2.5% per year

Medicare Eligibility Absent contrary data, all individuals are assumed to be 
eligible for Medicare Parts A and B at 65. Retirees over age 
65 who are not eligible for Medicare are assumed to remain 
ineligible.

Absent contrary data, all individuals are assumed to be 
eligible for Medicare Parts A and B at 65. 

Employer Cost Sharing IBEW Pre - 1998 Hires: Increases in the PRMPT-paid 
portion of healthcare premiums are assumed to increase at 
the same rates as medical trend (described above).

IBEW Post-1997 Hires: The $1,250 service multiplier is
assumed to remain fixed at its current level in all future 
years. Retirees are expected to exhaust the lifetime 
allowance 4 years following retirement.

MPAT: The $235 (pre-65) and $105 (post-65) service
multipliers are assumed to remain fixed at their current level 
in all future years.

Tier 1: The Trust-paid portion of healthcare
premiums is assumed to increase at the same rates as
medical trend (described above).

Tier 2: The TMWA subsidy provided prior to age 65 is 
assumed to increase at the same rates as medical trend. The 
subsidy provided at ages 65 and above is assumed to
increase by 4.5% per year.

GASB Statement No. 75 allows reporting liabilities as of any fiscal year end based on: (1) a valuation date no 
more than 30 months plus 1 day prior to the close of the fiscal year end; and (2) a measurement date up to one
year prior to the close of the fiscal year. The following dates were used for this report:

 Fiscal Year End   June 30, 2025
 Measurement Date   December 31, 2024
 Measurement Period  January 1, 2024 to December 31, 2024
 Valuation Date    December 31, 2023

Fiscal Year End   June 30, 2024
 Measurement Date   December 31, 2023
 Measurement Period  January 1, 2023 to December 31, 2023
 Valuation Date    December 31, 2023

The discount rate used for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2025 and 2024 is 6.0%. The Healthcare Cost Trend Rate 
for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2025 and 2024 were assumed to start at 6.5% (increase effective January 1, 
2025) and grade down to 3.9% for years 2075 and later. The impact of a 1% increase or decrease in these 
assumptions is shown in the charts below.

 Table of Contents

Truckee Meadows Water Authority
Notes to Financial Statements

June 30, 2025 and 2024

67



Measurement Date - December 31, 2024

§501(c)(9) Plan Discount Rate Medical Cost Inflation
Discount Rate Current Discount Rate Medical Trend Current Medical Trend

- 1% Discount Rate + 1 % - 1% Medical Trend + 1 %
Total OPEB Liability $ 12,130,757 $ 10,994,142 $ 10,005,823 $ 10,182,299 $ 10,994,142 $ 11,949,565 

Net OPEB Liability (Asset) $ (4,887,666) $ (6,024,281) $ (7,012,600) $ (6,836,124) $ (6,024,281) $ (5,068,858) 

§115 Plan Discount Rate Medical Cost Inflation
Discount Rate Current Discount Rate Medical Trend Current Medical Trend

-1% Discount Rate +1% -1% Medical Trend +1%
Total OPEB Liability $ 2,776,065 $ 2,477,771 $ 2,225,600 $ 2,208,220 $ 2,477,771 $ 2,799,703 

Net OPEB Liability (Asset) $ 834,954 $ 536,660 $ 284,489 $ 267,109 $ 536,660 $ 858,592 

Measurement Date - December 31, 2023

§501(c)(9) Plan Discount Rate Medical Cost Inflation
Discount Rate Current Discount Rate Medical Trend Current Medical Trend

- 1% Discount Rate + 1 % - 1% Medical Trend + 1 %
Total OPEB Liability $ 11,939,137 $ 10,805,583 $ 9,822,307 $ 10,007,664 $ 10,805,583 $ 11,744,620 

Net OPEB Liability (Asset) $ (3,526,105) $ (4,659,659) $ (5,642,935) $ (5,457,578) $ (4,659,659) $ (3,720,622) 

§115 Plan Discount Rate Medical Cost Inflation
Discount Rate Current Discount Rate Medical Trend Current Medical Trend

- 1% Discount Rate + 1 % - 1% Medical Trend + 1 %
Total OPEB Liability $ 2,697,124 $ 2,398,130 $ 2,146,271 $ 2,137,243 $ 2,398,130 $ 2,709,714 

Net OPEB Liability (Asset) $ 947,460 $ 648,466 $ 396,607 $ 387,579 $ 648,466 $ 960,050 

OPEB Plans Fiduciary Net Position

Detailed information about the OPEB plans fiduciary net position are available in separately issued financial 
statements and can be requested by contacting TMWA's Finance Department at P.O. Box 30013, Reno, NV 
89520-3013.

Note 13 - Commitments

TMWA has committed $800,000 as a contribution to the Truckee River Fund of the Community Foundation of 
Western Nevada for the purposes of water shed protection and enhancements to the Truckee River that will 
benefit the water customers of TMWA. This payment was made in August 2025.

Under a Water Resource Purchase Agreement effective March 2022, TMWA committed to purchasing 400 acre-
feet of water rights from Fish Springs Ranch, LLC for a total purchase price of $10 million. The purchase price is 
payable in ten $1 million tranches over ten years. The first payment was made in November 2022. 

From time to time, TMWA enters into agreements with developers for water infrastructure that benefits both new 
development and existing customers. TMWA is obligated to reimburse the developers for the portion of the 

 Table of Contents

Truckee Meadows Water Authority
Notes to Financial Statements

June 30, 2025 and 2024

68



infrastructure that benefits existing customers. As of June 30, 2025, TMWA is under contract for five such 
agreements. The commitment amounts, likely payable over the next one to three years, are based on the final 
construction costs which are not all known as of June 30, 2025, but are estimated to be up to $9.0 million.

Note 14 -  Impairment Loss

In September 2024, a fast-moving wildfire ignited in Davis Creek Regional Park in Washoe Valley, Nevada. The 
"Davis Fire" burned nearly 6,000 acres and destroyed numerous structures. During this emergency, TMWA's Old 
Washoe Well 4 facility sustained physical damage. Specifically, the well building and the equipment housed 
within it were completely lost. Underground well components were not affected. 

TMWA followed GASB Statement No. 42, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Impairment of Capital Assets 
and for Insurance Recoveries, to account for the activity. TMWA used the Restoration Cost Approach to calculate 
an impairment loss and netted the insurance recovery against it as detailed below: 

Impairment Loss $ 579,800 
Less: Insurance Recovery  (94,600) 

Net Impairment Loss $ 485,200 

TMWA included the Net Impairment Loss in Services and Supplies on the Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and 
Changes in Net Position for the year ended June 30, 2025. 

The Old Washoe Well 4 underground components that were not damaged have a remaining carrying value of 
$145,000 and were considered idle as of June 30, 2025. Reconstruction of the well is in progress, and the well is 
expected to be placed back in service during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2026.

An additional insurance recovery will likely be received during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2026 and will be 
recorded as nonoperating revenue when the amount becomes realizable.

Note 15 -  Restatement

TMWA adopted GASB Statement No. 101, Compensated Absences, in the fiscal year ended June 30, 2025. The 
implementation of this standard requires that liabilities for compensated absences be recognized for leave that has 
not been used and for leave that has been used but not yet paid in cash or settled through noncash means. Changes 
adopted to conform to the provisions of the statement must be reported as a change in accounting principle in 
accordance with GASB Statement No. 100, Accounting Changes and Error Corrections. Beginning net position 
for the year ended June 30, 2024 was not restated as the net impact of the change was immaterial. However, the 
below amounts previously reported for the year ended June 30, 2024 were restated as follows:

June 30, 2024
As Previously 

Reported
GASB 101 

Implementation
June 30, 2024
As Restated

Current portion of compensated absences $ 590,937 $ 955,583 $ 1,546,520 
Compensated absences, net of current portion  3,213,205  309,011  3,522,216 
Unrestricted net position  37,941,681  (1,264,594)  36,677,087 
Salaries and wages  30,637,686  1,264,594  31,902,280 

 Table of Contents

Truckee Meadows Water Authority
Notes to Financial Statements

June 30, 2025 and 2024

69



Note 16 -  Change in Estimate

Per GASB Statement No. 100, Accounting Changes and Error Corrections, accounting estimates are outputs 
determined based on inputs such as data, assumptions, and measurement methodologies. A change in an 
accounting estimate occurs when inputs change. Changes to inputs result from a change in circumstance, new 
information, or more experience.

During the year ended June 30, 2025, TMWA updated its measurement methodology for the Net Investment in 
Capital Assets component of Net Position based on additional experience. The newly adopted measurement 
methodology is preferable to the measurement methodology used before the change because it better satisfies the 
qualitative characteristics of financial reporting. In particular, TMWA believes the new methodology improves 
financial statement reliability and comparability by proportionately allocating prior principal payments on the 
2016 and 2017 refunding bonds outstanding to the percentage of bonds from the original issuance of the 2001A 
bond proceeds that were not used for capital purposes.

The below financial statement line items were affected by this change in estimate: 

June 30, 2025
Net Position

Net investment in capital assets $ 883,414,142 
Restricted for operations and maintenance  14,613,579 
Unrestricted  56,648,848 

Note 17 -  Subsequent Events

In August 2025, TMWA executed a Power Purchase Agreement (PPA) with Switched On LLC for the sale of 
hydroelectric power generated from TMWA's three run-of-the-river hydroelectric facilities located along the 
Truckee River. The PPA will become effective following the expiration of TMWA's existing PPAs with Sierra 
Pacific Power Company in 2028 and 2029. The terms of the new PPA include an initial price of $120/MWh, 
escalating at 1% annually for 20 years.

In September 2025, TMWA finalized a $30 million grant agreement with the Bureau of Reclamation to fund the 
construction of the two million gallon per day Advanced Purified Water treatment facility at American Flat. Per 
the terms of the Interlocal Agreement with City of Reno, TMWA will share these funds with the City of Reno 
according to the agreed upon cost split. 

 Table of Contents

Truckee Meadows Water Authority
Notes to Financial Statements

June 30, 2025 and 2024

70



Required Supplementary Information
Truckee Meadows Water Authority

Table of Contents

71



2025 2024 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
§501(c)(9) Plan
Total OPEB Liability
Service Cost $ 201,749 $ 186,748 $ 181,309 $ 229,280 $ 222,602 $ 307,252 $ 295,437 $ 284,073 $ 273,146 
Interest  640,820  614,891  596,546  636,038  609,728  682,186  648,751  612,850  576,050 
Differences between expected and actual experience  —  58,687  —  (760,853)  —  (2,013,876)  —  —  — 
Changes of assumptions (2)  —  139,717  —  (271,660)  —  301,774  —  —  — 
Benefit payments  (654,010)  (511,806)  (443,277)  (442,780)  (358,251)  (442,363)  (355,168)  (264,699)  (228,880) 
Total OPEB Liability - Beginning  10,805,583  10,317,346  9,982,768  10,592,743  10,118,664  11,283,691  10,694,671  10,062,447  9,442,131 
Total OPEB Liability - Ending $ 10,994,142 $ 10,805,583 $ 10,317,346 $ 9,982,768 $ 10,592,743 $ 10,118,664 $ 11,283,691 $ 10,694,671 $ 10,062,447 

Plan Fiduciary Net Position
Contributions - employer $ 169,320 $ 162,921 $ 76,785 $ 63,156 $ 131,267 $ 258,430 $ 324,529 $ 445,063 $ 244,429 
Net investment income (loss)  2,082,047  2,416,157  (2,190,083)  2,369,210  1,845,954  2,301,207  (524,654)  1,515,031  536,863 
Benefit payments  (654,010)  (511,806)  (443,277)  (442,780)  (358,251)  (442,363)  (355,168)  (264,699)  (228,880) 
Auditing fees  (25,675)  (21,735)  (18,600)  (18,775)  (18,490)  (12,600)  (18,545)  (15,500)  (12,900) 
Investment & administrative fees  (16,138)  (3,766)  (4,605)  (4,938)  (2,954)  (3,206)  (3,441)  (2,612)  (2,490) 
Legal fees  (2,363)  (2,300)  (1,931)  —  —  (1,750)  (5,250)  (19,268)  (1,663) 
Retiree contributions in  136,500  139,380  128,878  110,022  111,103  103,249  117,015  93,172  90,145 
Retiree contributions out  (136,500)  (139,380)  (128,878)  (110,022)  (111,103)  (103,249)  (117,015)  (93,172)  (90,145) 
Net change in plan fiduciary net position  1,553,181  2,039,471  (2,581,711)  1,965,873  1,597,526  2,099,718  (582,529)  1,658,015  535,359 
Plan fiduciary net position - beginning  15,465,242  13,425,771  16,007,482  14,041,609  12,444,083  10,344,365  10,926,894  9,268,879  8,733,520 
Plan fiduciary net position - ending $ 17,018,423 $ 15,465,242 $ 13,425,771 $ 16,007,482 $ 14,041,609 $ 12,444,083 $ 10,344,365 $ 10,926,894 $ 9,268,879 
Net OPEB liability (asset) - ending $ (6,024,281) $ (4,659,659) $ (3,108,425) $ (6,024,714) $ (3,448,866) $ (2,325,419) $ 939,326 $ (232,223) $ 793,568 
Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of total OPEB liability  154.8 %  143.1 %  130.1 %  160.4 %  132.6 %  123.0 %  91.7 %  102.2 %  92.1 %

Covered-employee payroll, as of 12/31 measurement date $ 21,177,257 $ 20,242,089 $ 20,105,987 $ 21,664,461 $ 19,385,303 $ 21,658,320 $ 20,674,304 $ 18,517,678 $ 17,467,908 
Net OPEB liability (asset) as a percentage of covered-employee payroll  (28.4) %  (23.0) %  (15.5) %  (27.8) %  (17.8) %  (10.7) %  4.5 %  (1.3) %  4.5 %

Notes to Schedule

*Historical information is required only for measurement periods for which GASB Statement No. 75 is applicable. Future years' information will be disclosed up to 10 years as information becomes available.

(1) Effective December 13, 2018, the Board adopted a resolution to close the Plan to employees hired on or after December 13, 2018.
(2) In 2022, mortality tables were updated from MacLeod Watts Scale 2018 to MacLeod Watts Scale 2022. The Healthcare Cost Trend Rate for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2025 was assumed to start at 6.5% 
(increase effective January 1, 2025) and grade down to 3.9% for years 2075 and later. The Healthcare Cost Trend Rate for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2024 was assumed to start at 5.8% (increase effective 
January 1, 2023) and grade down to 3.9% for years 2076 and later. In 2020, mortality tables were updated from MacLeod Watts Scale 2017 to MacLeod Watts Scale 2018; and the medical trend model was updated 
from combined sources, Nevada Public Employee Benefit Plan along with other healthcare trends, to the Getzen healthcare trend model. 

Table of Contents

Truckee Meadows Water Authority
Schedules of Changes in Net OPEB Liability and Related Ratios

Last Ten Fiscal Years*

72



2025 2024 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
§115 Plan
Total OPEB Liability
Service Cost $ 29,073 $ 30,475 $ 29,587 $ 35,820 $ 34,777 $ 59,239 $ 56,960 $ 54,769 $ 52,663 
Interest  142,863  133,487  128,719  122,661  117,350  119,591  111,978  103,644  94,941 
Differences between expected and actual experience  —  47,606  —  61,652  —  (179,517)  —  —  — 
Changes of assumptions (1)  —  34,186  —  (39,674)  —  44,279  —  —  — 
Benefit payments  (92,295)  (83,879)  (75,573)  (70,936)  (58,361)  (54,605)  (34,065)  (9,334)  — 
Total OPEB Liability - Beginning  2,398,130  2,236,255  2,153,522  2,043,999  1,950,233  1,961,246  1,826,373  1,677,294  1,529,690 
Total OPEB Liability - Ending $ 2,477,771 $ 2,398,130 $ 2,236,255 $ 2,153,522 $ 2,043,999 $ 1,950,233 $ 1,961,246 $ 1,826,373 $ 1,677,294 

Plan Fiduciary Net Position
Contributions - employer $ 74,842 $ 59,115 $ 71,680 $ 117,922 $ 85,743 $ 121,798 $ 119,366 $ 103,441 $ 151,176 
Net investment income (loss)  228,859  273,918  (234,401)  248,073  193,517  220,823  (46,458)  126,004  35,423 
Benefit payments  (92,295)  (83,879)  (75,573)  (70,936)  (58,361)  (54,605)  (34,065)  (9,334)  — 
Auditing fees  (16,485)  (15,300)  (14,800)  (14,000)  (14,000)  (12,100)  (13,690)  (6,000)  (8,900) 
Investment & administrative fees  (1,680)  (410)  (496)  (517)  (306)  (315)  (770)  (780)  (675) 
Legal fees  (1,794)  (2,100)  (4,888)  —  —  (4,288)  (5,864)  (788)  (1,138) 
Retiree contributions in  9,266  18,520  20,741  23,102  22,947  21,302  5,244  930  — 
Retiree contributions out  (9,266)  (18,520)  (20,741)  (23,102)  (22,947)  (21,302)  (5,244)  (930)  — 
Net change in plan fiduciary net position  191,447  231,344  (258,478)  280,542  206,593  271,313  18,519  212,543  175,886 
Plan fiduciary net position - beginning  1,749,664  1,518,320  1,776,798  1,496,256  1,289,663  1,018,350  999,831  787,288  611,402 
Plan fiduciary net position - ending $ 1,941,111 $ 1,749,664 $ 1,518,320 $ 1,776,798 $ 1,496,256 $ 1,289,663 $ 1,018,350 $ 999,831 $ 787,288 
Net OPEB liability - ending $ 536,660 $ 648,466 $ 717,935 $ 376,724 $ 547,743 $ 660,570 $ 942,896 $ 826,542 $ 890,006 
Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of total OPEB liability  78.3 %  73.0 %  67.9 %  82.5 %  73.2 %  66.1 %  51.9 %  54.7 %  46.9 %

Covered-employee payroll, as of 12/31 measurement date $ 1,655,917 $ 1,585,104 $ 1,623,630 $ 1,593,312 $ 1,558,683 $ 1,688,340 $ 1,954,488 $ 1,951,733 $ 1,992,447 
Net OPEB liability as a percentage of covered-employee payroll  32.4 %  40.9 %  44.2 %  23.6 %  35.1 %  39.1 %  48.2 %  42.3 %  44.7 %

Notes to Schedule

*Historical information is required only for measurement periods for which GASB Statement No. 75 is applicable. Future years' information will be disclosed up to 10 years as information becomes available.

(1) In 2022, mortality tables were updated from MacLeod Watts Scale 2018 to MacLeod Watts Scale 2022. The Healthcare Cost Trend Rate for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2025 was assumed to start at 6.5% 
(increase effective January 1, 2025) and grade down to 3.9% for years 2075 and later. The Healthcare Cost Trend Rate for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2024 was assumed to start at 5.8% (increase effective 
January 1, 2023) and grade down to 3.9% for years 2076 and later. In 2020, mortality tables were updated from MacLeod Watts Scale 2017 to MacLeod Watts Scale 2018; and the medical trend model was updated 
from combined sources, Nevada Public Employee Benefit Plan along with other healthcare trends, to the Getzen healthcare trend model.  

Table of Contents

Truckee Meadows Water Authority
Schedules of Changes in Net OPEB Liability and Related Ratios

Last Ten Fiscal Years*

73



2025 2024 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017

§501(c)(9) Plan

Actuarially Determined Contribution $ — $ — $ — $ 63,677 $ 56,323 $ 50,113 $ 298,077 $ 284,882 $ 445,063 

Contributions in relation to the actuarially determined contribution  242,062  169,319  162,922  76,785  60,499  127,724  258,430  324,529  445,063 

Contribution deficiency (excess)  (242,062)  (169,319)  (162,922)  (13,108)  (4,176)  (77,611)  39,647  (39,647)  — 

Covered-employee payroll  21,065,658  22,168,705  20,627,142  21,319,564  21,850,032  21,402,817  21,538,008  19,282,157  17,924,948 

Contributions as a percentage of covered employee payroll  1.1 %  0.8 %  0.8 %  0.4 %  0.3 %  0.6 %  1.2 %  1.7 %  2.5 %

§115 Plan

Actuarially Determined Contribution $ 89,219 $ 57,219 $ 56,289 $ 87,404 $ 86,813 $ 85,743 $ 121,798 $ 119,366 $ 103,441 

Contributions in relation to the actuarially determined contribution  89,219  57,219  56,289  87,404  101,635  70,921  121,798  119,366  103,441 

Contribution deficiency (excess)  —  —  —  —  (14,822)  14,822  —  —  — 

Covered-employee payroll  1,689,868  1,682,451  1,690,741  1,618,829  1,679,850  1,714,076  1,841,575  1,955,987  1,965,933 

Contributions as a percentage of covered employee payroll  5.3 %  3.4 %  3.3 %  5.4 %  6.1 %  4.1 %  6.6 %  6.1 %  5.3 %

Notes to Schedule

*Historical information is required only for measurement periods for which GASB Statement No. 75 is applicable. Future years' information will be disclosed up to 10 
years as information becomes available.

The Healthcare Cost Trend Rate for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2025 was assumed to start at 6.5% (increase effective January 1, 2025) and grade down to 3.9% for 
years 2075 and later. The Healthcare Cost Trend Rate for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2024 was assumed to start at 5.8% (increase effective January 1, 2023) and grade 
down to 3.9% for years 2076 and later. Previously, the healthcare cost trend rate was assumed to start at 7.0% (increase effective January 1, 2021) and grade down to 
4.0% for years 2076 and later.

Table of Contents

Truckee Meadows Water Authority
Schedules of OPEB Contributions

Last Ten Fiscal Years*

74



Additional significant assumptions are listed below for each plan:

Assumption §501(c)(9) Plan §115 Plan

Valuation Date December 31, 2023 December 31, 2023
Funding Method Entry Age Normal Cost, level percent of pay Entry Age Normal Cost, level percent of pay
Asset Valuation Method Fair value of assets Fair value of assets
Mortality MacLeod Watts Scale 2022 applied generationally from 2010 MacLeod Watts Scale 2022 applied generationally from 2010

Long-Term Return on Assets and Discount Rate 6.0% net of plan investment and trust expenses 6.0% net of plan investment and trust expenses

Participants Valued Only current active employees and retired participants and covered 
dependents are valued. This plan is now closed. 

Only current active employees and retired participants and covered 
dependents are valued. This plan is now closed.

Salary Increase 3.0% per year; since benefits do not depend on salary, this is used to allocate 
the cost of benefits between service years.

3.0% per year; since benefits do not depend on salary, this is used to allocate 
the cost of benefits between service years.

General Inflation Rate 2.5% per year 2.5% per year

Medicare Eligibility Absent contrary data, all individuals are assumed to be eligible for Medicare 
Parts A and B at 65. Retirees over age 65 who are not eligible for Medicare 
are assumed to remain ineligible.

Absent contrary data, all individuals are assumed to be eligible for Medicare 
Parts A and B at 65. 

Employer Cost Sharing IBEW Pre - 1998 Hires: Increases in the PRMPT-paid portion of healthcare 
premiums are assumed to increase at the same rates as medical trend 
(described above).

IBEW Post-1997 Hires: The $1,250 service multiplier is
assumed to remain fixed at its current level in all future years. Retirees are 
expected to exhaust the lifetime allowance 4 years following retirement.

MPAT: The $235 (pre-65) and $105 (post-65) service
multipliers are assumed to remain fixed at their current level in all future 
years.

Tier 1: The Trust-paid portion of healthcare
premiums is assumed to increase at the same rates as
medical trend (described above).

Tier 2: The TMWA subsidy provided prior to age 65 is assumed to increase 
at the same rates as medical trend. The subsidy provided at ages 65 and 
above is assumed to
increase by 4.5% per year.

Table of Contents

Truckee Meadows Water Authority
Schedules of OPEB Contributions

Last Ten Fiscal Years*

75



2024 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

TMWA's proportion of the net pension liability  0.3364 %  0.3300 %  0.3179 %  0.3131 %  0.3029 %  0.2976 %  0.2761 %  0.2806 %  0.2674 %  0.2345 %

TMWA's proportionate share of the net pension 
liability $ 60,778,967 $ 60,226,778 $ 57,394,508 $ 28,552,406 $ 42,191,934 $ 40,582,611 $ 37,658,701 $ 37,323,782 $ 35,783,246 $ 26,869,406 

TMWA's covered payroll $ 29,056,002 $ 25,655,419 $ 23,523,549 $ 22,379,402 $ 21,627,820 $ 20,440,658 $ 18,259,883 $ 17,947,692 $ 16,314,669 $ 14,077,995 

TMWA's proportionate share of the net pension 
liability as a percentage of its covered payroll  209.18 %  234.75 %  243.99 %  127.58 %  195.08 %  198.54 %  206.24 %  207.96 %  219.33 %  190.86 %

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the 
total pension liability  78.11 %  76.16 %  75.12 %  86.51 %  77.04 %  76.46 %  75.24 %  74.42 %  72.23 %  75.13 %

Table of Contents

Truckee Meadows Water Authority
Schedules of TMWA's Share of Net Pension Liability

Public Employees' Retirement System of Nevada (PERS)
Last Ten Fiscal Years

76



Significant assumptions are listed below:

Assumption 2023 - 2021 2020 - 2017 2016 - 2014
Inflation Rate 2.50% 2.75% 3.50%
Payroll Growth 3.50% 5.00% 5.00%
Investment Rate of Return / 
Discount Rate

7.25% 7.50% 8.00%

Productivity Pay Increase 0.50% 0.50% 0.75%
Projected Salary Increases

Regular* 4.20% to 9.10% 4.25% to 9.15% 4.60% to 9.75%
Police/Fire* 4.60% to 14.50% 4.55% to 13.90% 5.25% to 14.50%

Consumer Price Index 2.50% 2.75% 3.50%
Mortality Rates

Healthy** Pub-2010 General and Safety 
Healthy Retiree and Employee

Headcount-Weighted RP-2014 
Healthy

RP-2000 Combined Healthy 
Mortality Table

Disabled Pub-2010 Non-Safety and 
Safety Disabled Retiree 
Amount-Weighted

Headcount-Weighted RP-2014 
Disabled

RP-2000 Disabled Retiree 
Mortality Table

Current Beneficiaries** Pub-2010 Contingent Survivor 
and General Employee

Headcount-Weighted RP-2014 
Healthy

N/A

Pre-retirement** Pub-2010 General and Safety 
Employee

Headcount-Weighted RP-2014 
Employee

N/A

Future Mortality 
Improvement

Generational Projection Scale 
MP-2020

6 years N/A

*Depending on service; rates include inflation and productivity increases. 
**Amount-Weighted Above-Median.

Table of Contents

Truckee Meadows Water Authority
Schedules of TMWA's Share of Net Pension Liability

Public Employees' Retirement System of Nevada (PERS)
Last Ten Fiscal Years

77



2025 2024 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016

Statutorily required contribution $ 5,308,925 $ 4,837,476 $ 3,819,668 $ 3,496,584 $ 3,277,098 $ 3,156,332 $ 2,865,963 $ 2,562,356 $ 5,037,877 $ 4,534,811 

Contributions in relation to the statutorily required 
contribution $ 5,308,925 $ 4,837,476 $ 3,819,668 $ 3,496,584 $ 3,277,098 $ 3,156,332 $ 2,865,963 $ 2,562,356 $ 5,037,877 $ 4,534,811 

Contribution (deficiency) excess $ — $ — $ — $ — $ — $ — $ — $ — $ — $ — 

TMWA’s covered payroll $ 31,627,239 $ 29,056,002 $ 25,655,419 $ 23,523,549 $ 22,379,402 $ 21,627,820 $ 20,440,658 $ 18,259,883 $ 17,947,692 $ 16,314,669 

Contributions as a percentage of covered payroll  16.79 %  16.65 %  14.89 %  14.86 %  14.64 %  14.59 %  14.02 %  14.03 %  28.07 %  27.80 %

Notes to Schedule

Beginning in 2018, contributions reflect employer-paid contributions only due to GASB Statement No. 82, which classifies contributions as member contributions for the 
purposes of GASB Statement No. 68, if they are made by an employer to satisfy what are actually deemed to be member contribution requirements. 

Table of Contents

Truckee Meadows Water Authority
Schedules of TMWA's Pension Contributions

Public Employees' Retirement System of Nevada (PERS)
Last Ten Fiscal Years

78



Supplementary Information
June 30, 2025 and 2024 
Truckee Meadows Water Authority

Table of Contents

79



Final 
Budget Actual

(Under) Over
Budget

Operating Revenues
Charges for water sales $ 123,715,379 $ 123,985,263 $ 269,884 
Hydroelectric sales  2,963,889  4,184,797  1,220,908 
Other operating sales  3,600,377  4,134,516  534,139 

Total operating revenues  130,279,645  132,304,576  2,024,931 

Operating Expenses
Salaries and wages  35,083,573  35,300,194  216,621 
Employee benefits  15,835,901  16,375,475  539,574 
Services and supplies  46,074,717  41,158,180  (4,916,537) 

Total operating expenses before depreciation  96,994,191  92,833,849  (4,160,342) 

Depreciation  35,590,563  36,697,431  1,106,868 

Total operating expenses  132,584,754  129,531,280  (3,053,474) 

Operating Income (Loss)  (2,305,109)  2,773,296  5,078,405 

Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses)
Investment earnings  5,103,838  5,962,196  858,358 
Net increase in fair value of investments  —  3,186,319  3,186,319 
Loss on disposal of assets  (1,442,800)  (1,223,332)  219,468 
Interest expense  (8,878,315)  (8,899,073)  (20,758) 

Total nonoperating revenues (expenses)  (5,217,277)  (973,890)  4,243,387 

Income (Loss) before Capital Contributions  (7,522,386)  1,799,406  9,321,792 

Capital Contributions
Grants  3,098,500  1,437,531  (1,660,969) 
Water resource sustainability program  969,677  441,344  (528,333) 
Developer infrastructure contributions  14,819,179  19,554,670  4,735,491 
Developer will-serve contributions  5,232,000  11,206,014  5,974,014 
Developer capital contributions  —  5,096,653  5,096,653 
Developer facility charges  16,106,141  11,639,329  (4,466,812) 
Contributions from others  65,845  113,360  47,515 
Contributions from other governments  5,700,000  3,542,488  (2,157,512) 

Net capital contributions  45,991,342  53,031,389  7,040,047 

Change in Net Position $ 38,468,956 $ 54,830,795 $ 16,361,839 

Table of Contents

Truckee Meadows Water Authority
Schedule of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position - Budget and Actual

Year Ended June 30, 2025

80



Final 
Budget

Restated
Actual

(Under) Over 
Budget

Operating Revenues
Charges for water sales $ 116,653,419 $ 113,961,589 $ (2,691,830) 
Hydroelectric sales  3,355,681  4,193,494  837,813 
Other operating sales  3,322,025  4,220,374  898,349 

Total operating revenues  123,331,125  122,375,457  (955,668) 

Operating Expenses
Salaries and wages  31,654,292  31,902,280  247,988 
Employee benefits  13,865,891  16,283,832  2,417,941 
Services and supplies  44,029,570  37,552,454  (6,477,116) 

Total operating expenses before depreciation  89,549,753  85,738,566  (3,811,187) 

Depreciation  35,460,610  36,500,513  1,039,903 

Total operating expenses  125,010,363  122,239,079  (2,771,284) 

Operating Income (Loss)  (1,679,238)  136,378  1,815,616 

Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses)
Investment earnings  4,870,030  1,761,755  (3,108,275) 
Net decrease in fair value of investments  —  7,185,606  7,185,606 
Loss on disposal of assets  (1,643,000)  (3,544,836)  (1,901,836) 
Debt issuance costs  —  (499,000)  (499,000) 
Interest expense  (11,028,721)  (10,181,533)  847,188 

Total nonoperating revenues (expenses)  (7,801,691)  (5,278,008)  2,523,683 

Income (Loss) before Capital Contributions  (9,480,929)  (5,141,630)  4,339,299 

Capital Contributions
Grants  2,687,700  9,658,905  6,971,205 
Water resource sustainability program  1,128,328  1,097,584  (30,744) 
Developer infrastructure contributions  15,344,792  9,962,594  (5,382,198) 
Developer will-serve contributions  5,214,000  5,507,199  293,199 
Developer capital contributions  8,905,657  6,026,121  (2,879,536) 
Developer facility charges  7,946,883  12,874,933  4,928,050 
Contributions from others  —  73,095  73,095 
Contributions from other governments  14,100,000  4,800,936  (9,299,064) 

Net capital contributions  55,327,360  50,001,367  (5,325,993) 

Change in Net Position $ 45,846,431 $ 44,859,737 $ (986,694) 

Table of Contents

Truckee Meadows Water Authority
Schedule of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position - Budget and Actual

Year Ended June 30, 2024

81



§501(c)(9) Plan §115 Plan Total
December 31, 2024

Assets
Cash $ 186,896 $ 46,435 $ 233,331 
Receivables from plan members  12,669  618  13,287 
Investments, at fair value  16,971,264  1,905,323  18,876,587 

Total assets  17,170,829  1,952,376  19,123,205 

Liabilities
Accounts payable 152,406 11,265 163,671

Net Position Restricted for Postemployment Benefits 
Other than Pensions $ 17,018,423 $ 1,941,111 $ 18,959,534 

December 31, 2023

Assets
Cash $ 170,310 $ 26,657 $ 196,967 
Receivables from plan members  10,740  1,543  12,283 
Investments, at fair value  15,390,220  1,731,235  17,121,455 

Total assets  15,571,270  1,759,435  17,330,705 

Liabilities
Accounts payable  106,028 9,771  115,799 

Net Position Restricted for Postemployment Benefits 
Other than Pensions $ 15,465,242 $ 1,749,664 $ 17,214,906 

Table of Contents

Truckee Meadows Water Authority
Combining Statement of Fiduciary Net Position - Other Postemployment Benefit Trust Funds 

December 31, 2024 and 2023 

82



§501(c)(9) Plan §115 Plan Total
Year Ended December 31, 2024
Additions

Net investment income $ 1,941,044 $ 219,088 $ 2,160,132 
Employer contributions  — 54,044 54,044

Total additions  1,941,044  273,132  2,214,176 
Deductions

Benefit payments  348,192  62,232  410,424 
Administrative expenses  39,671  19,453  59,124 

Total deductions 387,863 81,685 469,548
Change in Net Position  1,553,181  191,447  1,744,628 
Net Position Restricted for Postemployment Benefits 
Other than Pensions

Beginning of Year  15,465,242  1,749,664  17,214,906 
End of Year $ 17,018,423 $ 1,941,111 $ 18,959,534 

Year Ended December 31, 2023
Additions

Net investment income $ 2,412,391 $ 273,508 $ 2,685,899 
Employer contributions  —  33,596  33,596 

Total additions  2,412,391  307,104  2,719,495 
Deductions

Benefit payments  348,885  58,360  407,245 
Administrative expenses  24,035  17,400  41,435 

Total deductions  372,920  75,760  448,680 
Change in Net Position  2,039,471  231,344  2,270,815 
Net Position Restricted for Postemployment Benefits 
Other than Pensions

Beginning of Year  13,425,771  1,518,320  14,944,091 

End of Year $ 15,465,242 $ 1,749,664 $ 17,214,906 

Table of Contents

Truckee Meadows Water Authority
Combining Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position - Other Postemployment Benefit Trust Funds 

Years Ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 

83



Statistical Section
Truckee Meadows Water Authority

Table of Contents

84



This part of the Truckee Meadows Water Authority Annual Comprehensive Financial Report presents detailed 
information as a context for understanding what the information in the financial statements, note disclosures, and 
required supplementary information says about TMWA's overall financial health.

Section Contents Schedule No.

Financial Trends 1-6
These schedules contain trend information to help the reader understand how TMWA's   
financial performance and well-being have changed over time.

Revenue Capacity 7-8
These schedules contain information to help the reader assess the factors affecting TMWA’s  
ability to generate its water sales and other revenues.

Debt Capacity 9
This schedule presents information to help the reader assess the affordability of TMWA’s  
current levels of outstanding debt, and its ability to issue additional future debt.

Demographic and Economic Information 10-12
These schedules offer demographic and economic indicators to help the reader understand the  
environment within which TMWA’s financial activities take place and to help make  
comparisons over time and with other utilities.

Operating Information 13-17
These schedules contain information about TMWA’s operations and resources to help the  
reader understand how TMWA’s financial information relates to the services it provides  
and the activities it performs.

Debt Ratios 18-19
These schedules contain information about changes in TMWA’s debt and its debt in  
relation to service connections.

Sources: Unless otherwise noted, the information in these schedules is derived from the  
Annual Comprehensive Financial Report for the relevant year. 

Table of Contents

Truckee Meadows Water Authority
Statistical Section (Unaudited)

June 30, 2025

85



Fiscal Year
2025 2024 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016

Net Position

Net investment in capital assets $ 883,414,142 $ 853,064,335 $ 749,158,166 $ 692,996,744 $ 649,138,921 $ 617,541,639 $ 573,174,076 $ 533,058,874 $ 506,700,472 $ 478,543,111 

Restricted  50,116,690  45,607,463  43,688,996  50,641,288  45,978,321  52,360,165  29,351,818  30,355,635  28,589,861  40,505,804 

Unrestricted  56,648,848  36,677,087  97,641,986  116,627,041  119,058,043  99,841,693  115,662,201  104,661,680  95,037,226  65,933,399 

Total Net Position $ 990,179,680 $ 935,348,885 $ 890,489,148 $ 860,265,073 $ 814,175,285 $ 769,743,497 $ 718,188,095 $ 668,076,189 $ 630,327,559 $ 584,982,314 

Table of Contents

Truckee Meadows Water Authority
Schedule No. 1 - Net Position by Component 

Last Ten Fiscal Years

86



Fiscal Year 
2025 2024 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016

Operating Revenues $ 132,304,576 $ 122,375,457 $ 113,149,141 $ 114,570,982 $ 115,390,804 $ 108,072,657 $ 107,089,518 $ 101,812,092 $ 97,268,183 $ 91,928,943 

Operating Expenses  129,531,280  122,239,079  114,375,327  98,608,193  98,233,986  94,121,824  92,466,904  90,311,622  82,339,194  80,615,507 

Operating Income (Loss)  2,773,296  136,378  (1,226,186)  15,962,789  17,156,818  13,950,833  14,622,614  11,500,470  14,928,989  11,313,436 

Total Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses)  (973,890) -  (5,278,008)  (10,834,114)  (21,468,722)  (14,080,224)  (6,575,750)  (6,692,826)  (11,162,667)  (11,684,303)  (9,491,450) 

Income (Loss) before Capital Contributions  1,799,406  (5,141,630)  (12,060,300)  (5,505,933)  3,076,594  7,375,083  7,929,788  337,803  3,244,686  1,821,986 

Capital Contributions  53,031,389  50,001,367  42,284,375  51,595,721  41,355,194  44,180,319  42,182,118  37,410,827  43,351,171  19,286,194 

Change in Net Position $ 54,830,795 $ 44,859,737 $ 30,224,075 $ 46,089,788 $ 44,431,788 $ 51,555,402 $ 50,111,906 $ 37,748,630 $ 46,595,857 $ 21,108,180 

Table of Contents

Truckee Meadows Water Authority
Schedule No. 2 - Changes in Net Position 

Last Ten Fiscal Years

87



Fiscal Year
2025 2024 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016

Revenues from water sales
Residential unmetered water sales $ 2,896,011 $ 2,774,684 $ 2,694,166 $ 2,730,559 $ 2,423,033 $ 2,571,216 $ 2,558,779 $ 2,505,172 $ 2,446,144 $ 3,725,916 

Residential metered water sales  88,677,816  81,385,157  76,537,384  77,184,825  79,124,628  73,295,343  71,651,437  67,393,672  65,829,635  60,198,267 

Commercial metered water sales  14,047,900  13,171,804  12,736,096  12,587,162  12,041,548  11,888,963  12,807,427  12,238,940  11,369,179  11,026,132 

Irrigation metered & fire protection  16,914,545  15,326,405  13,914,208  14,408,203  14,950,021  13,457,574  13,509,567  12,169,406  11,887,395  11,554,063 

Wholesale sales  1,448,991  1,303,539  1,216,727  1,262,221  1,283,606  1,273,982  1,249,439  1,165,607  1,154,907  1,029,954 

Total water sales  123,985,263  113,961,589  107,098,581  108,172,970  109,822,836  102,487,078  101,776,649  95,472,797  92,687,260  87,534,332 

Hydroelectric revenue  4,184,797  4,193,494  2,928,163  2,551,333  2,768,274  3,298,850  2,624,285  3,757,043  1,788,934  1,175,195 

Other operating revenues  4,134,516  4,220,374  3,122,397  3,846,679  2,799,694  2,286,729  2,688,584  2,582,252  2,791,989  3,219,416 

Total Operating Revenues $ 132,304,576 $ 122,375,457 $ 113,149,141 $ 114,570,982 $ 115,390,804 $ 108,072,657 $ 107,089,518 $ 101,812,092 $ 97,268,183 $ 91,928,943 

Table of Contents

Truckee Meadows Water Authority
Schedule No. 3 - Operating Revenues by Customer Class

Last Ten Fiscal Years

88



Fiscal Year

2025 2024 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016

Salaries and wages $ 35,300,194 $ 31,902,280 $ 27,309,513 $ 24,735,686 $ 23,101,987 $ 21,455,982 $ 20,973,151 $ 18,735,892 $ 17,257,014 $ 16,541,811 

Employee benefits  16,375,475  16,283,832  13,905,722  7,461,199  11,282,823  11,529,749  10,184,189  12,919,692  8,931,838  6,364,279 

Contract services  11,346,565  9,817,941  9,739,129  10,365,323  8,294,629  8,191,575  8,191,575  8,678,689  6,204,863  7,335,521 

Utilities/power  9,570,891  9,659,473  9,155,795  7,144,034  5,801,118  5,953,121  5,953,121  5,322,771  5,201,870  5,386,413 

Information technology  2,825,626  2,644,075  2,334,145  1,998,876  4,172,257  1,334,300  1,225,262  1,054,648  1,112,663  1,004,622 

Prof services (general/legal/media)  2,823,323  2,247,249  2,436,284  2,371,990  2,142,911  2,821,923  2,821,923  2,905,859  2,258,454  2,512,154 

Supplies  4,053,726  3,891,749  3,798,410  3,424,124  2,745,163  2,660,187  2,660,187  2,317,853  2,635,229  2,700,906 

Chemicals  3,443,611  3,047,291  4,277,866  2,622,826  2,430,441  2,286,659  2,286,659  1,605,280  1,984,300  1,803,614 

Insurance and claims  1,658,121  1,466,697  1,310,943  1,303,403  1,104,859  847,844  847,844  675,430  719,604  742,006 

Leases and rentals  776,568  665,315  562,421  400,745  137,780  256,836  256,836  104,243  146,999  96,290 

Other expenses  4,659,749  4,112,664  4,696,567  3,137,450  3,733,645  3,456,514  4,232,553  3,170,545  3,716,782  3,993,701 

Total operating expenses before depreciation  92,833,849  85,738,566  79,526,795  64,965,656  64,947,613  60,794,690  59,633,300  57,490,902  50,169,616  48,481,317 

Depreciation  36,697,431  36,500,513  34,848,532  33,642,537  33,286,373  33,327,134  32,833,604  32,820,720  32,169,578  32,134,190 

Total Operating Expenses $ 129,531,280 $ 122,239,079 $ 114,375,327 $ 98,608,193 $ 98,233,986 $ 94,121,824 $ 92,466,904 $ 90,311,622 $ 82,339,194 $ 80,615,507 

Table of Contents

Truckee Meadows Water Authority
Schedule No. 4 - Operating Expenses

Last Ten Fiscal Years

89



Fiscal Year

2025 2024 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016

Investment Earnings $ 5,962,196 $ 1,761,755 $ 3,576,888 $ 2,028,627 $ 2,563,447 $ 4,119,737 $ 4,409,486 $ 2,313,513 $ 7,209,113 $ 6,737,745 

Interest Expense  (8,899,073)  (10,181,533)  (11,522,905)  (11,954,097)  (12,262,581)  (12,698,972)  (13,268,153)  (11,720,356)  (16,968,911)  (21,549,864) 

Gain (Loss) on Disposal of Assets  (1,223,332)  (3,544,836)  (1,261,500)  (938,661)  (1,755,873)  (1,189,776)  (225,687)  133,972  (155,722)  6,460,373 

Other Revenue (Expenses)  3,186,319  6,686,606  (1,626,597)  (10,604,591)  (2,625,217)  3,193,261  2,391,528  (1,889,796)  (1,768,783)  (1,139,704) 

Total Nonoperating Expenses $ (973,890) $ (5,278,008) $ (10,834,114) $ (21,468,722) $ (14,080,224) $ (6,575,750) $ (6,692,826) $ (11,162,667) $ (11,684,303) $ (9,491,450) 

Table of Contents

Truckee Meadows Water Authority
Schedule No. 5 - Nonoperating Revenues and Expenses

Last Ten Fiscal Years

90



Fiscal Year

2025 2024 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016

Grants $ 1,437,531 $ 9,658,905 $ 88,724 $ 2,164,651 $ — $ 232,153 $ 831,116 $ 348,248 $ 1,226,863 $ 224,138 

Water Meter Retrofit Program  —  —  —  —  —  —  994,706  2,379,206  341,074  482,081 

Water Resource Sustainability Program  441,344  1,097,584  798,007  1,409,024  1,708,110  1,484,443  689,060  —  —  — 

Developer Infrastructure Contributions  19,554,670  9,962,594  19,884,818  18,167,149  10,201,446  20,145,641  19,112,590  15,017,446  10,797,854  8,454,980 

Developer Will-serve Contributions  11,206,014  5,507,199  3,620,779  4,436,788  5,632,381  4,082,279  4,663,826  6,652,819  7,950,666  4,363,692 

Developer Capital Contributions  5,096,653  6,026,121  1,846,641  1,493,347  11,461,850  7,847,962  6,636,417  6,448,549  6,062,247  2,473,163 

Developer Facility Charges  11,639,329  12,874,933  14,631,602  23,204,940  12,218,607  9,657,274  9,154,403  6,464,559  5,116,956  2,931,940 

Contributions from Others  113,360  73,095  —  —  —  343,630  —  —  11,855,511  356,200 

Contributions from Other Governments  3,542,488  4,800,936  1,413,804  719,822  132,800  386,937  100,000  100,000  —  — 

Total Capital Contributions $ 53,031,389 $ 50,001,367 $ 42,284,375 $ 51,595,721 $ 41,355,194 $ 44,180,319 $ 42,182,118 $ 37,410,827 $ 43,351,171 $ 19,286,194 

Table of Contents

Truckee Meadows Water Authority
Schedule No. 6 - Capital Contributions by Source

Last Ten Fiscal Years

91



2025 2024
Gallons Gallons

Category Sold (000) Revenue Sold (000) Revenue

Residential-Unmetered(1)  — $ 2,896,011  — $ 2,774,684 
Residential Metered  18,175,311  88,677,816  17,023,724  81,385,157 
Commercial  4,056,666  14,047,900  3,943,593  13,171,804 
Other(2)  3,366,712  16,914,545  3,081,775  15,326,405 
Wholesale  681,597  1,448,991  627,089  1,303,539 

Total  26,280,286 $ 123,985,263  24,676,181 $ 113,961,589 

2023 2022
Gallons Gallons

Category Sold (000) Revenue Sold (000) Revenue

Residential-Unmetered(1)  — $ 2,694,166  — $ 2,730,559 
Residential Metered  16,841,640  76,537,384  17,863,105  77,184,825 
Commercial  3,979,289  12,736,096  4,142,484  12,587,162 
Other(2)  2,923,271  13,914,208  3,171,127  14,408,203 
Wholesale  625,124  1,216,727  670,593  1,262,221 

Total  24,369,324 $ 107,098,581  25,847,309 $ 108,172,970 

2021 2020
Gallons Gallons

Category Sold (000) Revenue Sold (000) Revenue

Residential-Unmetered(1)  — $ 2,423,033  — $ 2,571,216 
Residential Metered  18,481,075  79,124,628  17,111,305  73,295,343 
Commercial  3,891,086  12,041,548  3,952,196  11,888,963 
Other(2)  3,204,611  14,950,021  2,896,243  13,457,574 
Wholesale  623,909  1,283,606  606,627  1,273,982 

Total  26,200,681 $ 109,822,836  24,566,371 $ 102,487,078 

2019 2018
Gallons Gallons

Category Sold (000) Revenue Sold (000) Revenue

Residential-Unmetered(1)  — $ 2,558,779  — $ 2,505,172 
Residential Metered  16,970,042  71,651,437  16,335,308  67,393,672 
Commercial  4,315,407  12,807,427  4,232,836  12,238,940 
Other(2)  2,974,110  13,509,567  2,698,977  12,169,406 
Wholesale  619,928  1,249,439  591,624  1,165,607 

Total  24,879,487 $ 101,776,649  23,858,745 $ 95,472,797 

2017 2016
Gallons Gallons

Category Sold (000) Revenue Sold (000) Revenue

Residential-Unmetered(1)  — $ 2,446,145  — $ 3,725,916 
Residential Metered  16,487,693  65,829,634  14,633,319  60,198,267 
Commercial  4,277,917  11,887,395  4,086,057  11,026,132 
Other(2)  2,749,795  11,369,179  2,579,408  11,554,063 
Wholesale  613,051  1,154,907  542,875  1,029,954 

Total  24,128,456 $ 92,687,260  21,841,659 $ 87,534,332 

(1)Complete consumption information is not available for unmetered customers.
(2)These accounts include irrigation and non metered fire protection/sprinkler systems located on the premises of residential and commercial customers.

Table of Contents

Truckee Meadows Water Authority
Schedule No. 7 - Gallons of Water Sold and Revenues by Category

Last Ten Fiscal Years

92



Customer Name
Water Used

(000s Gallons)
Total

Revenue
% of Total

Water Sales

1. Sun Valley Water 647,723 $ 1,409,581  1.2 %
2. Washoe County School District 339,791  1,282,361  1.0 %
3. City of Reno(1) 382,818  1,117,397  0.9 %
4. City of Sparks 164,850  674,379  0.5 %
5. Washoe County 173,340  609,942  0.5 %
6. Somersett HOA 124,357  513,654  0.4 %
7. Nevada Properties, Peppermill 148,227  480,796  0.4 %
8. University of Nevada, Reno 142,372  456,526  0.4 %
9. MEI GSR Holdings LLC 148,017  323,196  0.3 %

10. Silver Legacy 90,009  282,519  0.2 %

Totals 2,361,504 $ 7,150,351  5.8 %

(1) City of Reno includes the Reno Housing Authority.

Table of Contents

Truckee Meadows Water Authority
Schedule No. 8 - Ten Largest Customers

June 30, 2025

93



Fiscal Year (in thousands)

2025 2024 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016

Charges for water sales (1) $ 123,985 $ 113,962 $ 107,099 $ 108,173 $ 109,823 $ 102,487 $ 101,777 $ 95,473 $ 92,687 $ 87,534 

Other operating and nonoperating revenue (2)  14,282  10,176  9,627  8,427  8,131  9,705  9,722  8,653  11,790  11,132 

Gross revenues  138,267  124,138  116,726  116,600  117,954  112,192  111,499  104,126  104,477  98,666 

Operation and maintenance expenses (3)  92,107  85,022  78,795  64,244  64,233  60,076  58,955  57,021  50,958  48,030 

Taxes other than income taxes (4)  727  717  731  722  715  719  678  470  462  451 

Total expenses  92,834  85,739  79,527  64,966  64,948  60,795  59,633  57,491  51,420  48,481 

Net Revenues $ 45,433 $ 38,400 $ 37,199 $ 51,634 $ 53,006 $ 51,397 $ 51,866 $ 46,635 $ 53,057 $ 50,185 

Senior Lien Annual Debt Service (5) $ 27,379 $ 27,943 $ 27,960 $ 28,275 $ 27,830 $ 28,186 $ 17,891 $ 15,696 $ 18,916 $ 31,780 

Senior Lien Debt Coverage excluding SDCs  1.66  1.37  1.33  1.83  1.90  1.82  2.90  2.97  2.80  1.58 

System Development Charges (SDCs):

Developer facility charges $ 11,639 $ 12,875 $ 14,632 $ 23,205 $ 12,219 $ 9,657 $ 9,154 $ 6,465 $ 5,117 $ 2,932 

Developer capital contributions - other  5,097  6,026  1,847  1,493  11,462  7,848  6,636  6,449  6,062  2,473 

Senior Lien Debt Coverage including SDCs (6)  2.27  2.05  1.92  2.70  2.76  2.44  3.78  3.79  3.40  1.75 

(1) Includes retail residential, commercial, irrigation, and wholesale water sales net of bad debt expense.

(2) Reflects hydroelectric revenues, other miscellaneous operating revenues from fees and charges, as well as gross investment income.
(3) Includes water supply, treatment,  distribution,  hydroelectric power plant maintenance, customer service, water resource planning, conservation programs, administration, and inspection services. Wages and 

salaries, employee benefits, and services and supplies comprise these expenses.

(4) The Authority is required to pay property taxes on water rights and storage facilities located in California.

(5) This schedule does not include the payments on the DWSRF loan or the 2021 Refunding Bonds, which are subordinate to the 2015-A, 2016, 2017 and 2018 Refunding Bonds. 
(6) TMWA's bond covenants require a minimum coverage of 1.25x total principal and interest payments. In fiscal years 2017, 2018 and 2019, TMWA deferred principal payments on debt which increased the 

debt coverage ratio.

Table of Contents

Truckee Meadows Water Authority
Schedule No. 9 - Debt Service Coverage Ratios

Last Ten Fiscal Years

94



Fiscal Year
Washoe
County

City of 
Reno

City of 
Sparks

2025 5,185 10,732 5,222

2024 5,117 11,401 5,183

2023 4,258 9,639 4,890

2022 5,142 12,008 4,789

2021 4,694 10,453 4,616

2020 4,194 9,625 4,103

2019 4,307 10,323 3,890

2018 4,241 10,101 3,935

2017 2,615 9,058 3,636

2016 2,121 9,080 3,712

Source: As reported by each local governmental entity.

Table of Contents

Truckee Meadows Water Authority
Schedule No. 10 - Schedule of Total Building Permits Issued by Jurisdiction/Member Entity

Last Ten Fiscal Years

95



Fiscal 
Year Population

Per
Capita
Income 

Median
Age

School
Enrollment 

Total
Personal
Income

Unemployment
Rate

Total
Labor
Force

Construction 
Activity

Total Value

Number of 
New Family

Units
Taxable

Sales 

Gross Income
Gaming
Revenue

Total 
Passenger
Air Traffic 

2025  507,280 $ 85,600  38.9  63,332 $ 40,524,739  4.6 %  273,652 $ 153,915,000  467 $ 12,551,998,000 $ 990,454,000  4,901,120 

2024  498,022  81,531  39.5  63,448  38,784,839  5.0 %  265,454  391,470,000  540  12,117,540,000  1,000,369,000  4,689,790 

2023  496,745  74,292  39.5  64,322  35,246,181  4.5 %  263,078  466,715,000  443  12,383,862,000  971,243,000  4,460,048 

2022  486,492  66,076  38.5  64,820  31,523,753  3.3 %  254,381  678,435,000  596  12,267,766,000  970,727,000  4,155,405 

2021  478,355  63,360  38.6  65,121  29,875,442  4.9 %  251,933  719,607,000  692  11,049,067,000  837,334,000  2,472,843 

2020  472,069  59,639  38.1  66,913  27,776,003  3.2 %  255,915  450,868,000  617  9,250,416,000  630,862,000  3,378,405 

2019  464,630  55,487  38.0  66,960  22,556,498  3.6 %  250,005  458,823,000  572  8,829,864,000  785,532,000  4,298,555 

2018  460,237  48,996  37.9  66,989  22,549,907  4.2 %  239,119  345,710,000  481  8,531,253,000  779,347,000  4,128,476 

2017  459,142  46,315  37.5  63,919  21,265,239  4.0 %  223,409  301,127,000  378  7,989,009,000  738,373,000  3,819,896 

2016  451,248  44,687  37.5  63,670  20,164,911  6.4 %  213,923  231,742,000  320  7,550,467,000  789,359,000  3,563,818 

Source: Washoe County Schedule 4.1, 2025      

Table of Contents

Truckee Meadows Water Authority
Schedule No. 11 - Selected Demographic and Economic Statistics for Washoe County

Last Ten Fiscal Years

96



December, 2024 December, 2015

Employer Employees Rank

Percentage of 
Total County
Employment Employees Rank

Percentage of 
Total County 
Employment

Washoe County School District  8,750  1  3.35 %  8,750  1  4.34 %
University of Nevada - Reno  4,750  2  1.82 %  4,750  2  2.36 %
Renown Medical Center  3,250  3  1.24 %  2,750  3  1.36 %
Washoe County  3,005  4  1.15 %  2,750  4  1.36 %
Peppermill Hotel Casino - Reno  2,500  5  0.96 %  2,250  5  1.12 %
Nugget Casino  2,500  6  0.96 %  —  —  — 
Grand Sierra Resort  2,500  7  0.96 %  1,750  6  0.87 %
El Dorado Resort  2,500  8  0.96 %  —  —  — 
St. Mary's  2,500  9  0.96 %  1,250  10  0.62 %
Silver Legacy Resort Casino  2,500  10  0.96 %  1,750  7  0.87 %
International Game Technology PLC(2)  —  —  —  1,750  8  0.87 %
Atlantis Casino Resort  —  —  —  1,750  9  0.87 %

Total Washoe Covered Employment  261,120  201,601 

(1) Nevada Revised Statutes Chapter 612 stipulate that actual employment for individual employers may not be published.  
The Nevada Department of Employment Training and Rehabilitation outsources the publication of this information to 
Infogroup and Nevada Workforce. Infogroup publishes employee counts in ranges of 5,000. The number of employees are 
estimated using the midpoint. 
(2) International Game Technology was acquired by Gtech in 2015 becoming International Game Technology PLC.

Source: Washoe County Schedule 4.2, 2025

Table of Contents

Truckee Meadows Water Authority
Schedule No. 12 - Principal Employers

Current and Nine Years Ago

97



 
2025

Category

Average Number 
of Service 

Connections
% of Total 

Connections

Fiscal Year
Water

Revenues (1)
% of Total
Revenues

Residential unmetered  638  0.44 % $ 2,896,011  2.34 %
Residential metered  126,332  87.59 %  88,677,816  71.52 %
Commercial metered  7,211  5.00 %  14,047,900  11.33 %
Other (2)  10,061  6.97 %  16,914,545  13.64 %
Wholesale  2  — %  1,448,991  1.17 %
Total  144,244  100.00 % $ 123,985,263  100.00 %

2024

Category

Average Number 
of Service 

Connections
% of Total 

Connections

Fiscal Year
Water

Revenues (1)
% of Total
Revenues

Residential unmetered  641  0.45 % $ 2,774,684  2.43 %
Residential metered  124,742  87.69 %  81,385,157  71.42 %
Commercial metered  7,146  5.02 %  13,171,804  11.56 %
Other (2)  9,737  6.84 %  15,326,405  13.45 %
Wholesale  2  — %  1,303,539  1.14 %
Total  142,268  100.00 % $ 113,961,589  100.00 %

2023

Category

Average Number 
of Service 

Connections
% of Total 

Connections

Fiscal Year
Water

Revenues (1)
% of Total
Revenues

Residential unmetered  643  0.46 % $ 2,694,166  2.52 %
Residential metered  123,129  87.81 %  76,537,384  71.46 %
Commercial metered  7,079  5.05 %  12,736,096  11.89 %
Other (2)  9,370  6.68 %  13,914,208  12.99 %
Wholesale  2  — %  1,216,727  1.14 %
Total  140,223  100.00 % $ 107,098,581  100.00 %

2022

Category

Average Number 
of Service 

Connections
% of Total 

Connections

Fiscal Year
Water

Revenues (1)
% of Total
Revenues

Residential unmetered  645  0.45 % $ 2,730,559  2.52 %
Residential metered  121,307  87.81 %  77,184,825  71.35 %
Commercial metered  7,027  5.09 %  12,587,162  11.64 %
Other (2)  9,183  6.65 %  14,408,203  13.32 %
Wholesale  2  — %  1,262,221  1.17 %
Total  138,164  100.00 % $ 108,172,970  100.00 %

2021

Category

Average Number 
of Service 

Connections
% of Total 

Connections

Fiscal Year
Water

Revenues (1)
% of Total
Revenues

Residential unmetered  673  0.51 % $ 2,423,033  2.21 %
Residential metered  120,074  91.45 %  79,124,628  72.05 %
Commercial metered  10,545  8.03 %  12,041,548  10.96 %
Other (2)  2  — %  14,950,021  13.61 %
Wholesale  2  — %  1,283,606  1.17 %
Total  131,296  100.00 % $ 109,822,836  100.00 %

Table of Contents

Truckee Meadows Water Authority
Schedule No. 13 - Customer and Water Sales by Category

Last Ten Fiscal Years

98



2020

Category

Average Number 
of Service 

Connections
% of Total 

Connections

Fiscal Year
Water

Revenues (1)
% of Total
Revenues

Residential unmetered  652  0.52 % $ 2,571,216  2.51 %
Residential metered  116,104  91.40 %  73,295,343  71.52 %
Commercial metered  10,262  8.08 %  11,888,963  11.60 %
Other (2)  2  — %  13,457,574  13.13 %
Wholesale  2  — %  1,273,982  1.24 %
Total  127,022  100.00 % $ 102,487,078  100.00 %

2019

Category

Average Number 
of Service 

Connections
% of Total 

Connections

Fiscal Year
Water

Revenues (1)
% of Total
Revenues

Residential unmetered  663  0.54 % $ 2,558,779  2.51 %
Residential metered  113,934  91.32 %  71,651,437  70.41 %
Commercial metered  10,161  8.14 %  12,807,427  12.58 %
Other (2)  2  — %  13,509,567  13.27 %
Wholesale  2  — %  1,249,439  1.23 %
Total  124,762  100.00 % $ 101,776,649  100.00 %

2018

Category

Average Number 
of Service 

Connections
% of Total 

Connections

Fiscal Year
Water

Revenues (1)
% of Total
Revenues

Residential unmetered  672  0.55 % $ 2,505,172  2.62 %
Residential metered  111,963  91.27 %  67,393,672  70.59 %
Commercial metered  10,038  8.18 %  12,238,940  12.82 %
Other (2)  2  — %  12,169,406  12.75 %
Wholesale  2  — %  1,165,607  1.22 %
Total  122,677  100.00 % $ 95,472,797  100.00 %

2017

Category

Average Number 
of Service 

Connections
% of Total 

Connections

Fiscal Year
Water

Revenues (1)
% of Total
Revenues

Residential unmetered  695  0.58 % $ 2,446,144  2.64 %
Residential metered  109,939  91.18 %  65,829,635  71.01 %
Commercial metered  9,931  8.24 %  11,369,179  12.27 %
Other (2)  2  — %  11,887,395  12.83 %
Wholesale  2  — %  1,154,907  1.25 %
Total  120,569  100.00 % $ 92,687,260  100.00 %

2016

Category

Average Number 
of Service 

Connections
% of Total 

Connections

Fiscal Year
Water

Revenues (1)
% of Total
Revenues

Residential unmetered  2,062  1.74 % $ 3,725,916  4.26 %
Residential metered  106,730  89.94 %  60,198,267  68.76 %
Commercial metered  9,873  8.32 %  11,026,132  12.60 %
Other (2)  3  — %  11,554,063  13.20 %
Wholesale  1  — %  1,029,954  1.18 %
Total  118,669  100.00 % $ 87,534,332  100.00 %

(1) Water Revenues are revenues that are billed and estimated for the fiscal year periods. Estimated revenues are revenues for water deliveries just prior to 
fiscal year end that are unbilled until July of the next fiscal year.

(2) Includes non metered private fire protection services located on the premises of commercial and some residential customers.

Table of Contents

Truckee Meadows Water Authority
Schedule No. 13 - Customer and Water Sales by Category

Last Ten Fiscal Years

99



Coverage Carrier/Policy Term Limits/Deductible

Property/Boiler and 
Machinery Policy

America Home 
Assurance Company 
(AIG)

6/11/2024 to 
6/11/2025

Blanket limit of $250,000,000 per occurrence with sub-
limits of $50,000,000 for Earth  Movement (excluding CA 
properties) and $10,000,000 for flood (excluding Glendale 
plant). Equipment Breakdown $100,000,000. Deductibles 
for Tanks, Wells and Booster Pump Stations are 
$1,000,000 per occurrence. Deductibles for flood and 
earth movement are $100,000 per occurrence for each 
location; general policy deductible is $100,000.

General Liability and 
Business Automobile Policy 

Philadelphia 
Indemnity Insurance 
Company

6/11/2024 to 
6/11/2025

First $1,000,000 in liability limits. General Liability 
Aggregate limit of $3,000,000. Inland Marine Physical 
Damage $1,267,257. General liability deductible of 
$25,000 per occurrence. Auto Physical Damage 
deductible of $1,000.  

Excess Umbrella Liability 
Policy

Philadelphia 
Indemnity Insurance 
Company

6/11/2024 to 
6/11/2025

First Layer Excess Liability limit of  $10,000,000.                              

Excess Umbrella Liability 
Policy

Markel American 
Insurance Company

6/11/2024 to 
6/11/2025

Second Layer Excess Liability limit of $10,000,000.

Workers’ Compensation Berkshire Hathaway 
Homestate Companies

6/11/2024 to 
6/11/2025

Fully insured for statutory limits under Workers' 
Compensation with no deductible. Policy also provides 
$1,000,000 limit for Employer's Liability.

Employee Health Insurance By contract with the 
City of Reno's health 
insurance programs

6/11/2024 to 
6/11/2025

Varies by plan selected.

Commercial Crime/ 
Government Crime

Fidelity & Deposit 
Company of 
Maryland

6/11/2024 to 
6/11/2025

Employee Theft/Forgery or Alteration Computer Fraud/
Funds Transfer Fraud $3,000,000 per loss. Employee 
Theft including expenses, Inside/Outside Premises Money 
and Securities, Robbery or Safe Burglary, Money Orders, 
Counterfeit Currency, Credit Card Forgery, Faithful 
Performance $1,000,000. 

Commercial Crime/ 
Government Crime

Zurich 6/11/2024 to 
6/11/2025

Fraudulent Impersonation $250,000.

Network Security/ Cyber 
Risk

Travelers Insurance 
Company

6/11/2024 to 
6/11/2025

Media, Privacy and Security, Regulatory Proceedings, 
Payment Card Costs, Privacy Breach, Computer and 
Legal Experts, Cyber Extortion, System Failure Coverage, 
Betterment, Social Engineering Fraud and Telecom Fraud.

Kidnap and Ransom National Union Fire 
Insurance Company

6/11/2022 to 
6/11/2025

Ransom, In-Transit Delivery, Expenses, Judgments, 
Settlements, and Defense $3,000,000 Death or 
Dismemberment $250,000/$1,250,000 person/event. 
Disappearance/Threat $100,000, Hostage Crisis $500,000.

Table of Contents

Truckee Meadows Water Authority
Schedule No. 14 - Schedule of Insurance Coverage

June 30, 2025

100



Fiscal Year
2025 2024 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016

Administration/IT  56  49  46  38  32  33  30  28  25  28 
Supply/Treatment Operations  55  49  48  48  48  48  44  40  40  32 
Distribution Maintenance  96  88  78  78  72  71  71  65  65  63 
Hydroelectric  8  8  8  8  7  8  7  7  7  6 
Customer Service/Conservation  23  22  22  22  23  26  23  23  25  25 
Water Planning/Resources  15  19  19  19  19  15  15  15  17  19 
Engineering/Construction  38  38  33  31  30  30  31  28  25  24 

Total Authorized Employees  291  273  254  244  231  231  221  206  204  197 

(1) Source: Truckee Meadows Water Authority Budget
(2) The number of employees shown are approved full-time equivalent positions. Actual employee numbers may be less if there are vacant positions at year-end.

Table of Contents
  

Truckee Meadows Water Authority
Schedule No. 15 - Authorized Full-Time Equivalent Employees by Department (1)

Last Ten Fiscal Years (2)

101



Fiscal Year

2025 2024 2023 2022 2021

TMWA WC STMGID TMWA WC STMGID TMWA WC STMGID TMWA WC STMGID TMWA WC STMGID

Customer Charges by Meter Size

3/4" $ 23.02 $ 21.64 $ 11.78 $ 22.13 $ 20.81 $ 11.33 $ 21.18 $ 19.91 $ 10.84 $ 20.66 $ 19.42 $ 10.58 $ 20.16 $ 18.95 $ 10.32 

1"  25.32  27.83  14.42  24.35  26.76  13.87  23.30  25.61  13.27  22.73  24.99  12.95  22.18  24.38  12.63 

1 1/2"  28.81  39.81  20.46  27.70  38.28  19.67  26.51  36.63  18.82  25.86  35.74  18.36  25.23  34.87  17.91 

2"  33.39  53.08 n/a  32.11  51.04 n/a  30.73  48.84 n/a 29.98  47.65 n/a  29.25  46.49 n/a

3"  37.98  85.49 n/a  36.52  82.20 n/a  34.95  78.66 n/a 34.10  76.74 n/a  33.27  74.87 n/a

4"  43.70  125.20 n/a  42.02  120.38 n/a  40.21  115.20 n/a 39.23  112.39 n/a  38.27  109.65 n/a

6"  50.66  228.28 n/a  48.71  219.50 n/a  46.61  210.05 n/a 45.47  204.93 n/a  44.36  199.93 n/a

Commodity Charge (all meter sizes)
TMWA Tier 1  2.14  2.06  1.97  1.92  1.87 
TMWA Tier 2  3.45  3.32  3.18  3.10  3.02 
TMWA Tier 3  4.05  3.89  3.72  3.63  3.54 

WC Tier 1  3.24  3.12  2.99  2.92  2.85 

WC Tier 2  4.07  3.91  3.74  3.65  3.56 

WC Tier 3  4.88  4.69  4.49  4.38  4.27 

WC Tier 4  6.52  6.27  6.00  5.85  5.71 

STMGID Tier 1  1.70  1.63  1.56  1.52  1.48 
STMGID Tier 2  2.24  2.15  2.06  2.01  1.96 
STMGID Tier 3  2.74  2.63  2.52  2.46  2.40 
STMGID Tier 4  3.20  3.08  2.95  2.88  2.81 
STMGID Tier 5  3.39  3.26  3.12  3.04  2.97 

Above rates are for metered single family residential service.

Monthly Base Rates Unmetered by Size

3/4" n/a n/a  55.76 n/a n/a  53.62 n/a n/a  51.31 n/a n/a  50.06 n/a n/a  48.84 

1" n/a n/a  55.76 n/a n/a  53.62 n/a n/a  51.31 n/a n/a  50.06 n/a n/a  48.84 

1 1/2" n/a n/a  55.76 n/a n/a  53.62 n/a n/a  51.31 n/a n/a  50.06 n/a n/a  48.84 

2" n/a n/a  55.76 n/a n/a  53.62 n/a n/a  51.31 n/a n/a  50.06 n/a n/a  48.84 

3" n/a n/a  55.76 n/a n/a  53.62 n/a n/a  51.31 n/a n/a  50.06 n/a n/a  48.84 

4" n/a n/a  55.76 n/a n/a  53.62 n/a n/a  51.31 n/a n/a  50.06 n/a n/a  48.84 

6" n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

Above rates are for unmetered single family residential service.

TMWA rates took effect on June 11, 2001, and were revised effective May 2009, May 2010, February 2012, February 2014, June 2016, May 2017,  May 2018, June 2021, June 
2022, June 2023, May 2024, and May 2025.

Table of Contents

Truckee Meadows Water Authority
Schedule No. 16 - Current and Historical Water Rates

Last Five Fiscal Years

102



Fiscal Year
2025 2024 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016

Miles of water mains  2,137  2,123  2,109  2,095  2,064  2,048  2,019  1,986  1,961  1,940 
Number of storage tanks  95  97  97  97  96  95  95  93  93  93 
Number of finished water storage basins  2  2  2  2  2  2  2  2  2  2 
Number of pump stations  118  118  118  117  115  115  114  113  113  121 
Number of wells  98  98  98  100  99  99  100  82  81  79 
Treatment capacity (millions of gallons/day)

Chalk Bluff  90.00  90.00  90.00  90.00  90.00  90.00  90.00  90.00  90.00  90.00 
Glendale 34.50 34.50 34.50 34.50  34.50  34.50  34.50  34.50  34.50  34.50 
Mt. Rose  4.00  4.00  4.00  4.00  —  —  —  —  —  — 
Lightning W 0.26 0.26 0.26 0.26 0.26 0.26 0.26 0.26 0.26 0.26
Truckee Canyon 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20

Table of Contents  

Truckee Meadows Water Authority
Schedule No. 17 - Selected Operating and Capital Indicators

Last Ten Fiscal Years

103



Final
Maturity Balance Balance Balance Balance Balance Balance Balance Balance Balance Balance

Date Authorized June 30, 2025 June 30, 2024 June 30, 2023 June 30, 2022 June 30, 2021 June 30, 2020 June 30, 2019 June 30, 2018 June 30, 2017 June 30, 2016

2005 Water Revenue DWSRF (Tax Exempt) Bonds 3.21% 1/1/2025 $ 4,669,565 $ — $ 328,757 $ 647,209 $ 955,680 $ 1,254,482 $ 1,543,918 $ 1,824,283 $ 2,095,861 $ 2,358,926 $ 2,613,744 

2006 Water Revenue (Tax Exempt) Refunding Bonds 3.50%-4.875% 7/1/2034  150,745,000  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  400,000 

2007 Water Revenue (Tax Exempt) Refunding Bonds 4.00%-5.00% 7/1/2030  218,975,000  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  214,290,000 

2009 A Water Revenue DWSRF ARRA (Tax Exempt) Bonds  0.00% 7/1/2029  2,401,120  556,509  680,177  803,846  927,515  1,051,184  1,174,853  1,298,522  1,422,190  1,545,859  1,669,527 

2010 Water Revenue (Tax Exempt) Refunding Bonds 5.00% 7/1/2015  28,240,000  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  — 

2010 A Water Revenue DWSRF (Tax Exempt) Bonds 3.25% 1/1/2030  4,381,614  1,546,003  1,826,407  2,097,916  2,360,812  2,615,367  2,861,847  3,100,507  3,331,595  3,555,353  3,772,013 

2014 Water Revenue DWSRF (Tax Exempt) Bonds 2.81% 1/1/2025  9,109,437  —  987,025  1,946,888  2,880,336  3,788,098  4,670,879  5,529,367  6,364,231  7,176,120  7,965,667 

2015-A Water Revenue (Tax Exempt) Refunding Bonds 2.00%-5.00% 7/1/2036  28,750,000  8,470,000  9,645,000  22,240,000  23,295,000  24,290,000  25,260,000  26,185,000  27,070,000  27,920,000  28,750,000 

2015-B Water Revenue DWSRF (Tax Exempt) Bonds 2.62% 7/1/2035  15,000,000  5,613,377  6,072,253  6,519,338  6,954,935  7,379,340  7,792,841  8,195,717  8,589,045  8,971,562  8,239,034 

2016 Water Revenue (Tax Exempt) Refunding Bonds 5.00% 7/1/2037  124,790,000  66,445,000  66,445,000  124,790,000  124,790,000  124,790,000  124,790,000  124,790,000  124,790,000  124,790,000  124,790,000 

2017 Water Revenue (Tax Exempt) Refunding Bonds 4.00% -5.00% 7/1/2030  147,415,000  89,845,000  102,590,000  114,725,000  126,285,000  136,880,000  147,415,000  147,415,000  147,415,000  147,415,000  — 

2018 Water Revenue (Tax Exempt) Refunding Bonds 5.00% 7/1/2039  38,835,000  38,835,000  38,835,000  38,835,000  38,835,000  38,835,000  38,835,000  38,835,000  38,835,000  —  — 

2021 Water Revenue (Tax Exempt) Refunding Bonds 1.19% 6/1/2028  13,000,000  5,705,000  7,565,000  9,400,000  11,215,000  13,000,000  —  —  —  —  — 

2024 Water Revenue (Tax Exempt) Bonds 5.00% 7/1/2036  61,530,000  61,530,000  61,530,000  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  — 

Subtotal  278,545,889  296,504,619  322,005,197  338,499,278  353,883,471  354,344,338  357,173,396  359,912,922  323,732,820  392,489,985 

Plus unamortized net bond premium  26,999,225  31,399,414  29,146,578  33,350,078  37,790,068  42,447,151  47,320,705  52,014,598  51,182,862  28,441,399 

Total debt before tax exempt commercial paper  305,545,114  327,904,033  351,151,775  371,849,356  391,673,539  396,791,489  404,494,101  411,927,520  374,915,682  420,931,384 

Tax-Exempt Commercial Paper $ 53,600,000  —  —  —  —  —  16,000,000  23,500,000  30,000,000  83,400,000  87,800,000 

Total Debt $ 305,545,114 $ 327,904,033 $ 351,151,775 $ 371,849,356 $ 391,673,539 $ 412,791,489 $ 427,994,101 $ 441,927,520 $ 458,315,682 $ 508,731,384 

Table of Contents

Truckee Meadows Water Authority
Schedule No. 18 - Schedule of Changes in Debt

Last Ten Fiscal Years

104



Fiscal Year

2025 2024 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016

Total Debt $ 305,545,114 $ 327,904,033 $ 351,151,775 $ 371,849,356 $ 391,673,539 $ 412,791,489 $ 427,994,101 $ 441,927,520 $ 458,315,682 $ 508,731,384 

Total Service Connections  137,938  136,210  134,435  132,513  128,988  127,977  125,911  123,845  121,572  119,772 

Debt per Service Connection $ 2,215 $ 2,407 $ 2,612 $ 2,806 $ 3,037 $ 3,226 $ 3,399 $ 3,568 $ 3,770 $ 4,247 

Note: Service Connections include residential, commercial and irrigation connections only. Fire protection and wholesale connections have been excluded.

Table of Contents  

Truckee Meadows Water Authority
Schedule No. 19 - Debt by Service Connection

Last Ten Fiscal Years

105



Compliance Section
Truckee Meadows Water Authority

Table of Contents

106



eidebailly.com
5441 Kietzke Ln., Ste. 150  •  Reno, NV 89511-2094  •  T 775.689.9100  •  F 775.689.9299  •  EOE

Independent Auditor’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on 
Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements  

Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards 

To the Board of Directors 
Truckee Meadows Water Authority 
Reno, Nevada 

We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States (Government Auditing Standards), the financial 
statements of the business-type activities and the fiduciary activities of the Truckee Meadows Water 
Authority (“TMWA”), as of and for the year ended June 30, 2025, and the related notes to the financial 
statements, which collectively comprise TMWA’s basic financial statements, and have issued our report 
thereon dated November 17, 2025. 

Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting 

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered TMWA's internal 
control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, 
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of TMWA’s internal control. 
Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of TMWA’s internal control. 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or 
detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a 
combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material 
misstatement of TMWA’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a 
timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control 
that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged 
with governance. 

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this 
section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material 
weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any 
deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material 
weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist that were not identified. 

107



Report on Compliance and Other Matters 

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether TMWA's financial statements are free from 
material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, 
regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and 
material effect on the financial statements. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those 
provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The 
results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be 
reported under Government Auditing Standards. 

Purpose of this Report 

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and 
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
TMWA’s internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in 
accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering TMWA’s internal control and 
compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 

Reno, Nevada 
November 17, 2025 

108



eidebailly.com
5441 Kietzke Ln., Ste. 150  •  Reno, NV 89511-2094  •  T 775.689.9100  •  F 775.689.9299  •  EOE

Independent Auditor’s Report on Compliance for the Major Federal Program; Report on Internal 
Control Over Compliance Required by the Uniform Guidance; and Report on the Schedule of 

Expenditures of Federal Awards Required by the Uniform Guidance 

To the Board of Directors  
Truckee Meadows Water Authority 
Reno, Nevada 

Report on Compliance for the Major Federal Program 

Opinion on the Major Federal Program 

We have audited Truckee Meadows Water Authority’s (“TMWA”) compliance with the types of 
compliance requirements identified as subject to audit in the OMB Compliance Supplement that could 
have a direct and material effect on TMWA’s major federal program for the year ended June 30, 2025. 
TMWA’s major federal program is identified in the summary of auditor’s results section of the 
accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs. 

In our opinion, TMWA complied, in all material respects, with the compliance requirements referred to 
above that could have a direct and material effect on its major federal program for the year ended 
June 30, 2025. 

Basis for Opinion on the Major Federal Program 

We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the 
United States of America (GAAS); the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government 
Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States (Government Auditing 
Standards); and the audit requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform 
Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform 
Guidance). Our responsibilities under those standards and the Uniform Guidance are further described 
in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section of our report. 

We are required to be independent of TMWA and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in 
accordance with relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence 
we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion on compliance for the 
major federal program. Our audit does not provide a legal determination of the TMWA’s compliance 
with the compliance requirements referred to above. 

109



Responsibilities of Management for Compliance 

Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements referred to above and for the design, 
implementation, and maintenance of effective internal control over compliance with the requirements 
of laws, statutes, regulations, rules and provisions of contracts or grant agreements applicable to the 
TMWA’s federal program.  

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether material noncompliance with the 
compliance requirements referred to above occurred, whether due to fraud or error, and express an 
opinion on the TMWA’s compliance based on our audit. Reasonable assurance is a high level of 
assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with GAAS, Government Auditing Standards, and the Uniform Guidance will always detect 
material noncompliance when it exists. The risk of not detecting material noncompliance resulting from 
fraud is higher than for that resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Noncompliance with the compliance 
requirements referred to above is considered material, if there is a substantial likelihood that, 
individually or in the aggregate, it would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user of the 
report on compliance about the TMWA’s compliance with the requirements of the major federal 
program as a whole. 

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, Government Auditing Standards, and the Uniform 
Guidance, we: 

• Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
• Identify and assess the risks of material noncompliance, whether due to fraud or error, and

design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the TMWA’s compliance with the compliance
requirements referred to above and performing such other procedures as we considered
necessary in the circumstances.

• Obtain an understanding of the TMWA’s internal control over compliance relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances and to test and
report on internal control over compliance in accordance with the Uniform Guidance, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the TMWA’s internal control
over compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, 
the planned scope and timing of the audit and any significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in 
internal control over compliance that we identified during the audit. 

110



Report on Internal Control over Compliance 

Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section above and was not designed to identify all 
deficiencies in internal control over compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant 
deficiencies in internal control over compliance and therefore, material weaknesses or significant 
deficiencies may exist that were not identified. However, as discussed below we did identify certain 
deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses. 

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over 
compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their 
assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance 
requirement of a federal program on a timely basis. A material weakness in internal control over 
compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such 
that there is a reasonable possibility that material noncompliance with a type of compliance 
requirement of a federal program will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A 
significant deficiency in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, 
in internal control over compliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program that is 
less severe than a material weakness in internal control over compliance, yet important enough to merit 
attention by those charged with governance. We consider the deficiency in internal control over 
compliance described in the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs as item 2025-001, 
to be a material weakness. 

Our audit was not designed for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal 
control over compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

Government Auditing Standards requires the auditor to perform limited procedures on TMWA’s 
response to the internal control over compliance findings identified in our compliance audit described in 
the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs. The TMWA’s response was not subjected 
to the other auditing procedures applied in the audit of compliance and, accordingly, we express no 
opinion on the response. 

The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our 
testing of internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of 
the Uniform Guidance. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose. 

111



Report on Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards Required by the Uniform Guidance 

We have audited the financial statements of the business-type activities and the fiduciary activities of  
TMWA as of and for the year ended June 30, 2025, and the related notes to the financial statements, 
which collectively comprise the TMWA’s basic financial statements. We issued our report thereon dated 
November 17, 2025, which contained unmodified opinions on those financial statements. Our audit was 
conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively comprise 
the basic financial statements. The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards is 
presented for purposes of additional analysis as required by the Uniform Guidance and is not a required 
part of the basic financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of management and was 
derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the 
basic financial statements. The information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the 
audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and 
reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare 
the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional 
procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In 
our opinion, the schedule of expenditures of federal awards is fairly stated in all material respects in 
relation to the basic financial statements as a whole. 

Reno, Nevada 
December 12, 2025 

112



eidebailly.com
5441 Kietzke Ln., Ste. 150  •  Reno, NV 89511-2094  •  T 775.689.9100  •  F 775.689.9299  •  EOE

Auditor’s Comments 

To the Board of Directors  
Truckee Meadows Water Authority 
Reno, Nevada  

In connection with our audit of the financial statements of the Truckee Meadows Water Authority 
(“TMWA”) as of and for the year ended June 30, 2025, and the related notes to the financial statements, 
nothing came to our attention that caused us to believe that TMWA failed to comply with the specific 
requirements of Nevada Revised Statutes cited below. However, our audit was not directed primarily 
toward obtaining knowledge of such noncompliance. Accordingly, had we performed additional 
procedures, other matters may have come to our attention regarding TMWA’s noncompliance with the 
requirements of Nevada Revised Statutes cited below, insofar as they relate to accounting matters. 

Current Year Statute Compliance 

The required disclosure on compliance with Nevada Revised Statutes and the Nevada Administrative 
Code is contained in Note 2 to the financial statements. 

Progress on Prior Year Statute Compliance 

There were no potential statute violations reported in the June 30, 2024 audit report. 

Prior Year Recommendations 

Corrective action for finding 2024-001 has been implemented. 

Current Year Recommendations 

No current year findings noted. 

Reno, Nevada 

November 17, 2025

113



Federal Grantor/Pass-Through Grantor/Program or Cluster Title

Federal 
Financial 
Assistance 

Listing 
Number

Award or Pass-
Through Entity 

Identifying 
Number Expenditures

Payments to 
Subrecipients

U.S. Department of Homeland Security (DHS):
Passed through Nevada Department of Public Safety Division of 
Emergency Management:

Disaster Grants - Public Assistance (Presidentially Declared Disasters) 97.036 143060 $ 12,263 $ — 
Disaster Grants - Public Assistance (Presidentially Declared Disasters) 97.036 747275  7,478  — 
State and Local Cybersecurity Grant Program Tribal Cybersecurity Grant Program 97.137 N/A  112,351  — 

Total U.S. Department of Homeland Security  132,092  — 

U.S. Department of the Treasury:
Passed through Nevada Department of Conservation and Natural Resources

COVID-19 - Coronavirus State and Local Fiscal Recovery Funds 21.027 ARPA01004  1,305,438  — 

Total U.S. Department of the Treasury  1,305,438  — 

Total Federal Financial Assistance $ 1,437,530 $ — 

Table of Contents

Truckee Meadows Water Authority
Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards

Year Ended June 30, 2025 

See Notes to Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards                            114



Note 1 - Basis of Presentation

The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards (Schedule) includes the federal award activity of the 
Truckee Meadows Water Authority (TMWA) under programs of the federal government for the year ended June 30, 
2025. The information in this Schedule is presented in accordance with the requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of 
Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for 
Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance). Because the Schedule presents only a selected portion of the operations of 
TMWA, it is not intended to and does not present the financial position, changes in net position, or cash flows of 
TMWA.

Note 2 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Expenditures reported on the Schedule are reported on the accrual basis of accounting. Such expenditures are 
recognized following the cost principles contained in the Uniform Guidance, wherein certain types of expenditures are 
not allowable or are limited as to reimbursement. 

Note 3 - Indirect Cost Rate

TMWA has not elected to use the 10 percent de minimis indirect cost rate for federal awards executed prior to October 
1, 2024, or the 15 percent de minimus indirect cost rate for those executed on or after October 1, 2024. 

Table of Contents

Truckee Meadows Water Authority
Notes to Expenditures of Federal Awards

June 30, 2025 

115



Truckee Meadows Water Authority 
Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs 

Year Ended June 30, 2025 

Section I – Summary of Auditor’s Results 

Financial Statements

Type of auditor's report issued: Unmodified

Internal control over financial reporting:
Material weaknesses identified No
Significant deficiencies identified not considered to be material

weaknesses None reported

Noncompliance material to financial statements noted? No

Federal Awards

Internal control over major program:
Material weaknesses identified Yes
Significant deficiency identified not considered to be material

weaknesses No

Type of auditor's report issued on compliance for the major program: Unmodified

Any audit findings disclosed that are required to be reported in
in accordance with Uniform Guidance 2 CFR 200.516 (a) Yes

Identification of major program:

Federal Financial
Name of Federal Program Assistance Listing

COVID-19 Coronavirus State and Local Fiscal Recovery Funds 21.027

Dollar threshold used to distinguish between Type A and Type B programs: $750,000

Auditee qualified as low-risk auditee? No

116



Truckee Meadows Water Authority 
Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs 

Year Ended June 30, 2025 

Section II – Financial Statement Findings 

None. 

Section III – Findings and Questioned Costs for Federal Awards 

2025-001 U.S. Department of the Treasury 
Coronavirus State and Local Fiscal Recovery Funds, 21.027 

Other 
Material Weakness in Internal Control over Compliance 

Grant Award Number: ARPA00849 

Criteria: Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining an effective system 
of internal control over financial reporting and over compliance. Title 2 Code of 
Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost 
Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance) 
requires TMWA to prepare a Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards (SEFA) 
as prescribed by section 200.510(b) showing total federal financial assistance 
expenditures for the year. 

Condition: An expenditure was originally included on the June 30, 2025 SEFA. However, the 
expenditure should have been reported on the June 30, 2024 SEFA.   

Cause: TMWA did not have adequate internal controls to ensure total federal financial 
assistance expenditures were reported on the SEFA in the correct period. 

Effect: Prior to correction, federal financial assistance expenditures were overstated on 
the June 30, 2025 SEFA by $128,805 for the grant. 

Questioned Costs: None 

Context/Sampling: This was the only expenditure for this grant award originally included on the 
SEFA, and therefore represented the full population. 

Repeat Finding from 
Prior Year: No 

Recommendation: We recommend TMWA enhance internal controls to ensure federal financial 
assistance expenditures are reported on the SEFA in the correct period. 

Views of Responsible 
Officials: Management agrees with the finding. 

117



Single Audit Findings

Finding 2025-001

Finding Summary: Truckee Meadows Water Authority did not report a federal financial assistance 
expenditure in the correct period.

Corrective Action Plan: Truckee Meadows Water Authority has updated its internal controls to better ensure 
federal financial assistance expenditures are reported in the correct period going 
forward.

Responsible Individuals: Sophia Cardinal, Financial Controller
Matt Bowman, Chief Financial Officer

Completion Date: December 2025

Table of Contents

Truckee Meadows Water Authority
Corrective Action Plan

Year Ended June 30, 2025 

118



20
25



This Popular Annual Financial Report is based on accounting standards and 
audited information that is fully represented in TMWA’s Annual Comprehensive 

Financial Report, which can be found at tmwa.com/financial-information.

https://tmwa.com/financial-information/


To Our Customers 
On behalf of Truckee Meadows Water Authority (TMWA), I am pleased to present 
our 2025 Popular Annual Financial Report (PAFR). 

This report is a companion piece to TMWA’s Annual Comprehensive Financial 
Report (ACFR) for fiscal year 2025 (FY25), which accounts for financial activity 
from July 1, 2024 to June 30, 2025. The ACFR is a detailed, formal document 
required for legal compliance and financial transparency. It is also over 100 pages 
long, and we understand its size and detail can be daunting. 

To provide a useful and insightful summary of the information, this document 
distills TMWA’s core financial information into an engaging, easily digestible 
format. Our goal is to provide financial accountability in a way that is more 
accessible to the public.

This document presents a clear and concise explanation of TMWA’s financial 
position, with breakdowns of revenue, expenses, capital expenditures, and how 
we fund essential services. It also provides direct links into key forms and reports 
within the ACFR if you want to dive deeper into the accounting. 

I encourage you to use this report to understand how TMWA manages and 
protects its financial standing. As a community-owned water utility, the public’s 
understanding of how TMWA ensures the delivery of high-quality water to 
customers is key to our shared success.

Best regards,

Matt Bowman, Chief Financial Officer

Truckee Meadows Water Authority



4Truckee Meadows Water Authority

John R. Zimmerman 
General Manager

Danny Rotter
Assistant General Manager and 
Director of Engineering

Matt Bowman
Chief Financial Officer

Ryan Dixon
Director of Distribution, 
Maintenance, and Generation

Jessica Atkinson
Director of Human Resources

Sean Feeney
Director of Technology

Will Raymond
Director of Operations 
and Water Quality

Senior Management

Truckee Meadows Water Authority’s Board of Directors: 
A Multi-Jurisdictional Governing Board
TMWA is a community-owned water utility. Its Board of Directors (Board) is comprised of seven elected 
officials from Reno, Sparks, and Washoe County. TMWA has no financial interdependence with any of its 
governing municipalities.

Leadership positions pictured below reflect TMWA’s Board in FY25 (July 1, 2024-June 30, 2025). For fiscal 
year 2026, Clara Andriola was elected to serve as Chair with Paul Anderson chosen as Vice Chair. Both terms 
began on July 1, 2025.

While representing each jurisdiction, board members collectively make policy decisions and issue directives 
with a regional perspective. This leadership body oversees TMWA’s ongoing mission to provide exceptional, 
high-quality drinking water to residents throughout the Truckee Meadows.

Miguel Martinez
City of Reno 
Council Member

Dian VanderWell
City of Sparks 
Council Member

Naomi Duerr
Chair  
City of Reno 
Council Member

Clara Andriola
Vice Chair
Washoe County 
Commissioner

Kathleen Taylor
City of Reno 
Council Member

Paul Anderson
City of Sparks 
Council Member

Alexis Hill
Washoe County 
Commissioner



5Truckee Meadows Water Authority

Your Water Authority
TMWA provides drinking water to over 475,000 residents in Reno, Sparks, and Washoe County — a service 
area that stretches 171 square miles. The primary source of water is the Truckee River, which flows from 
Lake Tahoe and other tributaries upstream of the Truckee Meadows.

Aa2 AAAAA+
Moody’s Fitch S&P

Financial ratings

$132M $9M$130M
Operating revenue Interest expenseOperating expenses

FY25 performance

144,244 475,000 171sq. mi.
Service connections Residents Service area

Who we serve

5 100%214
Number of water 
treatment facilities Maximum drinking water 

production capacity

Million Gallons per Day (MGD) Safe Drinking Water 
Act compliance

Water delivery

$976M 2,865 $1.19B
Capital asset investment 
since 2001

Total capital assetsMiles of pressurized mainline

Assets



6Truckee Meadows Water Authority

Meeting Our Obligations 
By issuing bonds to purchase Sierra Pacific Power Company’s water business in 2001, TMWA 
became responsible for a debt repayment of $452 million. This important investment secured 
permanent local control of our water resources. 

As of June 30, 2025, TMWA’s total outstanding debt was $305.5 million. Over the past decade, 
TMWA has reduced interest expense by 59% and has reduced outstanding principal on its debt by 
$201.6 million.

A notable activity in FY25 was TMWA’s debt obligation fulfillment to the Nevada’s State Revolving 
Fund (SRF) for two bonds. One payoff was for a $4.7 million bond issued in 2005, and the other was 
for a $9.1 million bond issued in 2014. 

The diligent fulfillment of debt obligations since its founding factors into why Moody’s, S&P, and 
Fitch assign high bond market ratings to TMWA. Favorable bond ratings help keep the cost of 
borrowing low.

TMWA’s Reduced Interest Expense Over the Past 10 Years

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025

$21.3M $21.5M

$17.0M$17.0M

$13.3M $12.7M $12.3M $11.5M$12.0M$11.7M$11.7M
$8.9M$10.2M

Get insight into TMWA’s Debt 
Management on page 51 of the ACFR. 



7Truckee Meadows Water Authority

Where TMWA Stands
TMWA stands tall within the hierarchy of credit rating categories. The table below demonstrates TMWA’s 
financial position, according to the top three rating agencies in the United States.

Bond ratings are expressed as letters ranging from “AAA” or “Aaa” which is the highest grade, to “D” 
(“junk”), which is the lowest grade. Different rating services use the same letter grades but use various 
combinations of uppercase and lowercase letters to differentiate themselves.

Bond Rating Rating Category
FITCH MOODY’S S&P

AAA Aaa AAA PRIME
AA+ Aa1 AA+

HIGH GRADEAA Aa2 AA
AA- Aa3 AA-
A+ A1 A+

UPPER MEDIUM GRADEA A2 A
A- A3 B

B +/- Baa 1 2 3 BBB +/- LOWER MEDIUM GRADE

Factors That Led to TMWA’s AAA Bond Designation From Fitch Ratings Include:

Affordable Rates and  
Strong Local Economy

TMWA has the ability to 
determine rates and makes 
them affordable. Further, 
the economy of TMWA’s 
service territory is stable, as 
evidenced by steady growth, 
diversification, and low 
unemployment in the Truckee 
Meadows over the last decade. 

Financial Performance 
with Reductions in Debt

TMWA’s financial profile is 
considered ‘exceptionally 
strong’1 with performance 
that has historically exceeded 
market expectation. TMWA’s 
debt reductions have ensured 
financial flexibility and strong 
liquidity.

Very Low Operating Cost 
Burden and Manageable 

Capital Needs

TMWA has a ‘very low and 
quite stable’1 operational 
cost burden. Projected 
infrastructure investments 
are expected to outpace 
the depreciation of existing 
assets, ensuring the necessary 
improvements are planned 
to appropriately maintain 
TMWA’s water system 
infrastructure.

1Source: Fitch Upgrades Truckee Meadows Water Authority to ‘AAA’

https://www.fitchratings.com/research/us-public-finance/fitch-upgrades-truckee-meadows-water-authority-nv-water-revs-to-aaa-outlook-stable-09-03-2022


8Truckee Meadows Water Authority

2025 Popular Annual Financial Report

Agreement Secures Bright Future for TMWA Hydroelectric 
Power Generation
In August 2025, TMWA executed a 20-year Power Purchase Agreement (PPA) with Switch, a provider of 
AI, cloud, and enterprise data centers for the sale of electric power from TMWA's three hydroelectric 
facilities. This agreement takes effect in 2028 and yields a significant financial advantage for TMWA, with 
over $100 million in revenue projected over its lifespan. This will help keep water rates low for TMWA 
customers. 
In comparison, over the past 10 years TMWA’s total hydroelectric revenue 
was $30.5 million under the current PPA with NV Energy. The highest annual 
revenue ever generated by TMWA’s hydroelectric facilities was $4.2 million in 
fiscal year 2024. 

The Switch PPA results in increased revenue and provides additional funds 
to address facility modernization for TMWA’s three hydroelectric facilities 
on the Truckee River. These plants are all over 100 years old and generate power using turbines driven 
by river flow.

Finally, the agreement fulfills TMWA’s goal to continue producing renewable energy for decades to 
come and to secure a revenue stream that benefits customers. 

Advanced Meter Infrastructure Installations are Complete
This past summer, TMWA completed its Advanced Meter Infrastructure (AMI) project, providing more 
information for customers to manage their water use than ever before. 

Account Management

	A Tracks water use by the hour, in near real-time

	A Centralizes a way to identify and pinpoint water loss 

	A Includes leak detection alerts

Total Meters Installed 

Over 137,000 new 
water meters in homes 
and businesses

137k
Operational Savings
Reduces the cost for manual meter 
reading, resulting in approximately 
$420,000 of operational savings 
per year for TMWA.

$420k
Project Duration
Approximately six years 
from 2018 – 2025

6 yrs
AMI Quick facts

See Item #8 from the 
August 2025 Board of 

Directors Meeting



9Truckee Meadows Water Authority

TMWA’s Rainy-day Fund: Restricted vs. Unrestricted Cash Reserves
Similar to the way personal savings accounts help to cover unexpected household expenses, TMWA 
maintains cash reserves to ensure the stability and reliability of our community’s water system. However, 
these reserves aren’t a measure of wealth; instead, they are used as a strategic financial planning tool 
allowing TMWA to prepare for the future and manage unexpected events.

TMWA separates its reserves into two key “buckets” for responsible management: Restricted and 
Unrestricted cash reserves. TMWA’s strategy involves balancing these two types of reserves to create a 
comprehensive financial safety net.

In addition to the unrestricted reserves required above, TMWA maintains a Rate Stabilization Fund ($11.5 
million as of June 30, 2025), which further protects customers from rate increases due to emergencies or 
other unforeseen events.

Restricted Cash Reserves

• What they are: Funds that can only be spent on pre-
defined items to support operations and meet legal or
contractual requirements, like bond covenants.

• Benefit: They provide assurance to lenders and regulators
that TMWA can meet its critical obligations, which can
reduce the cost of debt.

Unrestricted Cash Reserves 
• What they are: Funds that have flexibility in how they are 

used, serving as a vital strategic allocation tool that helps 
provide operational stability if needed.

• Benefit: They offer maximum flexibility to respond to 
financial stressors, like a sudden drop in revenue, or to 
fund unanticipated infrastructure or equipment failures.

While unrestricted cash reserves are more flexible, there are policies for holding minimum balances. 
Guidelines include:

	A Fund four months of operating expenses, with two months held as a restricted reserve. Combined, 
these equate to six months of operating reserve. 

	A Cover one year of debt service.

	A Cover repair and replacement items, representing a balance of $30 million.

	A Mitigate unforeseen one-time events like infrastructure or major equipment failures, representing 1% 
of total depreciable assets.

Review TMWA’s cash reserves 
on page 30 of the ACFR.



10Truckee Meadows Water Authority

Statement of Net Position (in millions)

Total Assets 
$1,379.8

Total Liabilities 
$404.6

Current Liabilities 
$49.8

Net Position (formally, the Statement of Net Position) provides a point-in-time ‘snapshot’ of the financial 
status for governmental organizations. Much like a balance sheet, Net Position provides insight into what 
government agencies own (assets) and what they owe (liabilities) at the end of each fiscal year. The charts 
below show TMWA’s assets and liabilities as of June 30, 2025.

2025 2024 2023 2022
Unrestricted Current Assets 120.7 117.3 170.1 189.4
Restricted Current Assets 36.5 69.6 28.7 33.3
Long-Term Restricted and Other Assets 30.2 28.8 27.5 26.1
Net Other Post Employment Benefits Asset 6 4.7 3.1 6.0
Capital Assets, Net 1,186.4 1,132.9 1,083.9 1,052.0
Total Assets 1,379.8 1,353.3 1,313.3 1,300.8
Deferred Outflow of Resources 26.3 23.1 25.5 22.4
Total Assets and Deferred Outflow of Resources 1,406.1 1,376.4 1,338.8 1,323.3
Total Current Liabilities 49.8 60.9 50.6 46.8
Long Term Debt Outstanding 289.2 309.9 333.9 355.4
Net Pension and Other Noncurrent Liabilities 65.6 64.4 61.2 28.6
Total Liabilities 404.6 435.2 445.7 433.9
Deferred Inflow of Resources  11.3  5.9  2.6  29.1
Total Liabilities and Deferred Inflow of Resources 415.9 441.1 448.3 463.0
Net Investment in Capital Assets 883.4 853.1 749.2 693.0
Restricted 50.1 45.6 43.7 50.7
Unrestricted 56.7 36.6 97.6 116.6
Total Net Position $990.2 $935.3 $890.5 $860.3

The Big Picture on TMWA’s Financial Position

At-A-Glance (in millions)

$121.5 
$4.7

$2.2
$71.9

$1,186.4 

$23.1

$18.0

$1.8

$ 49.8 $354.8 

Long-term Liabilities

Current Liabilities

Capital Assets

Unrestricted Assets

Restricted Assets

Debt and 
Interest

Supplier

Deposits

Collected on 
Behalf of Other

Employee 
Wages and 
Benefits



11Truckee Meadows Water Authority

Change in Net Position (in millions)

Change in Net Position (formally, the Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position) is a 
financial statement focusing on a particular time period. This statement (below) covers TMWA’s fiscal year 
from July 1 to June 30. Much like an income statement, it primarily covers revenues and expenses.

Change in Net Position 

2025 2024 2023 2022
Operating Revenues  132.3  122.4 113.1 114.6

Operating Expenses  129.4  122.3 114.4 98.6

Operating Income (Loss)  2.9  0.1 (1.3) 16.0

Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses), Net  (1.0)  (5.3) (10.8) (21.5)

Income (Loss) before Capital Contributions  1.9  (5.2) (12.1) (5.5)

Capital Contributions, Net  53.0  50.0 42.3 51.6

Change in Net Position  54.9  44.8 30.2  46.1

Net Position — Beginning of Year  935.3  890.5 860.3 814.2

Net Position — End of Year $990.2 $935.3 $890.5 $860.3

Explanation of Terms 

UNRESTRICTED ASSETS: Assets such as cash, 
accounts receivable, deposits, and prepaid 
expenses that can be used and managed with 
flexibility.

RESTRICTED ASSETS: Assets that must be used for 
specific purposes.

CAPITAL ASSETS: Fixed physical assets, such 
as water mains, treatment plants, pump and 
pressure regulating stations, water tanks, 
vehicles, etc.

DEFERRED FLOW OF RESOURCES: Accounting for 
revenue or expenses that will occur in the future.

TOTAL NET POSITION: Balance of a governmental 
organization’s assets against its liabilities.

OPERATING REVENUES: Money generated from 
water, hydroelectric, and other operating sales. 
From this amount, operating expenses are 
subtracted to determine operating income or loss.

OPERATING EXPENSES: Costs that are directly 
associated with day-to-day operation, such as 
wages, benefits, and services/supplies.

NONOPERATING REVENUE OR EXPENSES: 
Income or costs that are not directly attributable 
to core business operations (i.e., interest expense 
and investment income).

CAPITAL CONTRIBUTIONS: Grant proceeds 
or funds that are invested into TMWA’s 
infrastructure.

Review Change in Net Position 
details on page 32 of the ACFR.



12Truckee Meadows Water Authority

TMWA is currently addressing the loss 
of a critical groundwater well due to the 
destructive Davis Fire that rapidly burned 
through 5,824 acres between south Reno 
and Davis Creek campground in September 
of 2024.  

As the fire spread, it critically damaged 
the above-ground infrastructure at Old 
Washoe Well 4, a key water source for 
the Old Washoe Estates Pressure Zone. 
TMWA engineers estimate that 80% of 
the well’s infrastructure was a total loss. 
The salvageable assets were located 
underground and remain reusable or in serviceable condition. As a result, TMWA recorded a permanent loss 
of $579,800 in FY25. 

To date, TMWA has received initial insurance proceeds of $94,600, with additional insurance proceeds 
anticipated in FY26.

Ensuring Water Service Delivery During Disaster

Despite power loss and damage to one of its wells, TMWA ensured water service delivery to the Old 
Washoe Estates during and after the fire through consistent generator refueling, maintenance of 
pressure regulating stations, periodic visits by diesel technicians, and delivery of water disinfection 
chemicals to ensure water availability to customers.  Additional measures taken during the incident 
included: 

	A Maximizing Storage: Upon being alerted to the fire, TMWA operators immediately followed 
emergency response protocol, which included raising water storage levels in all tanks within the 
fire zone. This also ensured the maximum amount of water was available for firefighting.

	A Coordination and Safety: TMWA worked closely with law enforcement, fire department Incident 
Commanders, and the Regional Emergency Operations Center to ensure staff and contractors 
could safely maintain water-delivery operations.

	A Maintaining System Settings: Smaller portable generators were utilized at various locations to 
maintain critical operating settings, such as pressure transducers, pump on/off signals, tank 
elevation data, and cameras needed for situational awareness.

Loss Happens: Davis Wildfire Damages Critical Groundwater Well

Review the fiscal impact 
of this natural disaster 
on page 69 of the ACFR.



13Truckee Meadows Water Authority

$10.0

$25.5$22.2

$19.1

$23.1

$20.1
$10.2

$31.0

$18.2

$30.5

$19.9

$20.9
$28.4

$19.6

Incoming: Water Sales Provide 94% of TMWA’s Operating Revenue

Neither TMWA nor its customers pay for new infrastructure needed for residential or commercial 
development. To protect ratepayers from the short and long-term costs of service-area expansion, fees 
and infrastructure contributions from developers are required. Over the past seven years, total developer 
contributions for new growth have exceeded $299 million. 

New development projects are approved by the county and cities. Water rights must be dedicated to TMWA 
before building can begin for any new project. For every gallon of surface water needed to serve new 
development, an additional 11% of water rights are required and must be dedicated to TMWA for drought 
storage. This ensures the region will always have enough resources to meet dedicated water rights.

Growth Paying for Growth

Total Operating Revenue 
$132.3M

Water Sales Breakdown 
$124.0M

$91.6m 
Residential Sales

$14.0m 
Commercial Sales

$1.5m 
Wholesale Water

$4.2m
$4.1m

$124.0m

$16.9m 
Irrigation & Fire 
Protection

Developers Fund Growth (in millions)
Cash ContributionsInfrastructure Funded

2019 
$41.3

2020 
$43.2

2021 
$41.2

Total over seven years: $298.7

2022 
$48.7

2023 
$40.8

2024 
$35.5

2025 
$48.0

Water Sales

Hydroelectric Sales

Other Operating Sales



14Truckee Meadows Water Authority

Outgoing: How TMWA Spends By the Dollar

SALARIES, WAGES & EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 
Compensation paid to our workforce in 
performing TMWA’s day-to-day operations.

SERVICES & SUPPLIES 
Non-payroll related expenses of day-to-day 
operations, (i.e., treatment supplies, infrastructure 
maintenance, distribution, customer service, etc.).

PRINCIPAL & INTEREST ON CUSTOMER RELATED DEBT 
Principal and interest payments on all loans 
outstanding except those associated with service 
territory expansion.

REHABILITATIVE CAPITAL SPENDING 
The cost of replacing and maintaining existing 
capital assets, (i.e., water treatment plants, 
infrastructure replacements, storage tanks, etc.).

Employee Salaries 
& Wages

Services & 
Supplies

Rehabilitative 
Capital Spending

Employee 
Benefits

Principal & Interest Payments 
(customer related debt)

$0.20 $0.24 $0.30

$0.09 $0.17

Explanation of Expenses

TMWA’s Spending Allocations, Represented As Cents on the Dollar 

Review Revenue and 
Expense Details on page 
32 of the ACFR



15Truckee Meadows Water Authority

Capital Projects That Keep Water Flowing

Capital Spending by Category

Day or night, when customers turn on their taps, they expect water to flow. This means 24/7 operations 
for TMWA.

With a system in constant operation, there is always something within our extensive infrastructure 
requiring maintenance, rehabilitation, or replacement.

An overview of projected capital expenditures for the next five years can be found in TMWA’s current 
Water System Facility Plan. This plan includes priority water facility improvements, new infrastructure 
requirements, and projected capital improvement costs through 2040. 

Vehicles, Technology and 
Administrative Assets

Water Storage and 
Treatment Plants

Mains and 
Services

Hydroelectric 
Assets

Wells, Pump Stations 
and Pressure Regulators

2021 
$38.0M

2022 
$39.8M

2023 
$48.8M

2024 
$73.3M

2025 
$64.4M

$13.1M

$23.9M

$22.5M

$6.5M$14.2M

$7.7M

$9.1M

$8.0M

$10.2M

$14.9M

$33.5M

$22.5M

$0.1M

$0.2M

$0.1M

$11.2M $6.7M$11.9M$9.6M

$5.9M $6.7M$11.0M$9.1M $5.3M

$0.4M

https://tmwa.com/2020-2040-water-system-facility-plan/


16Truckee Meadows Water Authority

New Hydroelectric Facility Leverages Existing Infrastructure, 
Reduces Cost to Treat Water

The Orr Ditch Hydroelectric Facility is in its final phase of 
development and is set to come online in Spring 2026. This 
innovative capital improvement project began three years ago and 
stands out by leveraging existing infrastructure to create new value 
to TMWA’s operation. 

Specifically, the project capitalizes on the existing pipeline 
connecting the Chalk Bluff Water Treatment Plant (Chalk Bluff) and 
the Orr Ditch. The facility uses this existing gravity-fed conveyance 
to drive two new power generating turbines located below Chalk 
Bluff. Using the existing canal eliminates the need for a new diversion 
from the river, which also simplified the permitting process with the 
Federal Energy Regulatory Commission. 

Importantly, power from Orr Ditch will be managed by TMWA and 
used as a clean energy supply for Chalk Bluff, the region’s primary 
water treatment facility. Generating TMWA’s own power at this 
key location during the off-peak months of November-April will 
substantially reduce the facility’s power cost, which is one of TMWA’s 
largest single expenses.

This project was constructed in conjunction with the replacement 
of the Orr Ditch booster pump station which provides a redundant 
supply of water to Chalk Bluff. The total project cost was 
approximately $40 million and was funded partially ($1.5 million) by 
grant proceeds from the Nevada Department of Conservation and 
Natural Resources. TMWA expects to receive additional funding 
of approximately $4 million through refundable tax credits. These 
proceeds are expected in fiscal year 2027. 

See Agenda Item #6 from 
the February 2020 Board 
of Directors Meeting



17Truckee Meadows Water Authority

Developing a Sustainable Water Resource: An Update on the 
American Flat Project

EPA and State Revolving Funds: $128 Million

Bureau of Reclamation Grant: $30 Million

Remaining Funds

After more than 15 years of research, pilot testing, and demonstration projects in partnership with the City of 
Reno, progress continues on the Advanced Purified Water Facility (APWF) at American Flat north of Reno. 

The new facility will produce approximately two million gallons per day of drought-proof, high-quality 
drinking water. To date, most of the funding secured has come from a combination of local, state and federal 
sources. These include:

Construction is slated for Summer 2026 and is expected 
to last several years, followed by a period of extensive 
testing and monitoring. During this period, the A+ 
Water from American Flat will be used for agriculture, 
ultimately becoming a new groundwater resource for 
TMWA’s drinking water distribution.

The U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) announced in October 2024 that it was supporting 
the project with $128 million, which includes:

	A $70 million loaned through Nevada’s Clean Water State Revolving Fund,

	A $55 million loaned through the Nevada Division of Environmental Protection’s Drinking Water 
State Revolving Fund, and

	A $3 million in congressionally directed spending.

TMWA and the City of Reno were awarded a $30 million federal WaterSMART grant from the 
Department of Interior’s Bureau of Reclamation for the planning, design, and construction of the 
facility.

Additional funding is provided through agency partnership, with 70% of the remaining funds coming 
from the City of Reno and 30% from TMWA.

Stay updated on the 
American Flat project.



18Truckee Meadows Water Authority

Integrating It All

RESOURCES 
PLAN

FACILITY 
PLAN

FUNDING 
PLAN

CUSTOMER 
RATES

FACILITY 
CHARGE

This document is a high-level overview of TMWA’s Annual 
Comprehensive Financial Report, which offers a detailed review 
of multiple financial statements as well as the policies that guide 
TMWA’s approach to managing funds.

This annual financial report gives insight into the fiscal health 
of TMWA’s operations year after year. Beyond annual financial 
reporting, TMWA has an integrated planning approach across three 
areas of focus: Funding, Facilities, and Water Resources.

TMWA’s Funding Plan projects into the next five years, whereas 
the Facility and Water Resource Plans look 20+ years into the 
future. Although these are three distinct planning efforts, the 
implementation of the plans is integrated. 

For example: 
The Water Resource Plan estimates water supply and demand, 
giving insight into the facility capacity that will be needed for 
TMWA’s future infrastructure.

The Facility Plan identifies the condition of TMWA’s existing capital 
assets and project expansions needed to meet future growth, as identified in the Water Resource Plan. 
Facility charges are calculated based on the Facility Plan and are what builders and developers pay to 
connect new construction to the water system. This keeps customer rates protected from the cost of new 
developments, ensuring growth pays for growth. 

The Funding Plan is a five-year operations plan that also incorporates the Five-Year Capital Improvement 
Plan. It is a thorough analysis of all revenues and expenses, as well as any capital improvements and 
infrastructure needed—with an assessment of overall spending and identification of funding options. 

This integrated planning approach is how TMWA can both ensure the delivery of high-quality drinking 
water while keeping customer rates as low as possible. To see all of TMWA’s most recent plans, go to 
tmwa.com/planning.

https://tmwa.com/financial-information/
https://tmwa.com/financial-information/
https://www.tmwa.com/planning/


1

TMWA 
FY25 Annual Comprehensive Financial Report

February 3, 2026

02-03-26 SAC Agenda Item 6



2

Purpose of the ACFR
• Provides complete picture
• Demonstrates compliance
• Supports decision-making
• Offers transparency

02-03-26 SAC Agenda Item 6



3

FY25 ACFR Takeaways
1. Auditor Reports – Basic Financials

and Single Audit
2. Debt payoff
3. Impairment Loss
4. GASB 101

02-03-26 SAC Agenda Item 6



4

Auditor Reports
Basic Financial Statements

02-03-26 SAC Agenda Item 6



5

Auditor Reports
Single Audit

• Report on Compliance for the Major 
Federal Program

02-03-26 SAC Agenda Item 6



6

Auditor Reports
Single Audit (Continued)

• Report on Internal Control Over 
Compliance Required by the Uniform 
Guidance

02-03-26 SAC Agenda Item 6



7

Debt Payoff
Paid off two State Revolving Fund bonds in FY25
Represents diligent fulfillment of debt obligations
Interest expense: $21.3M in 2015 vs $8.9M in 
2025

02-03-26 SAC Agenda Item 6



8

Impairment Loss
• Davis Fire in September 2024
• Old Washoe Well 4 Facility 

02-03-26 SAC Agenda Item 6



9

GASB 101 
Compensated Absences
• Establishes a uniform model for 

recognizing and measuring liabilities 
related to employee leave benefits

• Requires recognition of a liability for:
–Unused leave
–Leave that has been used but not yet paid

• Results in a larger liability 

02-03-26 SAC Agenda Item 6



10

02-03-26 SAC Agenda Item 6



Thank You to the Team!

11

• Ana Rodriguez, TMWA Principal Accountant
• Angel Suazo-Lara, Eide Bailly Audit Associate
• Cammy LoRé, GoodStanding Partner
• Chris McCarthy, Eide Bailly Senior Audit Manager
• Cody Crafts, Eide Bailly Senior Audit Associate
• Jacob Gualano, TMWA Accounting Technician
• Matt Bowman, TMWA Chief Financial Officer
• Robert Charpentier, TMWA Communications Specialist
• Sandra Tozi, TMWA Principal Financial Analyst
• Shawn Stoddard, TMWA Senior Resource Economist
• Tessa Rognier, Eide Bailly Audit Associate
• Tiffany Williamson, Eide Bailly Partner
• Veronica Galindo, TMWA Senior Accountant

02-03-26 SAC Agenda Item 6



12

Sophie Cardinal, Financial Controller
Email: scardinal@tmwa.com

O: (775) 834-0305 M: (775) 531-8477

Discussion / Questions?

02-03-26 SAC Agenda Item 6



02-03-26 SAC Agenda Item 7 
12-11-25 BOARD Agenda Item 12 

1 

 
 

 
TO:  Board of Directors 
THRU: John R. Zimmerman, General Manager 
FROM: Matt Bowman, Chief Financial Officer 
DATE:  November 20, 2025 
SUBJECT: Presentation of financial performance for first quarter fiscal year 2026 
_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Summary 
 
Please refer to Attachments A-1 and A-2 for full Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net 
Position for both actual to budget and year-over-year comparisons as discussed in the report below.  
 
Budget to Actual 
  Actual  Budget   
 YTD 2026 YTD 2026 Variance $ Variance % 
CHANGE IN NET POSITION $ 28,915,530  $ 28,836,604  $ 78,926  — % 

 
Change in net position was $0.1m or 0% higher than budget through Q1 2026. This was driven by lower 
operating income, lower operating expenses, higher investment earnings and lower capital contributions. 
 
Year over Year 
  Actual Actual   
 YTD 2026 YTD 2025 Variance $ Variance % 
CHANGE IN NET POSITION $ 28,915,530  $ 37,709,068  $ (8,793,538) (23) % 

 
Change in net position was $8.8m or 23% lower than the prior year. The largest driver of this decrease was 
the recognition of a $9.0m credit to will serve revenue resulting from a resource exchange agreement with 
TRIGID and TRIC related to the effluent pipeline to TRIGID in the prior year. TMWA received the cash in 
2021, but held it on deposit until effluent was delivered via the pipeline, per the terms of the agreement. 
This occurred in the first quarter at which point $9.0m was recognized as will serve revenue. 
 
 



02-03-26 SAC Agenda Item 7 
12-11-25 BOARD Agenda Item 12 

2 

 
Revenue 

 
Budget to Actual 

  Actual  Budget   
 YTD 2026 YTD 2026 Variance $ Variance % 
OPERATING REVENUES     
Charges for Water Sales  48,028,621   48,802,387   (773,766) (2) % 
Hydroelectric Sales  1,075,374   860,339   215,035  25 % 
Other Operating Sales  795,066   1,145,984   (350,918) (31) % 

Total Operating Revenues  49,899,061   50,808,710   (909,649) (2) % 
 
Operating revenue was $0.9m or 2% lower than budget through Q1 2026. Water sales were within 2% of 
budget, hydroelectric revenue was 25% higher than budget and other operating sales were 31% lower than 
budget. Hydroelectric revenue surpassed the budget as a result of strong river flows and reduced 
maintenance downtime compared to what had been planned, allowing for increased generation. Other 
operating sales were below budget primarily due to reduced new business inspection fees resulting from 
lower project related activity levels. 
 
Year over Year 

  Actual  Actual   
 YTD 2026 YTD 2025 Variance $ Variance % 
OPERATING REVENUES     
Charges for Water Sales  48,028,621   47,092,739   935,882  2 % 
Hydroelectric Sales  1,075,374   1,022,489   52,885  5 % 
Other Operating Sales  795,066   1,332,034   (536,968) (40) % 

Total Operating Revenues  49,899,061   49,447,262   451,799  1 % 
 

Year over year, operating revenues were higher by $0.5m or 1% due primarily to higher water sales. Water 
consumption remained flat compared to FY 2025.  



02-03-26 SAC Agenda Item 7 
12-11-25 BOARD Agenda Item 12 

3 

 
Operating Expenses 
 
Budget to Actual 

  Actual  Budget   
 YTD 2026 YTD 2026 Variance $ Variance % 
OPERATING EXPENSES     
Salaries and Wages  9,234,502   9,457,288   (222,786) (2) % 
Employee Benefits  4,235,637   4,724,046   (488,409) (10) % 
Services and Supplies  12,140,472   13,397,755   (1,257,283) (9) % 

Total Operating Expenses Before Depreciation  25,610,611   27,579,089   (1,968,478) (7) % 
Depreciation  9,111,906   9,226,061   (114,155) (1) % 

Total Operating Expenses  34,722,517   36,805,150   (2,082,633) (6) % 
 

Total operating expenses were $2.1m or 6% lower than budget through Q1 2026. Salaries and wages and 
benefits were lower primarily due primarily to position vacancies. Services and supplies were $1.3m or 9% 
lower due to various expense categories. Two of the larger variances are electrical costs, which were lower 
by $0.3m and chemicals were lower by $0.2m. 
 
Year over Year 

  Actual Actual   
 YTD 2026 YTD 2025 Variance $ Variance % 
OPERATING EXPENSES     
Salaries and Wages  9,234,502   8,579,136   655,366  8 % 
Employee Benefits  4,235,637   3,870,399   365,238  9 % 
Services and Supplies  12,140,472   12,180,231   (39,759) — % 

Total Operating Expenses Before Depreciation  25,610,611   24,629,766   980,845  4 % 
Depreciation  9,111,906   9,011,970   99,936  1 % 

Total Operating Expenses  34,722,517   33,641,736   1,080,781  3 % 
  
 

Year over year operating expenses were $1.1m or 3% higher compared to the prior year. Salaries and wages 
and benefits are higher than prior year to due to Labor Market Index (LMI) increases, step increases, and 
additions to staff during FY 2025 and Q1 2026. Services and supplies remained flat year over year.  
 
 
 



02-03-26 SAC Agenda Item 7 
12-11-25 BOARD Agenda Item 12 

4 

Non-Operating Revenues (Expenses) 

 
Budget to Actual 

  Actual  Budget   
 YTD 2026 YTD 2026 Variance $ Variance % 
NONOPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)     
Investment Earnings  1,285,673   1,084,284   201,389  19 % 
Net Increase (Decrease) in FV of Investments  384,929   —   384,929  — % 
Gain (Loss) on Disposal of Assets  179,154   (375,000)  554,154  (148) % 
Amortization of Bond/note Issuance Costs  —   —   —  — % 
Interest Expense  (2,110,819)  (2,228,561)  117,742  (5) % 

Total Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses)  (261,063)  (1,519,277)  1,258,214  (83) % 
 

Nonoperating expenses were $1.3m or 83% lower than budget through Q1 2026. There was a net increase 
in the fair value of investments as market interest rates continue to drop. This trend will continue if rates 
continue to fall in 2025 and 2026. 
 
Year over Year 

  Actual  Actual   
 YTD 2026 YTD 2025 Variance $ Variance % 
NONOPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)     
Investment Earnings  1,285,673   1,474,848   (189,175) (13) % 
Net Increase (Decrease) in FV of Investments  384,929   1,939,540   (1,554,611) (80) % 
Gain (Loss) on Disposal of Assets  179,154   21,830   157,324  721 % 
Amortization of Bond/note Issuance Costs  —   —   —  — % 
Interest Expense  (2,110,819)  (2,220,619)  109,800  (5) % 

Total Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses)  (261,063)  1,215,599   (1,476,662) (121) % 
 

Net nonoperating expenses were $0.3m compared to net nonoperating revenue of $1.2m in the prior year 
for a change of $1.5m or 121%, primarily due to the fair value adjustments in investment holdings. The 
adjustment in the prior year was significantly higher than the current year caused by a higher decline in the 
5-year Treasury rate—19% in Q1 2025 compared to only 3% in Q1 2026. 
 
 
 
 



02-03-26 SAC Agenda Item 7 
12-11-25 BOARD Agenda Item 12 

5 

 
Capital Contributions 

 
Budget to Actual 

  Actual  Budget   
 YTD 2026 YTD 2026 Variance $ Variance % 
CAPITAL CONTRIBUTIONS     
Grants  3,000,000   3,033,707   (33,707) (1) % 
Water Resource Sustainability Program  158,928   154,127   4,801  3 % 
Developer Infrastructure Contributions  7,118,316   3,237,805   3,880,511  120 % 
Developer Will-serve Contributions (Net of Refunds)  526,765   838,350   (311,585) (37) % 
Developer Capital Contributions - Other  341,000   —   341,000  — % 
Developer Facility Charges (Net of Refunds)  1,817,200   3,779,207   (1,962,007) (52) % 
Contributions from Others  —   34,125   (34,125) (100) % 
Contributions from Other Governments  1,037,840   5,275,000   (4,237,160) (80) % 

Net Capital Contributions  14,000,049   16,352,321   (2,352,272) (14) % 
 
Capital contributions were $2.4m or 14% lower than budget. Contributing to the variance is lower 
contributions from other governments and lower developer facility charges. Contributions from other 
governments accounts for payments from City of Reno related to American Flat. Spending will come later 
in the year, at which point contributions from City of Reno will increase. Lower facility charges are due to 
less new business projects. The largest offsetting variances are related to higher non-cash developer 
infrastructure contributions, offset by lower contributions related to the American Flat APW facility. During 
the quarter, developer infrastructure contributions included a substantial amount of assets completed, 
inspected, and dedicated to TMWA from Quilici Ranch and Talus Valley, totaling $4.7m in Q1. This figure 
does not necessarily represent the current level of project activity, but rather the completion of entire projects 
or specific project segments.  
 
Year over Year 

  Actual Actual   
 YTD 2026 YTD 2025 Variance $ Variance % 
CAPITAL CONTRIBUTIONS     
Grants  3,000,000   241,156   2,758,844  1,144 % 
Water Resource Sustainability Program  158,928   158,272   656  — % 
Developer Infrastructure Contributions  7,118,316   2,478,636   4,639,680  187 % 
Developer Will-serve Contributions (Net of Refunds)  526,765   9,850,040   (9,323,275) (95) % 
Developer Capital Contributions - Other  341,000   4,217,497   (3,876,497) (92) % 
Developer Facility Charges (Net of Refunds)  1,817,200   3,259,405   (1,442,205) (44) % 
Contributions from Other Governments  1,037,840   482,937   554,903  115 % 

Net Capital Contributions  14,000,049   20,687,943   (6,687,894) (32) % 
 



02-03-26 SAC Agenda Item 7 
12-11-25 BOARD Agenda Item 12 

6 

Year over year, capital contributions are $6.7m or 32% lower than the prior year primarily due to the 
recognition of a $9.0m credit to will serve revenue resulting from a resource exchange agreement with 
TRIGID and TRIC related to the effluent pipeline to TRIGID in the prior year. Additionally, grant revenue 
is higher due to the recognition of EPA related funding for TMWA's American Flat APW facility. 



02-03-26 SAC Agenda Item 7 
12-11-25 BOARD Agenda Item 12 

7 

Capital Spending 
 
Cash spent on capital outlays and construction projects through Q1 2026 was approximately $14.5m. Total 
budgeted capital spend for fiscal year 2026 is $121.6m, which included $30.0m and $4.0m for the American 
Flat APW facility and Lazy 5 Booster Pump Station, respectively. Spending on the top three projects during 
the fiscal year is listed below: 
 
American Flat APW facility    $     1.5m 
Lazy 5 Booster Pump Station    $     1.3m 
Orr Ditch Pump Station and Hydro Facility  $     1.0m 
   
Cash Position 
 
At September 30, 2025 total cash and investments was $156.0m or $4.2m lower than at the beginning of the 
fiscal year. Of the total cash and investments, $98.3m was unrestricted to be used to meet upcoming and 
future operating and maintenance expenses, principal and interest payments and construction project 
payments. The remaining $57.7m was restricted to pay for scheduled bond principal and interest payments 
as well as maintaining required reserves as stipulated in our bond covenants.  
 
 

 



02-03-26 SAC Agenda Item 7 
12-11-25 BOARD Agenda Item 12 

8 

Attachment A-1 

Truckee Meadows Water Authority      
Comparative Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position 
For the first quarter ended September 30, 2025 
______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

  Actual  Budget   
 YTD 2026 YTD 2026 Variance $ Variance % 
OPERATING REVENUES     
Charges for Water Sales $ 48,028,621  $ 48,802,387  $ (773,766) (2) % 
Hydroelectric Sales  1,075,374   860,339   215,035  25 % 
Other Operating Sales  795,066   1,145,984   (350,918) (31) % 

Total Operating Revenues  49,899,061   50,808,710   (909,649) (2) % 
OPERATING EXPENSES     
Salaries and Wages  9,234,502   9,457,288   (222,786) (2) % 
Employee Benefits  4,235,637   4,724,046   (488,409) (10) % 
Services and Supplies  12,140,472   13,397,755   (1,257,283) (9) % 

Total Operating Expenses Before Depreciation  25,610,611   27,579,089   (1,968,478) (7) % 
Depreciation  9,111,906   9,226,061   (114,155) (1) % 

Total Operating Expenses  34,722,517   36,805,150   (2,082,633) (6) % 
OPERATING INCOME  15,176,544   14,003,560   1,172,984  8 % 
NONOPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)     
Investment Earnings  1,285,673   1,084,284   201,389  19 % 
Net Increase (Decrease) in FV of Investments  384,929   —   384,929  — % 
Gain (Loss) on Disposal of Assets  179,154   (375,000)  554,154  (148) % 
Amortization of Bond/note Issuance Costs  —   —   —  — % 
Interest Expense  (2,110,819)  (2,228,561)  117,742  (5) % 

Total Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses)  (261,063)  (1,519,277)  1,258,214  (83) % 
Gain (Loss) Before Capital Contributions  14,915,481   12,484,283   2,431,198  19 % 

CAPITAL CONTRIBUTIONS     
Grants  3,000,000   3,033,707   (33,707) (1) % 
Water Resource Sustainability Program  158,928   154,127   4,801  3 % 
Developer Infrastructure Contributions  7,118,316   3,237,805   3,880,511  120 % 
Developer Will-serve Contributions (Net of Refunds)  526,765   838,350   (311,585) (37) % 
Developer Capital Contributions - Other  341,000   —   341,000  — % 
Developer Facility Charges (Net of Refunds)  1,817,200   3,779,207   (1,962,007) (52) % 
Contributions from Others  —   34,125   (34,125) (100) % 
Contributions from Other Governments  1,037,840   5,275,000   (4,237,160) (80) % 

Net Capital Contributions  14,000,049   16,352,321   (2,352,272) (14) % 
CHANGE IN NET POSITION $ 28,915,530  $ 28,836,604  $ 78,926  — % 

 
 



02-03-26 SAC Agenda Item 7 
12-11-25 BOARD Agenda Item 12 

9 

Attachment A-2 

Truckee Meadows Water Authority      
Comparative Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position 
For the first quarter ended September 30, 2025 
______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

  Actual Actual   
 YTD 2026 YTD 2025 Variance $ Variance % 
OPERATING REVENUES     
Charges for Water Sales $ 48,028,621  $ 47,092,739  $ 935,882  2 % 
Hydroelectric Sales  1,075,374   1,022,489   52,885  5 % 
Other Operating Sales  795,066   1,332,034   (536,968) (40) % 

Total Operating Revenues  49,899,061   49,447,262   451,799  1 % 
OPERATING EXPENSES     
Salaries and Wages  9,234,502   8,579,136   655,366  8 % 
Employee Benefits  4,235,637   3,870,399   365,238  9 % 
Services and Supplies  12,140,472   12,180,231   (39,759) — % 

Total Operating Expenses Before Depreciation  25,610,611   24,629,766   980,845  4 % 
Depreciation  9,111,906   9,011,970   99,936  1 % 

Total Operating Expenses  34,722,517   33,641,736   1,080,781  3 % 
OPERATING INCOME  15,176,544   15,805,526   (628,982) (4) % 
NONOPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)     
Investment Earnings  1,285,673   1,474,848   (189,175) (13) % 
Net Increase (Decrease) in FV of Investments  384,929   1,939,540   (1,554,611) (80) % 
Gain (Loss) on Disposal of Assets  179,154   21,830   157,324  721 % 
Amortization of Bond/note Issuance Costs  —   —   —  — % 
Interest Expense  (2,110,819)  (2,220,619)  109,800  (5) % 

Total Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses)  (261,063)  1,215,599   (1,476,662) (121) % 
Gain (Loss) Before Capital Contributions  14,915,481   17,021,125   (2,105,644) (12) % 

CAPITAL CONTRIBUTIONS     
Grants  3,000,000   241,156   2,758,844  1,144 % 
Water Resource Sustainability Program  158,928   158,272   656  — % 
Developer Infrastructure Contributions  7,118,316   2,478,636   4,639,680  187 % 
Developer Will-serve Contributions (Net of Refunds)  526,765   9,850,040   (9,323,275) (95) % 
Developer Capital Contributions - Other  341,000   4,217,497   (3,876,497) (92) % 
Developer Facility Charges (Net of Refunds)  1,817,200   3,259,405   (1,442,205) (44) % 
Contributions from Others  —   —   —  — % 
Contributions from Other Governments  1,037,840   482,937   554,903  115 % 

Net Capital Contributions  14,000,049   20,687,943   (6,687,894) (32) % 
CHANGE IN NET POSITION $ 28,915,530  $ 37,709,068  $ (8,793,538) (23) % 

 



1

TMWA
Fiscal Year 2026 Q1 Year-to-Date Financial Results

December 11, 2025

02-03-26 SAC Agenda Item 7



Summary

2

Q1 Compared to Budget

• Operating Revenue  -$1.0m / -2%
• Water sales lower by 2%

• Operating Expenses  -$2.0m / -7%
• Wages/Benefits lower by 5%
• Services and supplies lower by 9%

• Investment Earnings  +$0.2m / +19%

• Connection Fees  -$1.9m / -40%
• Somewhat timing related (large receipts in October - Q2)

• Capital Spending  $14.5m

• Cash balance since BoY -$4.2m / -3%

02-03-26 SAC Agenda Item 7



Operating Revenues

3

Water Sales

02-03-26 SAC Agenda Item 7



Gallons Sold (000) Q1 last 5 years 

4

 -

 2,000,000

 4,000,000

 6,000,000

 8,000,000

 10,000,000

 12,000,000

 Q1 FY 2022  Q1 FY 2023  Q1 FY 2024  Q1 FY 2025  Q1 FY 2026

02-03-26 SAC Agenda Item 7



Operating Expenses

5

02-03-26 SAC Agenda Item 7



Employee Headcount

6

139 142

154 151

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

180

IBEW MPAT

Actual Budget

Administrative
Supply and Treatment 

Operations

Distribution Maintenance 
Operations Hydroelectric

Customer 
Service and 

Conservation

Water 
Resources

Engineering and 
Construction

Staff by Department

02-03-26 SAC Agenda Item 7



Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses)

7

02-03-26 SAC Agenda Item 7



Long-term Debt Outstanding

8

2.56%

1.19%

5.00% 5.00% 5.00% 5.00% 5.00%

0.00%

1.00%

2.00%

3.00%

4.00%

5.00%

6.00%

 -

 10,000,000

 20,000,000

 30,000,000

 40,000,000

 50,000,000

 60,000,000

 70,000,000

 80,000,000

SRF Funding 2021 Refunding
Bonds

2015-A
Refunding

Bonds

2016 Refunding
Bonds

2017 Refunding
Bonds

2018 Refunding
Bonds

2024 Water
Revenue Bonds

In
te

re
st

 R
at

e

Pr
in

ci
pa

l

Outstanding Interest Rate

02-03-26 SAC Agenda Item 7



Capital Contributions

9

02-03-26 SAC Agenda Item 7



Capital Spending 

10

Orr Ditch Booster Pump Station and Hydro Facility

02-03-26 SAC Agenda Item 7



Wrap-up

11

02-03-26 SAC Agenda Item 7



12

Matt Bowman, Chief Financial Officer

Thank you!
Questions?

02-03-26 SAC Agenda Item 7



02-03-26 SAC Agenda Item 8 
01-21-26 BOARD Agenda Item 11 

Page 1 of 3 

    
STAFF REPORT 

 
TO: Board of Directors 
THRU: John R. Zimmerman, General Manager 
FROM: Matt Bowman, Chief Financial Officer, and 
 Shawn Stoddard, Senior Resource Economist 
DATE: January 9, 2026 
SUBJECT: Rule Amendment, First Reading, Public Hearing: Discussion and referral to a second 

reading structure changes to TMWA water rates reflecting the results of a Cost of 
Service study 

 

 
Recommendation 

Staff recommends the Board refer to a second reading structure changes to TMWA’s water rates 
reflecting the results of a Cost of Service (COS) study completed in 2025. The purpose of the changes is 
to redistribute the collection of water sales revenue in accordance with the cost to provide water service 
to each of TMWA’s customer groups consistent with methodology set forth by the American Water 
Works Association (AWWA). The second reading of this proposal is tentatively scheduled for the 
Board’s February 18, 2026 meeting with the changes to be effective the first billing cycle in May 2026. 
 
Summary 
 At the Board’s September 17, 2025 meeting, Staff presented the results of the Cost of Service 
study along with the recommended rate structure changes. The Board tentative approved the results of 
the study and directed staff to move forward with additional public outreach. Below is a summary of the 
public outreach.  
 
Public Outreach 

• August Standing Advisory Committee Meeting – COS Adjustment Presentation by TMWA 
CFO Matt Bowman 

• September Board of Directors Meeting - COS Adjustment Presentation by TMWA CFO Matt 
Bowman 

• Bill Insert – November 2025: 67,072 recipients. 
• Lead Story on TMWA.COM (Nov 2 – Dec 29, 2025):  

o Visitors: 94,000 
o Clickthrough: 44 

• Email Newsletter – November 2025: 142,440 recipients. 52% open rate (73,766). 

  



02-03-26 SAC Agenda Item 8 
01-21-26 BOARD Agenda Item 11 

Page 2 of 3 

• Public Zoom Meeting #1: Thursday, December 4, 2025 
o Attendees: 12 

• Public Zoom Meeting #2: Tuesday, December 9, 2025 
o Attendees: 7 

• Public Comment 
o On TMWA.COM: 4 
o At TMWA Board of Directors Meeting, 12-11-25 

TMWA has received several questions from customers about the rate changes resulting from the 
COS study. These questions and responses are summarized in Attachment A. 

It is important to note that TMWA’s rates will also be impacted by the planned 3.5% rate 
increase also effective in May 2026. This rate increase was initially approved by the Board in February 
2024 and affirmed by the Board in October 2025 and is required to sustain overall financial viability and 
meet key financial objectives. To clearly demonstrate the effect of the COS changes and the 3.5% rate 
increase, see Attachment B. 
 
Background 

TMWA has conducted its first COS study since the 2015 consolidation with Washoe County’s 
water system to ensure equitable, transparent, and defensible rate structures. The study, guided by 
AWWA best practices, identifies the cost of serving each customer class, prevents cross-subsidization, 
and supports financial sustainability through full-cost recovery. Importantly, the COS study does not 
change total revenue but reallocates it among customer groups based on actual usage and demand 
characteristics. Below are two pie charts showing the current allocations between customer groups and 
the proposed allocations.  

 
 



02-03-26 SAC Agenda Item 8 
01-21-26 BOARD Agenda Item 11 

Page 3 of 3 

Another key objective was integrating former Washoe County rate schedules into TMWA’s 
consolidated structure. STMGID customers remain on their current rates unless the residence is sold or 
until 2035, per the contracts governing TMWA’s consolidation of that GID’s water system. 

The COS study included allocating costs into fixed and variable components, resulting in 
recommended changes: increasing fixed charges from 33% to about 43% of total revenue and reducing 
variable charges from 67% to 57%. This adjustment reflects the cost of maintaining system readiness 
and capacity and aligning with industry standards. Customer classes were analyzed for meter size, usage 
patterns, and peaking factors, resulting in updated allocations for single-family, multi-family, 
commercial, irrigation, and wholesale customers. 

To implement these findings, rate design changes are proposed. All customer groups will see 
revised service charges based on meter capacity, with larger meters paying proportionally more to 
reflect system capacity requirements. Single-family and multi-family customers will experience reduced 
commodity charges for lower tiers and increased charges for higher tiers, while commercial customers 
will move to a uniform rate structure. Irrigation customers will retain seasonal pricing but with adjusted 
rates. These changes aim to simplify rate structures, increase the accuracy of aligning the cost of service 
with revenue, and ensure more predictable revenue streams. For more background information refer to 
the September 2025 board packet included at the link below. 
TMWA Board of Directors Meeting-Wed, Sept 17, 2025 - Truckee Meadows Water Authority 
 
Recommended Motion  
 Move to refer the proposed rate design changes as required from TMWA’s Cost of Service study 
to a second reading on February 18, 2026. 
  

https://tmwa.com/meeting/tmwa-board-of-directors-meeting-wed-sept-17-2025/


Customer Question 1: 

Isn't the COS nothing more than a rate increase? If fixed rates are increased bases upon meter size how does 
that equate to 'slightly reduced per-gallon water charges? Please define slightly. Could it mean insignificantly 

TMWA Response to Customer: 

Hi Gordon, 

Thanks for the question about our cost of service study. Below is a more detailed table which shows the current 
rates (left) and proposed rates (right). You'll notice there are two different rates, the Customer Charge and the 
Commodity Charge. The Customer Charge (also referred to as 'meter' charge) is based on the fixed cost to 
deliver water, or capacity of the system. The Commodity Charge (also referred to as 'use' charge) is the per 
gallon charge. The proposed new rates include lower Commodity Charges for Tiers 1 and 2, which is why this 
change could result in lower charges. What I'm seeing is that for at least 85% of customers in our residential 
rate class, they will see a decrease in total monthly charges.  We cannot say everyone will see a decrease, 
because it can depend on the usage, but for most, it will be a decrease. 

Hopefully this helps, but let me know if you have any more questions. 

Thanks, 
Matt 

02-03-26 SAC Agenda Item 8
01-21-26 BOARD Agenda Item 11

Page 1 of 7



 
Customer Question 2: 

• How does the simplified structure ensure multiplex and commercial customers pay their fair share of 
the cost of water? 

• How does this new simplified Structures of a single rate differentiate between heavy water users 
industries and low water industries? 

• How does this simplified structure encourage water conservation in the Great Basin high desert in 
commercial multiplex and in industrial use? 

• When will the board be making their decision? And approximately when will these changes be seen on 
the monthly bills? 

TMWA Response to Customer: 

Hi Valerie, 

Thanks for your questions on the Cost of Service rate changes. I went through each of them below and provided 
answers. Let me know if you have any other questions. 

How does the simplified structure ensure multiplex and commercial customers pay their fair share of the cost of 
water? 

• The cost of service study showed that TMWA needs to collect a larger portion of revenue through meter 
charges to ensure all customer groups pay their fair share. This includes multiplex (multi-family 
residential) and commercial customers. By aligning charges more closely with meter size, the new 
structure ensures that costs are distributed fairly based on the level of service required. 

How does this new simplified Structures of a single rate differentiate between heavy water users industries and 
low water industries? 

• The difference comes from meter size. Large water users require bigger meters to meet their demand, 
which means they will pay higher monthly customer charges. Smaller water users have smaller meters 
and will pay much lower customer charges. This approach keeps the structure simple while still 
reflecting the scale of water use. 

How does this simplified structure encourage water conservation in the Great Basin high desert in commercial 
multiplex and in industrial use? 

• Conservation remains a key part of the rate structure. It starts when service is established—customers 
pay for water rights and infrastructure based on the amount of water they plan to use. Then, monthly 
usage charges continue to encourage conservation: the more water used, the higher the bill. This 
ensures that both customer groups have a financial incentive to use water efficiently.  

  

02-03-26 SAC Agenda Item 8 
01-21-26 BOARD Agenda Item 11

Page 2 of 7



 
When will the board be making their decision? And approximately when will these changes be seen on the 
monthly bills? 

• The TMWA Board will review and vote on these changes at two separate meetings, scheduled for 
January and February. If approved, the new rates will take effect in May 2026 and will appear on 
customer bills starting in June 2026. 

Thanks, 
Matt 

Follow up from customer:  

Hi Matt,  

Thanks so much for the reply. I greatly appreciate it. 

Would you be able to share the proposed residential meter rate adjusted for COS? 

TMWA Response: 

Hi Valerie, 

Yes, absolutely. Below is a screen shot of the old rate structure (left) and the proposed new structure (right). 
You'll notice the proposed structure includes the same meter rates for 1" and larger. We have very few 1.5" and 
larger meters so we grouped all of those into the 1" price category.  

If you have any other questions please let me know. 

 

-Matt 

  

02-03-26 SAC Agenda Item 8 
01-21-26 BOARD Agenda Item 11

Page 3 of 7



 
Customer Question 3: 

Hello, We are on an acre in old Virginia Foothills with livestock. Our water company STMGID, was swallowed 
up by TMWA. Is there a rate available to us that reflects the rural nature of our usage? 

TMWA Response: 

Hi Barbara, 

Thanks for your question about the former STMGID rates. As part of the agreement with the STMGID 
customers when TMWA acquired that system is that your rates will remain in effect until 2035. So, this cost-of-
service study does NOT affect your rates.  

Let me know if you have any other questions. 

Thanks, 
Matt 

 

Customer Question 4:  

How will the proposed changes impact flat-rate single-family residential customers? You focused on metered 
examples—what about us on flat rate? 

TMWA Response: 

• Impact on flat-rate SFR customers will be very minimal, with a slight increase (their allocation changes 
from 2% to 3% of the “pie”). 

• For an exact bill impact, Matt asked the customer to email COS@tmwa.com with their service address 
so staff can calculate it.  

Follow-up from customer:  

How do we know our meter size? 
 

TMWA Response: 

• You can look at the physical meter, but it’s not currently shown on the bill (they’re working to add it). 

• Best path now: call customer service or email and TMWA will provide the meter size.  

  

02-03-26 SAC Agenda Item 8 
01-21-26 BOARD Agenda Item 11

Page 4 of 7

mailto:COS@tmwa.com


 
Customer Questions 5-12 refer to the Board Packet from the September 17, 2025 Board Meeting 

Customer Question 5:  

The staff report on page 4 of 7 states the Single family residential customer charges by meter size should be 
capped at the 1 inch meter size.  The report states this is because “these larger meter sizes do not correlate with 
safe operating capacity or lot size; the meter size was determined when installed because of engineering/water 
delivery challenges that only larger meter size could resolve.”  There is no detail offered in the report that I can 
find to justify these conclusions. What are the engineering/water delivery challenges, and what are the issues 
with operating capacity or lot size?  

TMWA Response: 

Stated another way, the meter size that was installed at these locations was chosen to accommodate hydraulic 
limitations of the meter size that would be sufficient to satisfy the property owner’s domestic water needs. There 
may be a handful of properties for which a larger meter size was installed because of the lot size (perhaps 
potential for a granny flat or cottage unit on the property at a later date); these are exceptions and so few that it 
is not administratively efficient to spend the resources required to identify every customer parcel where this 
may be the case.  

Additionally, the meter size is requested by the developer to meet engineering needs of the lot. There are three 
4” meters, one 3” meter, 551 2” meters, and 326 1.5” meters.  The 3 and 4 inch meter were installed prior to 
TMWA. Since 2008, there has only been about 60 1.5 and 2 inch RMWS meters installed by TMWA. 

The indoor water use pattern for the larger residential meters is similar to a smaller meter. The summer time use 
is also similar to other residential service. The larger meters do have a small number of meters with larger water 
use and this tends to skew the average use upwards, but for most, the use is similar to other single family 
homes. 

Customer Question 6:  

Does TMWA conclude that all Single family residential meters larger than 1 inch are affected by 
engineering/water delivery challenges, or just some of the Single family residential water meters larger than 1 
inch? 

TMWA Response:  

Not all, see previous response, but for the vast majority this is the case. The meter size is requested by the 
developer to meet the needs of the lot. The water resources are allocated by lot size. 

Customer Question 7: 

According to the report, there are 18,011 connections with 1 inch Single family residential meters.  I would think 
some of the folks with 1 inch meters could argue that they could be adequately served using a 3/4 inch meter.  Is 
this a possibility?   

TMWA Response:  

It is unlikely because 1-inch meters are almost always required for fire sprinklers, not for potable water 
demands at the customer’s property. The meter size was requested by the developer to meet the needs of the lot. 
If the developer requested a 1 inch meter, then it is unlikely that a ¾ would provide adequate. 

02-03-26 SAC Agenda Item 8 
01-21-26 BOARD Agenda Item 11

Page 5 of 7



 
Customer Question 8: 

If there are water flow issues with over 800-plus larger Single family residential meters over 1 inch, why are 
there not also Irrigation, Multi-family residential, and Commercial services which have the same issues?  The 
Irrigation, Multi-family, and Commercial customers are served by the same water system infrastructure, and 
there is no mention in the study that any of these meters have similar issues.  Why would not similar issues 
regarding meter charges be a concern for Multi-family, Commercial, and Irrigation connections?   

TMWA Response:  

There might be a handful of irrigation, multi-family, and commercial customers with similar issues; however, 
the difference is that water usage demonstrates a strong correlation between meter size for these customer 
groups whereas the meter size does not have a strong correlation with water use for single family residential 
customers. 

The meter size is requested by the civil engineer for the developer.  For multi-family, commercial, and irrigation 
the meters are selected and sized for the application. 

Customer Question 9: 

There is no information contained in the study which details the shift of $797,996 in revenue from fixed income 
to Use Charges as identified in table COS-11.  Is there any detail which identifies how this $797,996 is going to 
be collected from other Single family residential customers?   

TMWA Response:  

Table R-4 in the study shows the single family meter charges shifted from meters larger than 1” to the single 
family use rates. 

Customer Question 10: 

How much is it going to cost other Single family residential customers on an individual basis to fund the 
$797,996 shortfall identified in table COS-11? 

TMWA Response:  

Without the shift, the use rates per thousand gallons would be $2.09 for Tier 1, $3.13 for Tier 2, and $4.17 for 
Tier 3. When compared to the rates calculated in Table R-4, this means that a home using 5,000 gallons has a 
‘shifted cost’ equal to $0.19. For a home using 15,000 gallons the ‘shifted cost’ equates to $0.75. 

Customer Question 11: 

If I understand the rate study correctly, the meter charge for any TMWA customer is for fixed costs, and the 
water rate is to collect funds for variable costs. It appears the proposed reduction in Single family residential 
meter fees is a reduction in funds for fixed costs, but the report indicates the funds would be shifted to Use 
Charges which I assume is an increase in the amount of funds collected from variable water rates.  It does not 
seem appropriate to be shifting fixed income funds to variable rate income funds which could substantially 
change from year to year.   

TMWA Response:  

02-03-26 SAC Agenda Item 8 
01-21-26 BOARD Agenda Item 11

Page 6 of 7



 
The effect of the shift is to collect 42.3% of revenues from single family accounts rather than 43.3% which is 
the cost of service analysis determination. This is an extremely small revenue shift that in inconsequential in the 
rate model. 

Customer Question 12: 

There has to be some reason why there are so many Single family residential meters which are much larger than 
what is needed by the vast majority of Single family residential customers.  Having a 3 inch or 4 inch meter for 
a Single family residential connection is definitely not the norm for a Single family residential 
customer.  Perhaps the customers with the largest meters should not be classified as Single family residential 
water customers.  I would like to know why anyone would need a 2, 3, or 4 inch meter for Single family 
residential water service.   

TMWA Response:  

Less than 1% of TMWA’s single family residential customers have water meters that are larger than 1” meters. 
This methodology of capping the single family residential base charge at the 1” meter size is used by other 
water agencies, notably the City of North Las Vegas in Nevada. 

Additionally, since 2008 there have only been about 60 new 1.5 and 2 inch single family meters. TMWA has not 
installed any new 3” or 4” residential meters.  

 

 

 

02-03-26 SAC Agenda Item 8 
01-21-26 BOARD Agenda Item 11

Page 7 of 7



Table A
Proposed Rate Change - Single Family Residential

Customer 
Charge

Customer 
Charge

Customer 
Charge

per meter per meter per meter
use block use block use block

RMWS per month per unit RMWS per month per unit RMWS per month per unit
3/4" $23.02 gallons 3/4" $21.13 gallons 3/4" $21.87 gallons
1" $25.32 1" $33.21 1" $34.37
1.5" $28.81 Tier 1 6,000 $2.14 1.5" $33.21 Tier 1 6,000 $2.12 1.5" $34.37 Tier 1 6,000 $2.20
2" $33.39 Tier 2 6,001-25,000 $3.45 2" $33.21 Tier 2 6,001-25,000 $3.18 2" $34.37 Tier 2 6,001-25,000 $3.30
3" $37.98 Tier 3 >25,000 $4.05 3" $33.21 Tier 3 >25,000 $4.25 3" $34.37 Tier 3 >25,000 $4.39
4" $43.70 4" $33.21 4" $34.37
6" $50.66 6" $33.21 6" $34.37

FRMWC <1.5" 1.5" and +
3/4" $21.64 Tier 1 7,000 29,000 $3.24
1" $27.83 Tier 2 21,000 151,000 $4.07
1.5" $39.81 Tier 3 41,000 601,000 $4.88
2" $53.08 Tier 4 >41,000 >61,000 $6.52
3" $85.49
4" $125.20
6" $228.28

Current Rate Schedule New Rate Schedule - COS COS + 3.5% Rate Increase
<Presented at the September 17, 2025 Board of Directors Meeting>

per 1,000 
gallons

Commodity Charge

per 1,000 
gallons

Commodity Charge Commodity Charge

per 1,000 
gallons

02-03-26 SAC Agenda Item 8 
01-21-26 BOARD Agenda Item 11 

Attachment B

Page 1 of 8

mbowman
Typewritten Text
                     

mbowman
Typewritten Text



Table B
Proposed Rate Change - Multi-Family Residential

Customer 
Charge

Customer 
Charge

Customer 
Charge

per meter

use block use block use block
MMWS per month per unit MMWS per unit per unit MMWS per unit per unit
3/4" $23.02 gallons per month gallons per month gallons
1" $25.32 $6.83 $7.07
1.5" $28.81 Tier 1 4,000 $2.14 Tier 1 4,000 $1.94 Tier 1 4,000 $2.01
2" $33.39 Tier 2 >4,000 $3.45 Tier 2 >4,000 $2.92 Tier 2 >4,000 $3.02
3" $37.98
4" $43.70
6" $50.66
8" $58.73
10" $69.04

MMWD
3/4" $21.64 Tier 1 29,000 $3.24
1" $27.83 Tier 2 151,000 $4.07
1.5" $39.81 Tier 3 601,000 $4.88
2" $53.08 Tier 4 >601,000 $6.52
3" $85.49
4" $125.20
6" $228.28

Commodity Charge

<Presented at the September 17, 2025 Board of Directors Meeting>
New Rate Schedule - COS COS + 3.5% Rate IncreaseCurrent Rate Schedule

Commodity ChargeCommodity Charge

per 1,000 
gallons

per 1,000 
gallons

per 1,000 
gallons

02-03-26 SAC Agenda Item 8 
01-21-26 BOARD Agenda Item 11 

Attachment B

Page 2 of 8



Table C
Proposed Rate Change - Irrigation

Customer 
Charge

Customer 
Charge

Customer 
Charge Commodity Charge

per meter per meter per meter

MIS per month MIS per month MIS per month
3/4" $23.02 3/4" $21.13 3/4" $21.87
1" $25.32 Off-Peak $3.45 1" $33.21 Off-Peak $2.52 1" $34.37 Off-Peak $2.61
1.5" $28.81 On-Peak $4.18 1.5" $120.75 On-Peak $3.02 1.5" $124.98 On-Peak $3.13
2" $33.39 2" $150.94 2" $156.23
3" $37.98 3" $262.64 3" $271.83
4" $43.70 4" $452.83 4" $468.68
6" $50.66 6" $966.04 6" $999.85
8" $58.73
10" $69.04

MISD
3/4" $21.64 All Use $5.40
1" $27.83
1.5" $39.81
2" $53.08
3" $85.49
4" $125.20

<Presented at the September 17, 2025 Board of Directors Meeting>

per 1,000 
gallons

Current Rate Schedule New Rate Schedule - COS COS + 3.5% Rate Increase

Commodity Charge Commodity Charge

per 1,000 
gallons

02-03-26 SAC Agenda Item 8 
01-21-26 BOARD Agenda Item 11 

Attachment B

Page 3 of 8



Table D
Proposed Rate Change - Commercial

Customer 
Charge

Customer 
Charge Commodity Charge

Customer 
Charge Commodity Charge

per meter per meter per meter

GMWS per month Tier 1 Tier 2 Tier 3 GMWS per month GMWS per month
3/4" $23.02 Tier 1 differs $2.14 7,000              30,000             >30,000 3/4" $21.13 All Use $2.37 3/4" $21.87 All Use $2.45
1" $25.32 Tier 2 by meter $3.45 14,000           65,000             >65,000 1" $33.21 1" $34.37
1.5" $28.81 Tier 3 size $4.05 28,000           120,000           >120,000 1.5" $90.57 1.5" $93.74
2" $33.39 50,000           210,000           >210,000 2" $120.75 2" $124.98
3" $37.98 165,000        640,000           >640,000 3" $211.32 3" $218.72
4" $43.70 300,000        1,300,000      >1,300,000 4" $362.26 4" $374.94
6" $50.66 1,000,000    2,600,000      >2,600,000 6" $815.09 6" $843.62
8" $58.73 1,475,000    6,000,000      >6,000,000 8" and larger $966.04 8" and larger $999.85
10" $69.04 9,500,000    15,000,000    >15,000,000

GMWD
3/4" $21.64 Off-Peak $3.13
1" $27.83 On-Peak $3.65
1.5" $39.81
2" $53.08
3" $85.49
4" $125.20
6" $228.28
8" $343.20

per 1,000 
gallons

Current Rate Schedule New Rate Schedule - COS 
<Presented at the September 17, 2025 Board of Directors Meeting>

Commodity Charge

per 1,000 
gallons

per 1,000 
gallons

use block by meter size

COS + 3.5% Rate Increase

02-03-26 SAC Agenda Item 8 
01-21-26 BOARD Agenda Item 11 

Attachment B

Page 4 of 8



Table E
Proposed Rate Change - LVS

Customer Charge Customer Charge Customer Charge

LVS(SVGID)

$157.07 First 42M galls $1.84 $0.00 First 42M galls $1.88 $0.00 First 42M galls $1.94
>42M galls $3.06 >42M galls $3.10 >42M galls $3.21

Current Rate Schedule New Rate Schedule - COS COS + 3.5% Rate Increase
<Presented at the September 17, 2025 Board of Directors Meeting>

per 1,000 
gallons

delivery per 
month

per 1,000 
gallons

delivery per 
month

per 1,000 
gallons

per service point 
per month

per service point 
per month

per service point 
per month

Commodity Charge

delivery per 
month

Commodity Charge Commodity Charge

02-03-26 SAC Agenda Item 8 
01-21-26 BOARD Agenda Item 11 

Attachment B

Page 5 of 8



Table F
Proposed Rate Change - Flat Rate Residential

<Presented at the September 17, 2025 Board of Directors Meeting>
New Rate Schedule - COS COS + 3.5% Rate Increase

Customer Charge Customer Charge Customer Charge
per month per month per month

per service per unit per unit
SUFR $48.57 $38.32 $39.66

MRFS
3/4" $21.10
1" $23.22
1.5" $26.46
2" $30.67
3" $34.88
4" $40.11
6" $46.44
plus per unit per unit per unit

$13.53 $21.34 $22.09

MRIS per service
3/4" $42.46
1" $62.45
1.5" $98.59
2" $155.57
3" $261.12
4" $533.03
6" $860.57
8" $1,099.34
10" $1,564.96
plus per unit per unit per unit

$14.28 $24.29 $25.14

Current Rate Schedule

02-03-26 SAC Agenda Item 8 
01-21-26 BOARD Agenda Item 11 

Attachment B

Page 6 of 8



Table G
Proposed Rate Change - Private Fire Protection

Customer Charge Customer Charge Customer Charge
per month per month per month

FPS FPS FPS
3/4" $4.72
1" $6.29
1.5" $9.44
2" $12.58 2" and smaller $2.16 2" and smaller $2.24
3" $18.87 3" $6.27 3" $6.49
4" $25.16 4" $13.37 4" $13.84
6" $37.74 6" $38.84 6" $40.20
8" $50.32 8" $82.77 8" $85.67
10" $62.90 10" $148.85 10" $154.06
12" $75.48 12" $240.43 12" $248.85

FRDWR
3" $31.22
4" $49.05
6" $90.55
8" $147.77
10" $217.32
12" $314.32

Current Rate Schedule New Rate Schedule - COS COS + 3.5% Rate Increase
<Presented at the September 17, 2025 Board of Directors Meeting>

per month per 
service size

per month per 
service size

per month per 
service size

02-03-26 SAC Agenda Item 8 
01-21-26 BOARD Agenda Item 11 

Attachment B

Page 7 of 8



Table H
Proposed Rate Change - Other TMWA Fee Schedules (not DIS or ILVNPS)

Customer Charge
Commodity + Demand 

Charges Customer Charge
Commodity + Demand 

Charges Customer Charge
Commodity + Demand 

Charges
per month per month per month

Non-Potable (NPS)
$41.09 $120.75 $124.98

treated water $4.18 $4.62 $4.78
untreated water $1.23 $1.28 $1.33

Interruptible (IWS) per meter per meter per meter
$41.09 $120.75 $124.98

treated, interruptible $1.23 $1.28 $1.33

Wholesale Standby (FSPR) per meter
$157.07

All water - treated, standby or partial supply $1.23 $1.28 $1.33

Contract Demand of contract demand of contract demand of contract demand
Off-Peak All Water & On-Peak Contract Demand $17.57 $18.49 $19.13
On-Peak
Actual Demand > Contract Demand up to Variable Allowance $105.42 $110.93 $114.81
> Variable Allowance $210.83 $221.84 $229.61

Cost of Service Study plus 3.5% Rate IncreaseNew Rate Schedule per COS Current Rate Schedule
<Presented at the September 17, 2025 Board of Directors Meeting>

per 1,000 gallons

per 1,000 gallonsper 1,000 gallons

per 1,000 gallons

per 1,000 gallons

per delivery point per 1,000 gallons

per 1,000 gallons

per delivery point per 1,000 gallonsper delivery point per 1,000 gallons

02-03-26 SAC Agenda Item 8 
01-21-26 BOARD Agenda Item 11 

Attachment B

Page 8 of 8



1

TMWA
Cost of Service and Rate Design

First Reading

January 21, 2026

02-03-26 SAC Agenda Item 8



Recommendation and Background

2

Staff Recommendation
• Refer to a second reading – structure changes to TMWA’s water rates based on 

results of a Cost of Service (COS) study.

Summary
• COS Study conducted based on standards from the American Water Works 

Association (AWWA). 
• Seeks to distribute collection of water sales revenue in accordance with the cost to provide 

water service to each of TMWA’s customer groups.

• COS Study and rate design changes presented in detail
• Standing Advisory Committee (SAC) – August 2025
• TMWA Board meeting – September 2025

• Public outreach conducted in November and December 2025. 

02-03-26 SAC Agenda Item 8



Public Outreach

3

• August Standing Advisory Committee Meeting 

• September Board of Directors Meeting 

• Bill Insert – November 2025: 67,072 recipients.

• Lead Story on TMWA.COM (Nov 2 – Dec 29, 2025): 
Visitors: 94,000; Clickthrough: 44

• Email Newsletter – November 2025: 142,440 recipients. 52% open rate (73,766).

• Public Zoom Meetings – Attendees: 19

• Public Comment
On TMWA.COM: 4
At TMWA Board of Directors Meeting, 12-11-25

• Q&A with customers (attached to staff report)

02-03-26 SAC Agenda Item 8



COS and Rate Design

4

• Allocation of revenue collected

• Integrating former Washoe County rate schedules into TMWA’s structure
• Increasing the level of fixed revenue from 33% to 43%.
• Proposed implementation in May 2026. 

02-03-26 SAC Agenda Item 8



COS and Rate Design

5

• Tables included in staff report

02-03-26 SAC Agenda Item 8



6

Matt Bowman, CFO

Thank you!
Questions?

02-03-26 SAC Agenda Item 8



02-03-26SAC Agenda Item 9 
01-21-26 BOARD Agenda Item 12 

Page 1 of 4 

 
STAFF REPORT 

 
TO: Board of Directors 
THRU: John R. Zimmerman, General Manager 
FROM: Sonia Folsom, Executive Assistant  
 Kara Steeland, Senior Hydrologist & Watershed Coordinator 
DATE: January 12, 2026 
SUBJECT: Presentation of Truckee River Fund Activities for Calendar Year 2025 
 
 
Summary 

• Since the inception of the Truckee River Fund in 2004, 239 Projects Approved by 
TMWA Board for Funding (By Resolution) – Total Resolution Amount to Date: $17.6 
million  

• Total Match from Grantees: $31.3 million 

• 2025 fund expenses ($541,144.49), administration fees ($19,630.72) – Total expenses 
$560,775.21. 

• Funding available for the Spring 2026 request for proposals is approximately 
$269,960.55. 

• List of projects can be found on the Truckee River Fund website: 
https://truckeeriverfund.org/status/approved/  
 

Purpose 
 
This report provides the TMWA Board of Directors with a summary of Truckee River Fund 
program (the Fund) activities since its 2004 inception, including a detailed summary of 2025 
activities. This report will also be helpful to new Board members in gaining familiarity about the 
purpose and workings of the Fund. 
TMWA and the Board should be proud of the outstanding contributions the Fund has made to the 
community, region, and the Truckee River watershed. Over the years, the Truckee River Fund 
Advisory Committee has developed a prudent and rigorous approach to the evaluation of 
proposals, to ensure that those recommended for approval by the TMWA Board have tangible 
and measurable outcomes and meet the objectives of the Fund.  
Through the assistance of the Community Foundation of Northern Nevada (CFNN), which 
manages the program on behalf of TMWA for a nominal fee, all project proponents are required 
to account for funds dispersed and to provide reports on project status, success metrics and 
completion.  

https://truckeeriverfund.org/status/approved/


02-03-26SAC Agenda Item 9 
01-21-26 BOARD Agenda Item 12 

Page 2 of 4 

The Fund Advisory Board Committee represents the Cities of Reno and Sparks and Washoe 
County, where each entity appoints three representatives. The current members are: 
 

Entity Member Appointed 

City of Reno 
Bill Bradley 2005 
Peter Gower 2023 
Neoma Jardon 2023 

City of Sparks 
David Stanley 2022 
Mike Brisbin 2006 
Jim Smitherman (Chair) 2021 

Washoe County 
Brian Bonnenfant  2017 
Don Mahin 2016 
Terri Svetich (Vice Chair) 2020 

 
Program Background 

 
The Fund was conceived and established in 2004 with the intent of supporting water quality and 
watershed protection projects that TMWA could not pursue on its own. Since inception, the Fund 
has evolved into an important component of TMWA’s overall source water protection program, 
funding projects which have directly and indirectly improved water quality within the Truckee 
River watershed. 
Financially, the Fund provides significant financial leverage for watershed and source water 
protection projects and supports important water quality and watershed improvement projects in 
the following areas: 

I. Aquatic Invasive Species (AIS): Projects/Programs that support the prevention 
or control of aquatic invasive species in the mainstem Truckee River, Lake 
Tahoe, other tributaries and water bodies in the Truckee River system. 

II. Watershed Improvements: Projects that reduce erosion or sediment, suspended 
solids, or total dissolve solids (TDS) discharges, nutrients, industrial contaminants, 
or bacterial pollutants to the River. Projects or programs that are located within 
303d (impaired waters) and total maximum daily load (TMDL) sections of the 
River should be considered, both in California and Nevada. Innovative 
techniques should be encouraged. The following link identifies impaired sections 
of the river and its tributaries: https://mywaterway.epa.gov/.  

III. Local Stormwater Improvements: Projects that demonstrably mitigate storm 
water run-off due to urbanization of the local watershed. Priority should be given 
to those improvement projects in close proximity to TMWA’s water supply 
intakes and canals and which will improve the reliability and protect the quality 
of the community’s municipal water supply. 

IV. Re-Forestation and Re-Vegetation Projects: Projects to restore forest and 
upland areas damaged by fire and historical logging operations, and to improve 

https://mywaterway.epa.gov/


02-03-26SAC Agenda Item 9 
01-21-26 BOARD Agenda Item 12 

Page 3 of 4 

watershed resiliency in drought situations. Projects/programs in this category 
should be given a high priority due to urbanization of the watershed and 
increased susceptibility of the urban and suburban watershed to wildfire. 

V. Support to Rehabilitation of Local Tributary Creeks and Drainage 
Courses: Projects to support water quality improvement in creeks and tributaries 
to the Truckee River.  

VI. Stewardship and Environmental Awareness: Support to clean-up programs 
and the development and implementation of educational programs relative to 
water, water quality and watershed protection that do not fall clearly into the one 
of the above-mentioned categories. 

 
 

 



01-21-26 BOARD Agenda Item 12 

Page 4 of 4 

2025 Grants 
In 2025 the Fund, with Board approval, provided grants to 16 projects or programs: 

Project Grantee Applicants Description Grant 
Amount 

Monetary 
Match 

In-Kind 
Match 

299 Sierra Nevada Journeys Watershed Education Initiative $20,000.00 $10,567.00 $- 

300 The Reno Initiative for 
Shelter & Equality (RISE) River Stewards $85,000.00 $— $47,840.00 

301 Great Basin Outdoor School 
Youth Watershed Education and Protection 
Projects on the Truckee River $7,500.00 $9,450.54 $669.80 

302 Indigenous Peoples Council 
on Biocolonialism 

Restoring Truckee River's Ecological Health 
through Solid Waste Removal and Cottonwood 
Recruitment 

$40,000.00 $— $29,000.00 

303 Friends of Nevada 
Wilderness 

Mount Rose Noxious Weed Monitoring, 
Treatment, and Re-seeding 2025 $24,700.00 $3,000.00 $6,720.00 

304 City of Reno 
Invasive Weed Control and Vegetation 
Management in a Truckee Meadows Urban 
Tributary 

$13,000.00 $3,200.00 $18,120.00 

305 City of Reno Strengthening Stewardship for the Truckee River $50,000.00 $3,609,925.00 $— 

306 Truckee River Watershed 
Council 

Independence Watershed Aquatic Organism 
Passage Project $55,000.00 $198,035.00 $60,000.00 

307 Truckee Meadows Parks 
Foundation 

Rosewood Nature Study Area: Unique and 
Interactive Interpretive Signage Fabrication $12,500.00 $8,400.00 $— 

308 Sierra Nevada Journeys Watershed Education Initiative $31,543.13 $10,514.38 $0.00 

310 Truckee River Watershed 
Council 

Independence Watershed Aquatic Organism 
Passage Project  $75,000.00 $250,250.00 $60,000.00 

311 Keep Truckee Meadows 
Beautiful 

Keeping Truckee Meadows Beautiful $74,635.32 $32,000.00 $122,000.00 

313 Reno Food Systems 
Cultivating Watershed Resilience at the Urban-
Agricultural Interface $46,000.00 $— $16,745.00 

314 Friends of Nevada 
Wilderness 

Mount Rose Re-Seeding 2025 $5,000.00 $300.00 $960.00 

315 One Truckee River Watershed Protection Benefit Project $75,861.00 $60,000.00 $10,800.00 

316 Washoe County-Regional 
Parks & Open Space 

Mayberry Park Watershed Protection and Public 
Restroom Project $250,000.00 $ — $62,500.00 

 


	__2026.0203-SAC-03-Agenda-Final
	STANDING ADVISORY COMMITTEE

	__2026.0203-SAC-04-Draft-10-07-25-Minutes
	__2026.0203-SAC-06-FY2025.ACFR.Staff Report
	_2026.0203-SAC-06.0-FY2025.ACFR.Staff Report
	TO:  Board of Directors
	Recommendation
	Summary

	_2026.0203-SAC-06.1-FY2025.ACFR.Final-Governance-Letter
	Significant Difficulties Encountered during the Audit
	Uncorrected and Corrected Misstatements
	Disagreements with Management
	Circumstances that Affect the Form and Content of the Auditor’s Report
	Representations Requested from Management
	Management’s Consultations with Other Accountants
	Other Significant Matters, Findings, or Issues

	_2026.0203-SAC-06.2-FY2025.ACFR.Final-with-Single-Audit_Updated from 12.11.25 BOD Presentation
	Cover 
	Table of Contents
	Letter of Transmittal 
	Reporting Entity
	TMWA Map
	Rev, h2o Q, Consv, Budget

	List of Principal Officials
	Certificate of Achievement
	Organization Chart
	Independent Auditor's Report 
	Management's Discussion and Analysis
	Basic Financial Statements
	Statements of Net Position
	Statements of Net Position II
	Statements of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position
	Statements of Cash Flows
	Statements of Cash Flows II
	Statements of Fiduciary Net Position
	Statements of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position

	Notes to Financial Statements
	Note 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
	Note 2 - Compliance with Nevada Revised Statutes and the Nevada Administrative Code
	Note 3 - Accounts Receivable, Net
	Note 4 - Cash and Investments
	Note 5 - Capital Assets
	Note 6 - Leases
	Note 7 - Long-Term Liabilities
	Note 8 - Net Position
	Note 9 - Contingent Liabilities
	Note 10 - Risk Management
	Note 11 - Pensions
	Note 12 - Other Post Employment Benefits
	Note 13 - Commitments
	Note 14 - Impairment Loss
	Note 15 - Restatement
	Note 16 - Change in Estimate
	Note 17 - Subsequent Event

	Required Supplementary Information
	OPEB Schedule of Changes in Net OPEB Liabliity and Related Ratios
	OPEB Schedule of Contributions
	PERS Schedule of TMWA's Share of Net Pension Liability
	Schedule of TMWA Contributions

	Supplementary Information
	Current Year SRECNP - Budget to Actual
	Prior Year SRECNP - Budget to Actual
	Combining Statement of Fiduciary Net Position
	Combining Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position

	Statistical Section
	Section Contents
	Schedule No. 1 - Net Position by Component
	Schedule No. 2 - Changes in Net Position
	Schedule No. 3 - Operating Revenues by Customer Class
	Schedule No. 4 - Operating Expenses 
	Schedule No. 5 - Nonoperating Revenues and Expenses
	Schedule No. 6 - Capital Contributions by Source
	Schedule No. 7 - Gallons of Water Sold and Revenues by Category
	Schedule No. 8 - Ten Largest Customers
	Schedule No. 9 - Debt Service Coverage Ratios
	Schedule No. 10 - Schedule of Total Building Permits Issued by Jurisdiction/Member Entity
	Schedule No. 11 - Selected Demographic and Economic Statistics for Washoe County
	Schedule No. 12 - Principal Employers
	Schedule No. 13 - Customer and Water Sales by Category
	Schedule No. 14 - Schedule of Insurance Coverage
	Schedule No. 15 - Authorized Full-Time Equivalent Employees by Dept
	Schedule No. 16 - Current and Historical Water Rates
	Schedule No. 17 - Selected Operating and Capital Indicators
	Schedule No. 18 - Schedule of Changes in Debt
	Schedule No. 19 - Debt by Service Connection

	Compliance Section
	Independent Auditor's Report on Internal Control
	Independent Auditor's Report on Compliance
	Auditor's Comments
	Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards
	Notes to Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards
	Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs
	Corrective Action Plan


	_2026.0203-SAC-06.3-FY2025-PAFR.Final
	_2026.0203-SAC-06.4-FY2025.ACFR.PPT Presentation

	__2026.0203-SAC-07-TMWA-Financials-Q1-2026.Report
	_2026.0203-SAC-07.0-TMWA-Financials-Q1-2026.Report
	Attachment A-1
	Attachment A-2

	_2026.0203-SAC-07.1-First-Qtr-Fincancials-Presentation

	__2026.0203-SAC-08-TMWA-1st-Reading-Cost-Of-Service-Adjustments.Report
	_2026.0203-SAC-08.0-TMWA-1st-Reading-Cost-Of-Service-Adjustments.Report
	_2026.0203-SAC-08.1-Attachment-A-COS-Customer-Questions
	_2026.0203-SAC-08.2-Attachment-B-COS-Model-Tables-A-H
	Table A.pdf
	Table B.pdf
	Table C.pdf
	Table D.pdf
	Table E.pdf
	Table F.pdf
	Table G.pdf
	Table H.pdf

	_2026.0203-SAC-08.3-Cost-of-Service-Presentation

	__2026.0203-SAC-09-CY2025-TRF.Report

	Explore - Page 25: 
	Explore - Page 24: 
	Explore - Page 26: 
	Explore - Page 28: 
	Explore - Page 27: 
	Explore - Page 31: 
	Explore - Page 29: 
	Explore - Page 30: 


